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Established in 1988 and listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK")
in 2005, Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
(“Tradelink” or the “Company” or the “Group”) (Stock
Code: 536) is a digital efficiency pioneer of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region ("HKSAR"
or "Hong Kong"). With the mission to empower
its clients with business enabled e-solutions for
their commercial and financial activities, Tradelink
has successfully brought the benefits of smart
technology to the city’s private and public sectors.

In addition to leading Hong Kong’'s business-
to-government document compliance market,
Tradelink also offers expertise in supply chain,
identity management and payment technology
solutions. Over the years, the Company has
earned the trust of governments, multinationals,
and small and medium businesses spanning all
industry sectors. Tradelink’s vision is to promote
a prosperous Hong Kong where companies and
people can readily achieve and enjoy the benefits of
digital efficiency.
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Financial Highlights
B>

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BE-FoNF ol
+=A=4+—H gyt
IEFE LEFE
HK$’'000 HKS$'000
BT BT T
Revenue Y 25 247,625 266,611
Profit from operations BEER 67,351 78,186
Profit attributable to ordinary equity AR BBERBERSEA
shareholders of the Company FEAL R 81,958 100,639
Total assets BEHE 536,137 545,581
Net assets BERE 378,795 376,204
Dividend per share (HK cents) SRS (GBW)
Interim FEIRE 3.7 3.7
Proposed final BRRERE 6.4 6.3
Earnings per share (HK cents) SEREF (EW)
Basic L= 9N 10.3 12.7
Diluted s 10.3 12.7
Financial ratios B it =
Net profit margin (Note 1) FRAE (M) 33.1% 37.7%
Effective tax rate (Note 2) BEMBLE (MiE2) 8.2% 9.4%
Current ratio (Note 3) MENLL R (M EE3) 3.24 3.07
Quick ratio (Note 4) B LL = (i 5E4) 3.24 3.07
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
et e B AT =
+=A=+—H Eycik sl
'000 ‘000
TR T
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares EBTRAREER
As at 31 December R+ZA=+—H 794,634 794,634

Weighted average number of ordinary shares R+Z-—A=+—HE2#TEBER
(basic) outstanding as at 31 December Y h0#E 39 B (B AR) 794,634 794,634

Note 1 Net profit margin = profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the — Afit1 FaFF=K N G EZBEKRKEFEAEML BT W

Company/revenue
Note 2 Effective tax rate = taxation/profit before taxation Witz BB E=-HE - BRE DA
Note 3 Current ratio = current assets/current liabilities Mats FEHE-RBEE GEBHEE

Note 4 Quick ratio = current assets minus inventory/current liabilities Wita ZEEBHFE-REEERTE RBEE
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Financial Highlights (Continued)

B EHEE (&)
Revenue (HKS million)
W= (BEIET)
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Profit for the Year (HKS million)
& Net Profit Margin
FEGMN(BERER) LFEFE

37.7%

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

% of Segment Revenue of Total Revenue
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Other Services

> 5w

Identity Management
ETHE SNEE

E-Commerce
>

Dividend per Share (HK cents)
ik S (B4

P Interim FEIRRE P Final REAER 2 Special #5IR S

10.0 10.1

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
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Chairman’s Statement

EFRFBES

Dear Shareholders,

Review

Geopolitics and slow interest rate cuts around the globe,
heightened Sino-US tensions and sluggish local consumption and
business sentiments were the key concerns and challenges of
businesses in Hong Kong throughout 2024. Against this precarious
background, although the Group recorded more turnover in the
second half of 2024 than the first, its overall turnover decreased
by 7.1% year-on-year to HK$247.6 million (2023: HK$266.6 million).
Profit from operations for the year dropped by 13.9% to HK$67.4
million (2023: HK$78.2 million), but thanks to reform efforts and
cost control measures, we were able to trim total cost by 4.3% to
HK$180.2 million (2023: HK$188.4 million).

As the gains from the disposal of our shareholding in an associate
in Guangzhou, namely Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science &
Technology Service Company Limited (“Nanfang”), and the reverse
impairment of our shareholding in another associate in Hong Kong,
namely OnePort Holdings (BVI) Limited (“OnePort”), we recorded
in 2023 were both one-off in nature, their absence in 2024 was
the main factor contributing to a 33.4% decrease in the other net
gain of the Group to HK$21.4 million (2023: HKS$32.2 million). If
we set aside the impact of these two one-off items, the remaining
key source of other net income was bank interest and the Group’s
performance on this front was in fact slightly better than that in
2023. The Group's profit before tax dropped to HK$89.3 million
(2023: HK$111.1 million) and profit after tax was down 18.6% to
HK$82.0 million (2023: HK$100.6 million).

(] &&

HMGBARERRE S KER PEBEREER
MERAEEREERARKRT  NEBLENC
E_MEEENTEEINRE - EhHTEBENS
ST BEAFER-_Z_NFTHEFHENEE
EREYFERL  DHBRECEERFRD7.1%E
7B#247,600,000T (ZE == : #B%266,600,000
TT) o EREE RN T %K13.9% % 8 %67,400,0007T

—E =4 1 ##78,200,000T)  BESERRET
ERRAZEFERE  RASUBERRRL43%E
7%5180,200,0007T (ZZE = =4 : #%188,400,000
JT) o

HREARZZE-_=FRLE—RBAREMNNEE
AAEREABENEREERARA (A R
RS —BREBIE % A7 0nePort Holdings
(BVI) Limited ([OnePort ) % # #95 B 8 B 8% 18
HEIB— A MEEE AR -_mFEHRD
ZEWRDERAEBHEMKZFER33.4%%
7 #521,400,0005T (Z & = = 4 : 78 %32,200,000
T)HWEERZ - EMBRZEME - RAMEE NS
a, Hik A FESR TN EERFRARTANE - m
AEBELAEANKRRER LBER-_S_=F -
REBE R BRT AR T X Z B %89,300,000T (=
TZ=F : B%111,100,0007T) @ MBEHREERT
#18.6%% 7 182,000,000t (ZE = =F : B
100,600,0007T) °
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

EREHEE (H)

Review (Continued)

The performance trend of our three business segments, namely
E-Commerce, Identity Management (“IDM”) and Other Services,
as reported in the 2024 Interim Report continued throughout the
year. Our E-Commerce segment delivered a pleasing performance
with total revenue increased by 4.9% to HK$171.7 million (2023:
HKS$163.7 million). Segment profit also increased by 9.5% to
HK$55.0 million (2023: HK$50.2 million). However, further to the
downward adjustments reported in the 2024 Interim Report, the
performance of our IDM and Other Services segments continued
to record a decrease in both turnover and segment profit. The
difficult operating environment faced by many of our IDM and
Other Services related clients, particularly those coming from the
financial sector, had significantly affect their willingness to invest
in new projects. Our IDM segment recorded a 33.5% decrease in
turnover to HK$45.8 million (2023: HKS$68.9 million) and segment
profit decreased by 79.5% to HK$3.3 million (2023: HKS$16.2
million). This business unit had managed to use the available
staff resource to directly engage with our key clients to conduct
targeted research and development (“R&D") work for projects to be
implemented in the coming years. | shall elaborate more on this in
the following section. Our Other Services segment also recorded
a 11.5% decrease in turnover to HK$30.1 million (2023: HK$34.0
million) and a 10.9% decrease in segment profit to HK$18.4
million (2023: HK$20.7 million). Continual downsizing of the local
retail market and a fiercely competitive payment services market
were the key challenges of our Smart Point-of-Sales (“PoS”) and
related business sub-segment. Fortunately, the performance of our
Government Electronic Trading Services ("GETS")-related services
sub-segment managed to stay at similar level as in 2023 given the
overall positive growth of the GETS market.

The change in top management of the Group in the second half
of 2024 went smoothly and the new leadership team has brought
new impetus to the Group to better prepare for the identified
challenges facing our three business segments as well as the new
opportunities ahead. Next, | shall talk about our key strategies
going forward in tackling those challenges and seizing new
opportunities.

5 & (4&)

EAR-E_NFERHREMERN=EEES
BETHE - GNEE(EHEE]) REMERE
HNEREBZERAFERFFE KRMANETEHESD
EBRIFIEAR - AAUR I HN4.9% % 78 #5171,700,000
T(ZEBEZ =% : #%163,700,0007T) ° 2 305%F
I8 18 109.5% % 78 #55,000,000 Tt (Z 2= =4 : &
#£50,200,000T) c AT B - _NFF RS
FERHVBTAEEL RFANEHNEEREAMR
BABNRBEESSEEERI BEFE R
Lo RMHBRZINEEREMREBBEES (£
HERESRENEF) MHBRBENLERE &

YEHREHEENEE KANEHEED T
5 E ¥R 33.5%F B 145,800,000 (ZF=
=4 : #B%68,900,0005T) » D 3iEFIKA79.5%
Z 813,300,000t (ZE == : j8%16,200,000
L) cREXTMERIERATEANEEER B
BHEBEMANIEEFER  BRRAFEEEENE
BETHEMNARRER (HED IE- KA
BRTE MM - RPWEMBRE 2B EEE
HEMA11.5%% 8 %30,1700,000T (ZB==F :
75 #534,000,0007T) & 7 3% F K 2 10.9%F B #&
18,400,000t (=& = =% : #%¥20,700,0007T) °
A TEMBFEER  URIABRETERSFH
U DERFPANEREER ((HEH ) REREL T
PHMOEERE -BEEZME HRBENETESR
¥ (GETS) WiEMEBEEIZER - HIMHGETSIH
BREFIBNRREUEREH_S_=FF%
KIS o

AEER-Z-NETEFIENEASBEEAS
NEF  FNEEEBRASREETRINB D - B
=B 0 B0 C R BY B9k B DA B R R O 08 g
B TR RABKBHEMARKRELEZSHRE
WIBBEH BB EERBE -



Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHEE (B)

Prospect

The macroeconomic environment in 2025 will likely be as
challenging as in 2024, if not more. As pointed out by central banks
around the globe including the Hong Kong Monetary Authority
("HKMA"), interest rate levels are likely to remain at a relatively high
level for a longer period of time than anticipated back in the end of
2024. This would likely exert downward pressure on the demand
side. Moreover, ongoing Sino-US and Sino-European tensions on
the trade front will likely have an adverse impact on Hong Kong’s
external trade performance although active policy interventions by
the authorities of mainland China and the Government of HKSAR
(the “Government”) would have some mitigating effect. Against
this backdrop, | remain cautiously optimistic about the Group’s
overall performance in 2025, the main reasons of which | shall
elaborate in the paragraphs below. Given the anticipated interest
rate environment in Hong Kong and the highly volatile investment
environment globally, we will likely continue to use time deposits as
our main investment channel to ensure our interest income.

Regarding our core E-Commerce business segment, and in
particular the GETS sub-segment, we believe its performance will
continue to be closely linked to the volume of Hong Kong’s external
trade and will, as in last year, see a small but positive single digit
growth in 2025. Our track record over the years in terms of the
provision of highly reliable and satisfactory GETS services as well
as various authoritative economic forecast for 2025 including that
by the Government are the two key supporting factors. At the risk
of stating the obvious, the absence of any external event leading
to a major downturn in Hong Kong’s external trade performance
is an overarching assumption. The Government’s Trade Single
Window (“TSW”) team has begun to liaise directly with our GETS
management and technical teams as well as other industry players
regarding various TSW (Phase 3)-related implementation issues.
We anticipated that such dialogues will intensify in 2025 and we
are prepared to work closely with our Government counterparts to
discuss and resolve issues of mutual concern. As regards the other
sub-segment of our E-Commerce business, | am hopeful that Supply
Chain Solutions (“SCS”) business will deliver better performance
in 2025 provided Hong Kong's external trade performance would
continue to improve. The reorganised teams of this business unit
not only delivered a showcase new project for a new client near the
end of 2024, but have also identified promising leads with new and
existing clients, some being veteran users of our GETS services.

—TomFEsn BERBEETESZERATE | 7
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

EREHEE (H)

Prospect (Continued)

The performance of our IDM business is also expected to rebound
in 2025. In August 2024, Digi-Sign Certification Services Limited
(“Digi-Sign”), the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary and the only
commercial Recognized Certification Authority in Hong Kong,
received permission from the Government for issuing digital
certificates to corporates both local and overseas, enabling
them to carry out digital transactions bound by the Electronic
Transactions Ordinance (Cap.553, Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“ETO"). With that development under our belt, we will actively
explore other potential opportunities to implement new projects
with Government departments as well as the commercial sector.
There are also promising leads among our other key IDM clients,
particularly those from the financial sector, with many electronic
Know-Your-Customer (“eKYC")-related projects deferred from last
year to get back on track. Publication of the Protection of Critical
Infrastructures (Computer Systems) Bill towards the end of 2024
will also see us draw on our R&D work done on national standards
to assist relevant authorities and stakeholders in fulfilling their
related statutory obligations.

The outlook of our Smart PoS and related business, however, is
more under stress. Despite the continuous recovery of inbound
tourism, the boost on the local consumption market has been mild
so far and the local population’s cross-boundary consumption trend
continues. As such, there has been a downward pressure on the
maintenance and service contract fees we can charge our major
bank customers. We will closely monitor market development and
actively seek to collaborate with new partners to jointly develop
new products and solutions for capturing opportunities in this
fiercely competitive payment market. As for our GETS-related
services business, | am reasonably confident that its stable
performance over the years will continue. The stable and slightly
positive GETS market outlook plus ongoing revenue-generating
strategic partnerships like that with PAO Bank Limited (“PAObank”)
will continue to support this sub-segment.

A= (&)

BN EOEERBERREAMR - RFTEM
RE -RZZBEZMENR  ARANZEMBELF
REBHE - EITNELERERBEEFREREE
BR 2 8] ([ Digi-Sign 1) BT &F 7] @ A 4 [ g S b 36
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S553B(EFRBMHEA) [EFRZHEH D WRHE
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MWEEETESGNEEEF (LHESRENEF)
PRRBERE  ETHSREFEENEFLR
IR EF ([eKYC)) R B EM@E# - BEZE (fR
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

EREHEE (H)

Dividends

As always, we give priority to the interests of our shareholders.
As the Group has, on the whole, been maintaining a debt-free and
healthy cash reserve position, the Board of Directors (the “Board”)
of the Company has recommended a payout of approximately
98% of the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of
the Company of HK$82.0 million in 2024. This would mean a final
dividend of HK 6.4 cents per share. Together with the interim
dividend of HK 3.7 cents per share for the first half of 2024, the
total dividend for the full year 2024 will be HK 10.1 cents per share,
1.0% higher than that for 2023.

Acknowledgment

Finally, | would like to take the opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders, customers and fellow Board
members for their continued support towards the Group. My
thanks also go to our staff for their unreserved commitment to the
provision of reliable and quality services to customers in the past
year.

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P.
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2025
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Management Discussion

and Analysis
BEENRR DN

Business Review

E-Commerce Business Review

As anticipated in the 2024 Interim Report, our E-Commerce
segment, which includes the GETS and SCS sub-segments,
delivered a pleasing performance for the year. Total revenue rose
4.9% year-on-year to HK$171.7 million (2023: HK$163.7 million).
The segment profit also increased 9.5% year-on-year to HK$55.0
million (2023: HK$50.2 million). Both figures have reversed the
downward trend we experienced in the last two years.

Despite the challenges brought by geopolitical tensions, heightened
Sino-US relation and slower than expected interest rate cuts
around the globe, Hong Kong's external trade activities in 2024
outperformed that in 2023. The total amount of trade declarations,
a good proxy of Hong Kong’s external trade volume, grew by
4.1% year-on-year. Against this background, our GETS transaction
volume increased by 7.2% year-on-year. We outperformed the
market as we were able to leverage on our quality and reliable
services to capture new or increasing business demand. Revenue
from our GETS business increased by 6.0% to HK$150.3 million
(2023: HK$141.8 million). Our ability to achieve revenue increases
higher than the increase in the volume of trade declarations
demonstrated our ability to deliver quality services to our
customers who were willing to continue to pay a premium to
stay with us not just in bad times but also in good ones. Taking a
closer look at our GETS business, the average price of our trade
declaration service dropped marginally. As explained in previous
reports, changes in the average price level are mainly affected by
price change at contract renewal and the overall business volume
achieved. In 2024, we managed to achieve increase in business
volume as well as higher contract renewal prices concurrently.
Hence, despite the significant increases in business volume of a
number of our bulk business customers, the average price was not
notably dragged down.

FI5C

ETHEXBEIRE

BN —B_NERBKEMRET > HANEFHE
DE (BFECETSRFEEERAATRF o) RAEE
RREE - BUWRIZF EFH4.9%=8%171,700,000
TT(ZZ =% :%8%163,700,0005T) ° 7 &R
BRERM.5%Z B#55000,000Tc (ZE=-=F 1 &
#£50,200,000T) - MIEHFIIHE T RMBEMF
T EH%BE -

BEMEHEBCARZER PEXBERBERMAK
FRBELTEKBFEREEBERE  BEHNESE
BR-Z_NENRANER-ZS=F {5
ERUNESENRFEEZ BESRBAERE
ERAN% - EUEST  RFMGETSRBERTF
BIN7.2% KRS BREELE T MR - ILEH
R FTEIE MO ERER RERBERTS - &K
FIGETSEE 75 #Y Uk 25 1 N6.0% = 78 #5150,300,0007T
—Z = = :8%141,800,0007T) ° K I AE A EY
SERESRBEEEEENREER  RRERM
BN ATHESHIERYBEEREINEEER
FEENEFREMHEERE - 5 K FMGETSE
% BEZRERBNFIIERSMTE - HmBE
WEMM > FHERKENELLETESEIRNE
BEBURMERNEBEREFYE KT N
FroEMARYESSRELSEMURKSHEL
B Al IFERMPAETHEXEREFNELE
BEEMN > FHERLAERABNRK -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EERENRE D (&)

Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

Regarding the SCS sub-segment, the relatively good performance
in the first half of the year could not be maintained throughout
the year. Its turnover for 2024 dropped marginally by 2.3% to
HK$21.4 million (2023: HK$21.9 million). Volatile external trade
environment plus sluggish domestic consumption market had a
combined adverse impact on our SCS customers’ willingness to
invest in new digitalisation projects. Nevertheless, by mid-2024, we
completed a strategic review and have since implemented a series
of improvement measures to reconstitute our business consultant
teams, equipping them with strengthened industry and business
process knowledge, and a customer-centric culture. Backed by
the new team set up, we completed a new Dutiable Commodities
Permit (“DCP”)-related system integration project for a client from
the tobacco trading industry and tackled other outstanding projects
with established clients. The former has been a good success story
for us in appealing to other potential DCP service clients, whereas
the latter has cleared the way for more in-depth discussions with
established clients on the scope and implementation details of new
projects in 2025.

We are cautiously optimistic about our E-Commerce business
performance in 2025. While our GETS business will continue to be
significantly affected by the external trade environment which is
unlikely to be less volatile than in 2024, GETS good performance
as reported in the above paragraphs is a good indication that the
resilience of this business sub-segment to external challenges
will continue. As regards the development of the TSW by the
Government, their project coordination office had begun to engage
with us and other GETS service providers in the second half of 2024
to discuss on various technical and interfacing issues involved.
This is a positive development as it would no doubt facilitate a
smoother transition to the TSW environment. However, we will
continue to push for earlier and more detailed discussion on
the Value Added Service Provider arrangements in 2025 which
remains our primary focus. Internally, we plan to finish upgrading
and refreshing our key GETS-related systems and introduce the
revamped services under a consolidated and revamped Tradelink
eBiz Portal by mid-2025 to better prepare ourselves and our clients
for the transition to TSW. As for our SCS sub-segment, we remain
confident that upon full implementation of the measures identified
in our strategic review, we will have effectively repositioned
ourselves in the highly competitive supply chain market. Unless
there is a significant drop in Hong Kong’s external trade volume,
we are optimistic about the return of positive year-on-year revenue
growth of the business sub-segment.

EKEE (&)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EERENRE D (&)

Business Review (Continued)

Identity Management (“IDM”) Business Review

For the year 2024, our IDM business recorded total revenue of
HK$45.8 million (2023: HK$68.9 million) and segment profit of
HK$3.3 million (2023: HKS$16.2 million), denoting a drop of 33.5%
and 79.5% year-on-year respectively. Although the performance
appeared disappointing, it's worth noting that both the segment
revenue and segment profit recorded in 2023 were historical
highs, representing the peak in the past five years. In 2024, we
faced the combined challenge of comparing our performance to
an exceptionally strong base, a slower than anticipated economic
recovery particularly in terms of performance of the local retail
market and a relatively high fixed staff cost structure. Expected
deals with existing customers delayed till end of 2024 or postponed
to the beginning of 2025 also affected our revenue for the year.
Recurrent revenue from maintenance services dropped 3.1% and
new project revenue was down by 47.6%.

In July 2024, one of our IDM’s business associates wound down
business, leading to a default in payment to us in the amount of
HKS$1.9 million. Moreover, the closure of this company had a direct
impact on our eKYC solution offering in relation to customers from
the Mainland as we were originally engaged with the company for
its identity checking service for Mainland citizen. We had to put
a related project with a multinational bank on hold as a result.
Additionally, one of the stored value facility (“SVF”) licensees
in Hong Kong, which had acquired our eKYC services last year,
surrendered its SVF license to the authority and ended the contract.
Weak market demand throughout 2024 also led to a sharp decline
in revenue from our digital signing solution.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EERENRE D (&)

Business Review (Continued)

Identity Management (“IDM”) Business Review (Continued)
To mitigate the high fixed staff cost of the business unit, we
continued to redeploy part of the workforce to R&D-related work,
preparing for new opportunities in 2025 and beyond. With relevant
resources allocated to R&D in 2024, we are hopeful that we will
have new products and services that can bring significant revenue
contribution in the years to come. We will step up marketing efforts
to raise awareness and promote these new offerings to both the
private and public sectors.

Despite the challenges faced in 2024, we are confident that the
performance of our IDM business will regain a positive growth in
2025. Both our personal and corporate digital identity services, as
well as associated remote signing services, are gaining traction
in the market. We have arranged with an internationally renowned
digital document management service provider to integrate our
digital signing service, which is scheduled for launch in early
2025. Additionally, as new cybersecurity threats and vulnerabilities
continue to emerge, there is ongoing demand for our IDM products
and solutions to meet regulatory requirements and customer
expectations. A turnkey digital onboarding service using our digital
identity solution and service to comply with the latest regulatory
requirements for securities brokers operating in Hong Kong will
also be launched in early 2025. In August 2024, Digi-Sign received
permission from the Government to issue a new type of digital
certificate to corporates both local and overseas, enabling them to
carry out digital transactions bound by the ETO. This achievement
aligns with the Government’s Digital Corporate Identity (“CorpID”)
initiative, while highlighting our capability to enhance secure digital
solutions for various business administration-related purposes.
We believe our work has the potential to significantly advance the
CorplID initiative, assisting the Government in creating a secure and
efficient digital environment for the benefit of all stakeholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EERENRE D (&)

Business Review (Continued)

Other Services Business Review

Our Other Services business comprises two sub-segments - (1)
Smart PoS and related business, and (2) GETS-related services.
This business segment recorded a 11.5% drop in revenue to
HK$30.1 million (2023: HK$34.0 million) and a 10.9% drop in profit
to HK$18.4 million (2023: HK$20.7 million). By sub-segment, Smart
PoS and related business made revenue of HK$9.0 million (2023:
HK$12.7 million) and GETS-related services HK$21.1 million (2023:
HK$21.3 million).

According to Government statistics, total retail sales in Hong Kong
in 2024 shrank by 7.3% year-on-year. Affected by weak consumer
spending, the recurring maintenance and support revenue of our
Smart PoS devices deployed for bank customers declined by about
7%. In 2024, we also witnessed a surge in the number of players
- payment facilitators and acquirers — entering the Hong Kong
payment market. With those entities being direct competitors with
the banks we are serving, we had not received any new orders
for Smart PoS devices during the year. Despite the challenging
environment, we remain committed to maintaining our high quality
services and support to existing customers and will closely monitor
the increasingly competitive payment market to identify new growth
opportunities.

Benefitting from the overall GETS market growing by a small
single digit, our GETS-related services delivered a fairly stable
performance. The sub-segment received increased referral income
from the key partner PAObank and also increased electronic trading
access services-related fees, offsetting the negative impact of the
absence of the one-off revenue from setting up call centre services
for the Customs & Excise Department in 2023. Looking ahead for
2025, we are cautiously optimistic about our GETS-related services
business provided recovery of the local retail sector can continue to
benefit from the various mitigation measures rolled out and to be
introduced by the Government and the performance of Hong Kong’s
external trade will continue its upward trend.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EERENRE D (&)

Financial Review

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
HK$247.6 million, dropped by 7.1% or HK$19.0 million as compared
to 2023. The discussion and analysis of the Group’s business
performance during the year are set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis
- Business Review".

The Group’s operating expenses before depreciation in 2024
were HK$170.9 million, down by 4.8% from HK$179.5 million in
2023. The decrease was owed to the drop in staff costs and cost
of purchases by HK$7.0 million and HK$5.9 million respectively,
being offset by the increase in other operating expenses of
HKS$4.4 million. Staff costs in 2024 were HK$113.1 million, lower
than 2023 at HKS$120.1 million by 5.9%. The cost of purchases
declined as a result of the decrease in the number of projects with
goods supplied to customers. Other operating expenses in 2024
were HKS$36.0 million, higher than the last financial year by 13.9%
or HKS4.4 million. Other operating expenses in 2024 included
impairment loss on trade receivables and contract assets at HK$4.4
million (2023: HKS$0.4 million) assessed under the expected credit
loss model in accordance with the applicable accounting standard.
The rise was primarily due to the increased credit risk of customers
in the volatile business environment. Depreciation charges in 2024
were up 4.7% or HKS0.4 million to HK$9.3 million as compared to
2023.

The Group’s profit from operations in 2024 was HKS$67.4 million, a
decrease of 13.9% or HK$10.8 million as compared to 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EERENRE D (&)

Financial Review (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the other net income was
down by 33.4% or HK$10.8 million to HKS$21.4 million, mainly
because of the gain on disposal of Nanfang at HK$6.8 million, and
the reversal of impairment loss on interest in OnePort at HK$4.7
million recorded in 2023. No such other income was recorded in
2024. In addition, the Group shared a profit of HK$0.5 million (2023:
HKS$0.7 million) from OnePort for the year of 2024.

Taxation for 2024 at HK$7.3 million was lower than that of the last
financial year by HK$3.1 million. Included in the taxation for 2024
was HK$3.1 million enhanced tax deductions for certain research
and development expenditures, compared to HK$1.9 million in
2023.

The Group'’s after tax profit for 2024 was HK$82.0 million, down by
HK$18.7 million or 18.6% as compared to 2023.

Given no dilution of shares during the year, our basic and diluted
earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 were the
same at HK 10.3 cents, lower than that for 2023 at HK 12.7 cents
by HK 2.4 cents.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EERENRE D (&)

Financial Review (Continued)

Dividend

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK 6.4 cents per
share for 2024 (2023: HK 6.3 cents per share). Adding together
the proposed final dividend and the interim dividend of HK 3.7
cents per share (2023: HK 3.7 cents per share) paid on 7 October
2024, the total amount of dividend per share for 2024 is HK 10.1
cents, 1.0% higher than that for 2023. The total dividend for 2024
represents a payment of about 98% of the profit attributable to
ordinary equity shareholders of the Company for the year.

The proposed final dividend will be submitted to shareholders for
approval at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on 16 May 2025 (“2025 AGM"). If approved, the final dividend is
expected to be paid on 6 June 2025 to the shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 23
May 2025.

The Board reminds shareholders that the Company’s dividend
policy enunciated at the time of our IPO in 2005 is that it will pay no
less than 60% of its distributable profit as dividend. The Group has
been giving out dividend to our shareholders as much as possible
out of our distributable profits provided that it is allowed by the
Companies Ordinance (Cap.622, Laws of Hong Kong) and also for
the sake of prudency, it would enable us to have reserve against
unforeseeable risk as well as potential future business expansion or
investment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EERENRE D (&)

Financial Review (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Position

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total cash and bank
deposits of HK$453.1 million (2023: HK$444.7 million). During
2024, the Group did not invest in any financial instruments. Before
any investment or business opportunities were identified, the
cash surplus reserves were parked in bank deposits as part of
our treasury operations to improve the yield of the Group’s cash
surpluses.

Total assets and net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2024
amounted to HK$536.1 million (2023: HK$545.6 million) and
HK$378.8 million (2023: HK$376.2 million) respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no borrowings (2023: Nil).

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not hold any other
significant financial investment as at 31 December 2024.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this Annual Report, the Group did
not have any material acquisitions or disposals in relations to
subsidiaries and associates during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Capital and Reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the capital and reserves attributable to
shareholders was HK$378.8 million (2023: HK$376.2 million), an
increase of HK$2.6 million from the end of 2023.

Charges on Assets and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has obtained two bank
guarantees totalling HK$2.2 million (2023: two bank guarantees
totalling HK$2.2 million) issued to the Government for the due
performance by the Group pursuant to the terms of the contracts
with the Government. The bank guarantees are secured by a charge
over deposits totalling HK$2.2 million (2023: HK$2.2 million). Other
than the foregoing, the Group did not have any other charges on its
assets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EERENRE D (&)

Financial Review (Continued)

Capital Commitments

Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December 2024 not
provided for in the financial statements amounted to HKS$1.9
million (2023: HK$3.2 million), mainly in respect of the purchase of
platform software and computer equipment for the Group.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 223 staff (2023:
242), of which 186 were in Hong Kong and 37 in Guangzhou. The
related staff costs for the year came to HK$113.1 million (2023:
HK$120.1 million). The Group’s remuneration policy is that all
employees are rewarded on the basis of market levels. In addition
to salaries, the Group provides staff benefits including medical
insurance and contribution to staff’s mandatory provident fund.
To motivate and reward staff, the Group has various commission,
incentive and bonus schemes to drive performance and growth.

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates and Related Hedges

As at 31 December 2024, other than its investments in the PRC
and Macau incorporated entities, and cash and bank deposits
denominated in US dollars, the Group had no foreign exchange
exposure and related hedges.

Audit and Governance Committee

The Audit and Governance Committee has reviewed the Group’s
accounting policies and the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024. It also had independent
discussions with the internal auditor and the external auditor,
KPMG, without the presence of Management.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EENEREEAR (E)

Directors

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P., aged 82, was appointed as
a Director of the Company on 19 September 2000. He is also our
Chairman. He holds a Bachelor's degree in Electrical Engineering
from the Imperial College, London, the United Kingdom (“UK”) and
a Doctorate from Brown University, the United States (“US”). Dr.
LEE was appointed as the Chairman of TAL Apparel Limited (“TAL")
in 2012, which currently employs about 20,000 employees. He
has over 50 years’ experience in the textile and garment industry.
Dr. LEE is actively involved in several trade organisations and
public services in Hong Kong. He is the Honorary Chairman of
Textile Council of Hong Kong Limited and the Hong Kong Garment
Manufacturers Association. In addition, he is currently holding
the position of the Advisor, Chairman Emeritus of The Hong Kong
Research Institute of Textiles and Apparel Limited (HKRITA) and
the Chairman of the Committee of Overseers of Lee Woo Sing
College of The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Dr. LEE is also the
Chairman of GRST Ltd., a green technology company specialising
in sustainable battery solutions. Dr. LEE was awarded the Honorary
Fellowship of the Textile Institute in 2019 in Manchester, UK. He
was named in the Queen’s Birthday Honours list as an Officer of the
British Empire in 1996. He was appointed as Justice of Peace (“J.
P.”) in 1997 and was awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star (“S.B.S.”) at
the Fourth Anniversary of the Establishment of the HKSAR in 2001.

Non-executive Directors

Dr. LEE Delman, aged 57, was appointed as a Director of the
Company on 29 October 2012. Dr. LEE Delman holds a Doctorate
from the University of Oxford and a Bachelor’'s degree in Electrical &
Electronics Engineering from the Imperial College London. He is the
Vice Chairman of TAL. Dr. LEE Delman joined TAL in 2000. He was
appointed as a member of the TAL Group’s Executive Committee
in 2006 and became the President and Chief Technology Officer
in 2010. Dr. LEE Delman is responsible for driving TAL's long-term
strategy in operations, technology and value-added services to
customers. He looks after information technology (“IT") and supply
chain projects - from IT infrastructure to logistics management
throughout the entire organisation. He is the architect behind TAL's
current enterprise resource planning (ERP) system. He is also
responsible for global operations initiatives such as standardisation
of work methods, cultivation of a continuous improvement
organisation and corporate social responsibility.
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EENEREEAR (E)

Directors (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. LEE Delman has a strong background in research. Prior to
joining TAL, he was a researcher at UK based Sharp Laboratories
of Europe for three years. There, he was responsible for the
commercial application of modern computer vision techniques
to stereo photography and stereoscopic displays. He worked
as a research fellow at University of Pennsylvania in the US and
University of Leeds in the UK in various aspects of imaging.

Dr. LEE Delman has been appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director and a member of the Risk Committee
commencing from 21 March 2017, a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Audit Committee commencing from 1
December 2017 and the Chairman of the Environmental, Social,
and Governance Committee from 26 November 2020 of The Bank
of East Asia, Limited (listed on the Main Board of SEHK with stock
code: 23). He joined the board of Dairy Farm International Holdings
Ltd (now known as “DFI Retail Group Holdings Limited”, a standard
listing on the London Stock Exchange as its primary listing with
stock code: DFIB, and secondary listings on the Bermuda Stock
Exchange with stock code: 133 and the Singapore Exchange with
SGX Symbol: D01 respectively) on 9 May 2018 and retired with
effect from 30 November 2021.

Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent, aged 57, was appointed as a Director
of the Company on 11 May 2018. He has 30 years of experience
in the maritime industry. He started his career in Hongkong
International Terminals Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Hutchison Port Holdings Trust (“HPH Trust”, listed on the Main
Board of Singapore Exchange with SGX Symbol: P7VU for SGD
and NS8U for USD shares respectively), where he held a number
of business development, commercial and management positions.
Since 2012, Mr. YUEN has been a member of the HPH Trust Exco.
As the Managing Director of Port Services and Logistics Division
of HPHT Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of HPH Trust, Mr.
YUEN leads both Hutchison Logistics (HK) and Asia Port Services
that provides seamless total supply chain solution across sea,
air and land networks from container depot, warehousing and
distribution to freight handling, trucking and feeder service. Mr.
YUEN has a Bachelor of Science degree in Geology and Geophysics
from the University of Hawaii at Manoa and holds a Master of
Science degree in Environmental Engineering from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology. He is a chartered fellow of
the Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong.
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EENEREEAR (E)

Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAK Hubert, aged 63, was appointed as a Director of the
Company on 21 October 2002. Mr. CHAK is currently an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of SF REIT Asset
Management Limited (“SF REIT Manager”), the manager of SF Real
Estate Investment Trust (listed on the Main Board of SEHK with
stock code: 2191) and is also one of the Responsible Officers of SF
REIT Manager.

Mr. CHAK joined Link Asset Management Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary and the Manager of Link Real Estate Investment Trust
(listed on the Main Board of SEHK with stock code: 823) in June
2010 and was its Director of Finance when he left in December
2018. Prior to that, he was an Executive Director of CSI| Properties
Limited (listed on the Main Board of SEHK with stock code:
497) from April 2007 to May 2010. He also held various senior
management positions at Pacific Century Group between October
1999 and February 2007 and was an Executive Director of Pacific
Century Premium Developments Limited (listed on the Main Board
of SEHK with stock code: 432) from May 2004 to February 2007.

Mr. CHAK began his career with KPMG in Hong Kong and worked as
an investment banker between 1990 and 1999. He holds a Master
of Business Administration degree and a Bachelor of Science
degree in Mechanical Engineering from University of Wales (now
known as “Cardiff University”).

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay, aged 82, was appointed as a Director of
the Company on 1 September 2009. He was the Non-executive
Chairman of the Board from 1998 to 2002. Mr. CHAU graduated
from The University of Hong Kong in 1967. He served in the
Government from 1967 to 2002. Between 1988 and 2002, Mr. CHAU
served in a number of principal official positions in the Government,
including Secretary for Commerce and Industry, Secretary for
Broadcasting, Culture and Sport, and Secretary for Health and
Welfare. Following his departure from the Government, Mr. CHAU
was an Independent Non-executive Director of SUJM Holdings
Limited (listed on the Main Board of SEHK with stock code: 880)
from January 2008 to 15 June 2022. He has been appointed by
Wharf Real Estate Investment Company Limited (listed on the Main
Board of SEHK with stock code: 1997) as an Independent Non-
executive Director with effect from 1 January 2021. Mr. CHAU was
awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star by the Government in 2002.
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EENEREEAR (E)

Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus, aged 54, was appointed as a
Director of the Company on 24 May 2024. She graduated from the
University of Queensland (Australia) with a Bachelor of Commerce
degree and with a Master of Business Administration degree from
Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern University and
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. Ms. CHEUNG
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA) and Certified Practising Accountants
of Australia. She is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors (HKIoD). Ms. CHEUNG has served as Co-
Founder and Chief Strategy Officer of On-us Group since 2020.
She has been the Independent Non-Executive Director of Mobvista
Inc. (listed on the Main Board of SEHK with stock code: 1860)
since 2022 and an Independent Director of VS MEDIA Holdings
Limited (NASDAQ: VSME) since September 2023. Moreover, she
was the Independent Non-Executive Director of Stelux Holdings
International Limited (listed on the Main Board of SEHK with stock
code: 84) from 2022 to 2024 and the Independent Non-Executive
Director and Audit Committee Chairman for iClick Interactive
Asia Group Limited (NASDAQ: ICLK) from 2017 to 2021. Prior to
that, she was the Chief Financial Officer, Asia Pacific and General
Manager, China for Travelzoo (NASDAQ: TZ0O0) from 2007 to 2019
and Regional Finance Director for Yahoo! Asia from 1999 to 2007.
She built both Travelzoo Asia and Yahoo! Asia business from
zero to multi-billions. Prior to working for Yahoo!, Ms. CHEUNG
held various professional positions at American Standard and
PricewaterhouseCoopers. She has over 20 years’ experience in
financial and management functions in listed companies.

Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT, aged 65, was appointed
as a Director of the Company on 12 May 2023. He holds a Bachelor
of Science degree from Babson College in the US and is the
Managing Director of Milo’s Knitwear (International) Limited.

Mr. LIN was an Independent Non-executive Director of Top Form
International Limited (listed on the Main Board of SEHK with stock
code: 333) from May 2006 to 30 November 2023. He also served
as the Chairman of its Compensation Committee and a member of
both its Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.

EE (&)

BAFEHITES (E)

RAKZET A+ME R-Z-_MOFRA=-+THN
HEZEAERLQRES FEERBMNELHX
B oEmEEtEy WERLABHEREEE
REREEANE ABESIMEEETSEN KLt
ABBETMAEHKICPA R BENETEHASNE
FREE - FILABBEEEE(HKIOD)MEREE -
RZTBZZ-EFRIEFOn-usEBWE S RIHA
REERKE HE-_ZS-__FREAESREE
PRAT (EEBBRERLT - ORI 1860)
BAYKHITES  URB-Z-=FNAREMEVS
MEDIA Holdings Limited (#5735 : VSME) ¥§3 &
Boltih HER-B-__FEF-_ZT_MFEMLE
KEE(FAR)BERAT (EEBHRITER LT
BHREE 84) BUFHTEERAN-ZE—LFZE
CE - FEAEHEBOHTINEERRAT (MK
HER  ICLK) WEB LB TESREXREZESE
B ZA  HER_ZELEE_ZF—HLEFIE
{ETravelzoo (ETER : TZ00) EAEBEHENHE
RPERBALE YR —NAANFE-_ZTLFE
RN B KB EE - A% Travelzoo AsiaR HER
DM ERREHEE BT EAHERIER
REZUTHAEBEZEQNRAREER KERTMBHM
EEZEEEBN  BERETATANMEREER
REIFHEEBRB-TENER -

HERY%E - 6.B.S., J.P., FCILT » x+F B ' K=
E=FRAT-HEZRERLRLQRES - KiEFH
Z[HBabson Collegez BE T 24y » WA EFEH
B (BEIR) BRAREBRALE -

MEER-_EERNFREAE-ZE_=F+—A=+
AETEBHEERERAT (EEBHIMERL
o RHNRIE 333 BUFMITES - HWAETZ
NRAFTHNEEEETEURERZESRIEREZEY
MEZHE °



|
3
|
=
ﬁ
_m
h
B
o
]
&
N
g

ZHRAT | 25

Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EENEREEAR (E)

Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. LIN was the Chairman of the Hong Kong Productivity Council
from 6 August 2016 to 5 August 2022 and had been the Chairman
of the Hong Kong Export Credit Insurance Corporation and of
the Board of Governors of the Prince Philip Dental Hospital. He
is currently the Chairman of the Hong Kong Shippers’ Council,
the Honorary Chairman of the Textile Council of Hong Kong, the
Advisor of Our Hong Kong Foundation, a member (representing
the Hong Kong Shippers' Council) of the Government's Logistics
Development Council and Maritime and Port Board, a member
of the Government's Trade and Industry Advisory Board, Expert
Group under the E-commerce Development Task Force and InnoHK
Steering Committee, an Honorary Trade Advisor of Ministry of
Commerce of Thailand, and an Honorary Consul of the Slovak
Republic to Hong Kong and Macao.

During Mr. LIN’s term of office as the Chairman of the Hong
Kong Productivity Council, he had been instrumental in promoting
digital and cyber security technologies, application of industry 4.0
technologies and greening the supply chain, leveraging government
funding for industry upgrade, and fostering strategic collaboration
with international research and study powerhouses.

As the Chairman of the Hong Kong Shippers’ Council, Mr. LIN has
been pivotal in providing updated and timely market information
for manufacturers, logistic providers and the Government, thereby
enabling them to keep abreast of the ever-changing landscape in
the global trade. He has also been leading the initiative to enhance
the education and training to industry participants related to the
logistics 4.0 study. Due to entangling geopolitics that complicates
the supply chain, Mr. LIN has been actively promoting and bringing
Hong Kong companies to Asian countries such as Thailand,
Vietnam and Indonesia so as to strengthen their supply chain
capabilities and remain competitive and versatile.

Executive Directors

Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S., aged 60, was appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer-designate of the Company on 1 July 2024 and
a Director of the Company on 1 September 2024 respectively and
subsequently took over as the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) of
the Company on 1 October 2024. He is also a director of all the
Company’s subsidiaries.

Mr. YUEN joined the Administrative Service of the Government in
1985 after graduation from the University of Hong Kong. His last
appointment with the Civil Service was the Commissioner for the
Development of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area from 2019 to 2023. Mr. YUEN represented the Government to
serve on Tradelink’s Board as an alternate director during 2001 to
2005.
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EENEREEAR (E)

Directors (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew, aged 55, joined the Group in 2002
and was appointed as a Director of the Company on 15 November
2011. He was appointed as the Chief Technology Officer (“CTQO")
of the Company on 1 January 2017 and re-designated as the Chief
Operations Officer (“CO0Q") of the Company on 1 December 2024.
He is also a director of all the Company’s subsidiaries. Mr. CHENG
holds a Master of Commerce degree in Information Systems
from the University of New South Wales, a Master of Engineering
degree from the University of Sydney, a Bachelor of Engineering
degree with Honours in Electrical Engineering from the University
of Sydney and a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of
Sydney. Mr. CHENG has 32 years’ experience in |IT-related business,
covering internet security, domestic and international supply chain,
logistics and finance. He was a specialist in the consultancy on the
setting up of a Public Key Infrastructure (“PKI") by the Government
and is currently a member of the Expert Review Panel of Hong
Kong Logistics and Supply Chain MultiTech R&D Centre (formerly
known as “R&D Centre for Logistics and Supply Chain Management
Enabling Technologies”).

Senior Management

Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S.
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew
Ms. PANG Kit Fong

— Chief Executive Officer
- Chief Operations Officer
— Chief Financial Officer

Mr. YUEN and Mr. CHENG are also Directors of the Company. Their
biographical details have already been set out above under the
sub-section headed “Directors”.

The biographical details of Ms. PANG are set out as follows:

Ms. PANG Kit Fong, aged 42, was appointed as the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company on 1 January 2023. Ms. PANG
joined the Company in 2009. Prior to that, Ms. PANG worked
in PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd. for audit services. She holds
a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in Professional
Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Ms.
PANG is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. She has over 19 years of experience in accounting,
auditing and financial management.
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Corporate Governance Report

EXRERHES

(1) Compliance with the Corporate Governance (1) i

Code (the “CG Code”)

The Company is committed to a high standard of corporate
governance and the Board believes that good corporate
governance is fundamental to effective and proper management
of the Company in the interests of its stakeholders. The Company
has applied the principles of good corporate governance and
made every effort to ensure full compliance with the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) in Part 2 of the CG Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the SEHK (the “Listing Rules”). The Company
confirms that it has complied with all applicable Code Provisions
during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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(2) Model Code for Securities Transactions by (2) EFHBITAZEEHTEFRKIN

Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules to govern its Directors’ dealings in
the Company’s securities. Having made specific enquiry,
all Directors have confirmed compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transaction during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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(3) Our Purpose and Vision B EMH=RERES

With a mission “to empower our clients with business enabled
e-solutions for their commercial and financial activities”, we
develop, market and support smart IT solutions for our clients
with the purpose of creating opportunities in digital efficiency
for businesses and people. We promise to maximise digital
efficiency for our customers.

Encompassing our purpose and what we stand for, our vision
is “to promote a prosperous Hong Kong where companies and
people can readily achieve and enjoy the benefits of digital
efficiency.”
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XERBREE (8)

i

(4)

Our Values

Guiding us in everything we do, our values are set out below:

Trust

AEKE

Transparency

NFAEH

Teamwork

B

Thoughtfulness

BABEIE

Technology

MEAE

Timely

(4) M MEE
BIERA—E—THROEERIMT :

We work diligently to uphold our reputation for helping organisations maximise
their digital efficiency and successfully get more value from technology.
HMNBEIERKM-—EZH FREHEEET MR EEB NG - WRHER
B EBISHEAER -

We are open and direct in the way we communicate and conduct our business.
We encourage information sharing across the Company. We own up to our
mistakes, work to correct them and learn from them.
BAULAREANSTXNBBANKEER - RMNEBAQXAARERAZ - RMBERE
B REHONE  LRIERPES -

We are committed to close teamwork among ourselves, with our business
partners and customers, with regulators and others we work with.
BAMAOREIM - LEFESERY TP UZEEHEBEREMIFERE &
I BENEIERRR -

We give our team members the resources and support to understand the pain
points of our customers and offer practical solutions to overcome them. We
cultivate empathy and care for each other, our customers and all stakeholders
whose lives we touch.

BMARSREERNIXE UTHEFNEEMT  #MRUERNERER -
BMBEEREL  EMHEIER  ARBEEFNSEIERSE -

Our role is to maximise digital efficiency with a science-based approach that
involves measuring performance and constantly seeking improvement. We
will continue to explore innovative new technology that can help raise digital
efficiency in Hong Kong.
BRUBREBEANGZE 2R TESRESZR  Uxo BEHB RS -
BOGEERRAFRE  EPEBRSEHLNE -

We respect people’s time. From developing effective e-solutions to responding
swiftly to customer requests, we seek to make best use of time. Working
with a sense of timeliness helps us meet deadlines and keeps us ahead of
technological change.

BME2EERD  REREREFHE ZAROEEFER  RMEREFROE
BRENBEANNE - AREERBEYRMERTHIAE  XEBFAEZNRE
HRIFEZ -
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TXERBMEE (F)

(5) Our Culture

Our corporate values shape our organisational culture. Evolved
from our values, our culture describes the behaviours and
practices in our work environment and is used to promote
our business efforts and define ourselves as a company.
We strive to promote healthy cultures and to focus on
helping employees feel supported, valued and motivated.
By generating feelings of community and positivity in the
workplace, we aim to boost productivity, reduce turnover and
improve morale.

Our culture is described as below:

Tradelink is a business dedicated to helping
organisations maximise digital efficiency.

Our work on the forefront of technology offers
tremendous potential advantages to business
organisations.

Yet the challenges of rapidly-evolving technology can
create uncertainty and hesitation in those who can
benefit from it.

It is therefore essential that Tradelink is seen to be
trustworthy by all our stakeholders.

To achieve this, we nourish a culture in which integrity is
our highest value. We encourage, recognise and reward
positive contributions. And we ensure factors that can
undermine trust are readily identified, corrected and
prevented.

Tradelink is committed to ethical business practices,
which is upheld by our corporate policies and procedures.

As a public body we aim to be as transparent as possible
in our affairs and communications.

We promote impartiality in our decision-making and seek
to objectively work in our customers’ best interests. To
achieve that we embed processes into our customer
relationships designed to measure, review and optimise
the services and solutions we provide.

Over the decades we have worked hard to earn our
reputation for trustworthiness. We nourish and instil our
culture by promoting and policing our six core values.

The Board has reviewed the statement of corporate culture,
purpose, values and strategy as disclosed above.
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Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Group is committed to the continuous enhancement of
risk management framework, capabilities and culture across
the Group to strengthen its ability in achieving business
objectives. Appropriate risk management activities are
embedded into the business planning, project management,
contract management, business operations and organisational
procedures. The Group is willing to take reasonable and
manageable risks in pursuit of its strategic business
objectives. The reasonableness and manageability vary among
the Group’s business segments.

Once risks, including those which are related to environmental,
social and governance (“ESG”) and climate change, have been
identified, recorded and analysed, and the agreed treatments
have been implemented, an appropriate monitoring and
reporting regime will be performed to provide assurance that
the implemented treatments are effective and help to control
the risks. Appropriate risk treatments are embedded into
the Group’s daily operations. The risks will be continuously
monitored depending on the subsequent risk rating and
the strength of controls to treat the risks. All staff have the
responsibility for the continuous monitoring of risks and
operation of controls within their area of responsibility. In
particular, close attention would be paid to those risk areas
with a strong reliance on internal controls and processes to
bring the risks to an acceptable level.

The Company believes that effective communication and
consultation are essential throughout the risk management
process, as the same enhance the understanding of risk
identification, analysis and evaluation among process owners
and the risk management team in the Group. Individual
departments of the Group review at least monthly and
update their own risk logs. The responsible persons of the
departments update and report the risk logs to the Risk
Manager and the responsible ED (the “Responsible ED") of
the Company on a regular basis. The Responsible ED then
presents the consolidated risk logs to Senior Management
for risk identification and assessment at management and
Group levels. Senior Management updates the Board on any
significant risks and progress via monthly reports or in Board
meetings.
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Risk Management and Internal Controls
(Continued)

The Board recognises the need for sound and effective risk
management and internal controls systems to safeguard
investment of the Company’s ordinary equity shareholders
(“Shareholders”) and the Group’s assets. The Board
acknowledges its overall responsibility for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. With the support
of Senior Management and the Audit and Governance
Committee (the “Audit and Governance Committee”) of the
Board, the Board reviews annually the effectiveness of the
systems, which covers different areas, including without
limitation, the financial, operational and compliance controls,
for the financial year under review in compliance with the
Code Provision D.2.1. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The risk management system framework adopted by the
Group was designed by reference to the principles and process
outlined in the international standard of ISO31000. Appropriate
risk management activities are embedded into business
planning, project management, contract management,
business operations and organisational procedures. The six
steps involved in the risk management process are:

1. Establish the scope, context and criteria

2. Risk assessment (risk identification, risk analysis and risk
evaluation)

Risk treatment

Monitoring and review

Recording and reporting

Communication and consultation

o gk w
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(6) Risk Management and Internal Controls (6) EIEE K AEPE1E (48
(Continued)

Our risk management process and risk management framework BAMEREERFRAKRSEERTUER
can be represented diagrammatically as follows: BRAT
Risk Management Process 1S031000:2018 B EEZF1S031000:2018

Scope, Context,
— Criteria

Srie- C1=y—1 35 >
gE -5 2E

Risk Assessment

[ Bk 54y
Risk Identification
LB B

Risk Analysis
s iy

Risk Evaluation

EBEFE

Communication & Consultation
BERESA
Monitoring & Review
EmR st

Risk Treatment

bR R I

Recording & Reporting
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(6) Risk Management and Internal Controls (6) B¢ EE R AEPEHE ()

(Continued)

Risk Management Framework

Evaluate the effectiveness of
the risk management system

Board and Audit and Governance Committee D

AHMEEREERGAIR
ESENERRERZES

A

Oversee the implementation of
the risk management system
Senior Management
EERMEERGNER
SE YN

A

Risk review, assessment, analysis
and reporting
Responsible persons of individual departments,
Risk Manager and Responsible ED
EBSMET - 514G - STHESR
BRIEFHEEA AREEAREEHNTES

A

Risk identification, recording and monitoring
Individual departments
EBEEE B - FCERFEEE
j(EVlEE

As an ongoing process, the Company has assessed its internal
control system by reference to The Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ") internal
control framework 2013, specifically in relation to the five
elements of control environment, risk assessment, control
activities, communication and monitoring.

[E B B TR AE 2R

Independent assurance
Internal Auditor and External Auditor
BALIRE
R BRA% BHAT K 7 ER A% BHAT

KA T B 2 HBThe Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(TCcoso) =ZE—=F N MEZER - K&
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Risk Management and Internal Controls
(Continued)

To further strengthen the risk management and internal
control systems, the Company’s internal auditor (the “Internal
Auditor”) has been designated by the Audit and Governance
Committee to conduct reviews and audit tests to verify the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems in place. An annual review report shall be presented
to the Audit and Governance Committee, which shall, based
on the said report, form the opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
and report to the Board accordingly. The Company’s external
auditor (the “External Auditor”) would obtain an understanding
of internal controls relevant to their audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances
though not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. The External Auditor would communicate
with the Audit and Governance Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal controls that they identify during the course of their
audit. If necessary, remedial actions will be taken timely by the
Company.

During the year, the Internal Auditor had conducted reviews of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. In
particular, the Internal Auditor had conducted the followings:

. A gap analysis and evaluation of the effectiveness of the
risk management system by using ISO31000:2018 as a
basis for comparison;

. A COSO entity level control gap analysis to ascertain
if the Group has established entity level controls that
are consistent with the key concepts of the control
framework recommended by COSO - ‘Internal Control -
Integrated Framework’; and

. Audit tests to verify the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal controls in place.

The Company has complied with the Code Provisions relating
to risk management and internal control during the year. Based
on the confirmation from Senior Management and the reviews
from the Internal Auditor and the Audit and Governance
Committee, the Board has reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and considers the same
to be adequate and effective for the reporting year. There were
no significant control failings, weaknesses or significant areas
of concern identified during 2024.
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Risk Management and Internal Controls
(Continued)

The Board also considers the resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, as well as those relating to the Group’s ESG
performance and reporting, are adequate.

The Group handles and disseminates inside information in
compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap.571, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ”").
The Board, with the recommendation of Senior Management,
would identify and determine whether certain information
would need to be disclosed as inside information under the
Listing Rules and the SFO. Once certain information has been
determined as inside information, it would be disclosed as
soon as practicable by way of announcements.

The Company has in place separate internal policies to govern
dealings in the Company’s securities by the Directors, general
staff and directors and staff of the Company’s subsidiaries
who are likely to possess inside information in relation to the
Group or its securities because of such office and employment
(the "Relevant Employees”) with terms no less exacting than
the Model Code. All employees and Directors are not allowed
to deal in the securities of the Company when they possess
unpublished inside information. Pre-clearance on dealing in
the Company’s securities is mandatory for the Directors and
those staff who are likely to be in constant exposure to inside
information.

During the reporting year, the Directors and Relevant
Employees, as identified by Senior Management, were notified
of the periods when dealings in the securities of the Company
were prohibited. All inside information was disclosed timely
by way of announcements. Before the disclosure of inside
information by announcements, it was kept confidential and
would only be disclosed to, and handled by, those employees
who had a genuine need to know. Documents containing
inside information were protected by passwords.
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Risk Management and Internal Controls
(Continued)

The Company has in place a comprehensive Whistleblowing
Policy (the “Whistleblowing Policy”), under which the
employees and officers of the Group and external parties who
deal with the Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, contractors
etc.) are encouraged to raise concerns, in confidence, with the
Audit and Governance Committee about possible improprieties
and misconducts pertaining to the Group. The Audit and
Governance Committee reviews the Whistleblowing Policy on
an annual basis.

The Whistleblowing Policy is available on the Company’s
website under the section headed “Investors/Corporate
governance/Corporate governance policy”.

The Company has also promulgated an Anti-Corruption
Policy (the “Anti-Corruption Policy”) in order to promote and
strengthen anti-corruption initiatives. The Anti-Corruption
Policy is based on the recommendations in the SEHK’s
Corporate Governance Guide for Boards and Directors (the
“CG Guide”) and further taking into consideration the view and
advice of the Independent Commission Against Corruption
of Hong Kong (“ICAC”). The Anti-Corruption Policy applies
to Directors and employees at all level, as well as external
parties dealing with the Group and those acting in an agency
or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group (e.g. agents,
consultants and contractors). The Nomination Committee
reviews the Anti-Corruption Policy on an annual basis.

The Anti-Corruption Policy is available on the Company’s
website under the section headed “Investors/Corporate
governance/Corporate governance policy”.

Every employee must abide by the Anti-Corruption Policy and
the Code of Ethics and Conduct (the “Code of Ethics and
Conduct”) of the Group and is expected to achieve the highest
ethical and professional standards of behaviour.
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(7) Board of Directors

)

Board Composition

During the reporting year, (i) Mr. YING Tze Man,
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan and Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy
retired as a Non-executive Director (“NED"), an
Independent Non-executive Director (“INED”) and an
INED respectively with effect from the conclusion of
the Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) held on
24 May 2024 (“2024 AGM”); (ii) Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling
Honnus has been appointed as an INED with effect from
the conclusion of the 2024 AGM; (iii) Ms. CHUNG Shun
Kwan retired as an Executive Director (“"ED") with effect
from 1 August 2024; (iv) Mr. TSE Kam Keung stepped
down as an ED with effect from 1 September 2024; and
(v) Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. has been appointed as an
ED with effect from 1 September 2024. Ms. CHEUNG Ho
Ling Honnus and Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. obtained
the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules on 23 April 2024 and 5 July 2024 respectively, and
each of them has confirmed that she/he understood her/
his obligations as a Director.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company was led by its
Board comprising two EDs, three NEDs, including the
Chairman of the Board, and four INEDs. The INEDs
represent at least one-third of the Board as required by
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the members of the
Board are:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P.

Non-executive Directors

Dr. LEE Delman*
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus

Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT*

Executive Directors

Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew (Chief Operations Officer)

(* Dr. LEE Delman is a nephew of Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee,
S.B.S., J.P. and Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT is
a friend of Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P.)
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

)

Board Composition (Continued)

The Board oversees the overall management and
operations of the Company. Major responsibilities include
determining the Company’s overall business, financial
and technical strategies, setting key performance
targets, approving budgets and major expenditures, and
supervising the performance of management with the
objective of enhancing Shareholder value. Matters not
specifically reserved to the Board and necessary for
the daily operations of the Company are delegated to
Senior Management under the supervision of respective
Directors and the committees of the Board (the “Board
Committees”).

The diversity profile of the Board is set out in the
following charts:
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued) 7)ES=E (&)
(i) Board Composition (Continued) () Esg@E &)

Geography of Educational/Professional Background
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Work Profile
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Professional (e.g. legal, accounting, IT, investment,
asset management and maritime industry)
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The biographical information of Directors is set out in the BEECERERBERAFERENEEZE26H
“Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 21 [ES=RaREBRAE]—®-

to 26 of this Annual Report.
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(if)

Changes of Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Information
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules

Save as disclosed in the 2024 Interim Report, there have
been no changes in the information of Directors and Chief
Executives of the Company during the reporting year and
up to the date of this Annual Report, save and except that:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus retired as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of Stelux
Holdings International Limited (listed on the Main
Board of SEHK with stock code: 84) with effect from
20 August 2024.

Mr. TSE Kam Keung stepped down as an ED and
the CEO with effect from 1 September 2024 and 1
October 2024 respectively and also ceased to hold
any position with the subsidiaries and associates
of the Company following his stepping down as the
CEO.

Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. has been appointed as
an ED with effect from 1 September 2024 and has
been re-designated from the CEO-designate to the
CEO with effect from 1 October 2024.

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew, an ED, has been
re-designated from the CTO to the COO with effect
from 1 December 2024.

Each of the NEDs (including INEDs) signed a
confirmation letter with the Company, pursuant
to which the annual remuneration payable to the
relevant Director has been revised to a fixed amount,
which shall be determined with reference to the
relevant Director’s roles in the Board and respective
Board Committees, with effect from the year.
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(iii) Appointment, Rotational Retirement and Re-election

(iv)

(v)

All NEDs (including INEDs) are appointed for a period
of three years and all Directors are subject to rotational
retirement and re-election requirement at the AGM
pursuant to Article 96 of the Articles of Association (the
“Articles of Association”) of the Company and the Listing
Rules or at such time as may be required by resolution
of the Board. Pursuant to Article 96 of the Articles of
Association, at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if the number is not a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not greater than one-third)
shall retire from office but are eligible for re-election.

Chairman of the Board and CEO

The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO
should not be performed by the same individual to
maintain effective segregation of duties. During the year
and up to the date of this Annual Report, Dr. LEE Harry
Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. has been the Chairman of the
Board, while Mr. TSE Kam Keung had been the CEO prior
to his stepping down on 1 October 2024 and Mr. YUEN
Man Chung, S.B.S. has taken the full CEO role since 1
October 2024. The Chairman of the Board is responsible
for overseeing the functioning of the Board and the
strategies of the Group, and the CEO is responsible for
managing the Group’s day-to-day businesses.

The Chairman of the Board held a private session with
the INEDs without the presence of other Directors
immediately after the Directors’ conference of the
Company held on 22 November 2024 (the “2024
Directors’ Conference”).

Directors’ Time Commitments

The Directors have confirmed that, during the year,
they devoted adequate time to discharge their duties
as members of the Board and the relevant Board
Committees. The Directors have also confirmed that
they had been provided with monthly updates on the
Group’s operations, performance and business prospects
to enable them to discharge their duties. Additional
information, explanation and clarification were provided
by Senior Management in response to questions raised
by the Directors in the course of their reviews of such
materials.
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(vi) Board Meetings and General Meeting

(7) E%E (&)

During 2024, six Board meetings and an AGM were held.
The attendance of Directors at the Board meetings and

the 2024 AGM was as follows:

(vi) EEETETERKRERKE

REZZNF  ARBAERITARESS
ERR-ABRFBERE - ESRNESE
ERNR-ENEFRRBEFRENLE
BT

Board meetings 2024 AGM
attended/ attended/
Eligible to attend Eligible to attend
BHE BHE/
SEREE SERUE
=3 “EMERR
BEERE BEFERERE
Chairman and Non-executive Director TERIEHITES
Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. Z=Jy/EE+ » SB.S, J.P. 6/6 1/1
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Dr. LEE Delman FEAEL 6/6 1/1
Mr. YING Tze Man 0@ RFXXFEMND 2/3 0/1
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent @ RKEFLEO 4/6 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors B EHITESE
Mr. CHAK Hubert B2Egmis 6/6 1/1
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan ® REEZLTO 3/3 1/1
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay @ ABEREE® 4/6 1/1
Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus © RAELLZLO 3/3 N/ATIE H
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy @ EHERELEED 3/3 1/1
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, MERELE

G.B.S, J.P,, FCILT G.B.S,, J.P,, FCILT 6/6 1/1
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. RRBELE  SBS.

(Chief Executive Officer) © (TBAEH)© 11 N/ATE A
Mr. TSE Kam Keung @ HERE LD 5/5 1/1
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew BB ER S

(Chief Operations Officer) (EEHEE) 6/6 1/1
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan ® EIERZ O 4/4 1/1
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(vi) Board Meetings and General Meeting (Continued)

Notes:

©)

@)

(©)

4

©)

(6)

)

®)

Mr. YING Tze Man, Ms. CHAN Chi Yan and Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok
Jimmy retired as a NED, an INED and an INED respectively with
effect from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

Mr. YING Tze Man was unable to attend the Board meeting on 6
February 2024 and the 2024 AGM due to business engagements.

Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent was unable to attend the Board
meetings on 6 February 2024 and 17 April 2024 due to business
engagements.

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay was unable to attend the Board meetings
on 22 March 2024 and 22 November 2024 due to overseas
engagements and business engagements respectively.

Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus has been appointed as an INED
with effect from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. has been appointed as an ED with
effect from 1 September 2024.

Mr. TSE Kam Keung stepped down as an ED with effect from 1
September 2024.

Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan retired as an ED with effect from 1
August 2024.

(vii) Directors’ and Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Accounts

The

Directors acknowledge their responsibility for

preparing financial statements that give a true and fair

view

of the state of affairs of the Group. In this regard,

the Directors have confirmed that appropriate accounting
policies have been selected and applied consistently
and that judgments and estimates made are prudent and
reasonable in light of the information provided by Senior
Management.
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(vii) Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the

Accounts (Continued)

In preparing the financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024, the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong were adopted and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the applicable laws
were complied with.

The Board has prepared the financial statements on a
going concern basis and is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the External Auditor are
disclosed in the “Report of the Auditor” of this Annual
Report.

(viii) Directors’ and Auditor's Attendance at the 2024 AGM

(ix)

The Directors’ attendance at the 2024 AGM is shown in
the table under the sub-section headed “Board Meetings
and General Meeting” above.

The External Auditor, KPMG, also attended the 2024 AGM
to confirm the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and to answer
questions from Shareholders.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional
Development

All newly appointed Directors will have to attend an
induction programme to enhance their knowledge and
understanding of the Group’s business and operations,
their responsibilities and obligations under statute and
common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Group’s business and governance
policies, as well as the possible consequences of making
a false declaration or giving false information to the
SEHK.

(7)) EET (&)
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(ix) Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional

(%)

Development (Continued)

It is also the Company’s practice to arrange a half day
in-house Directors’ conference annually to brief the
Directors on business updates and financial review of
the Group and have strategic discussions on the Group'’s
business direction. In the 2024 Directors’ Conference,
apart from the said discussions, the Company also
provided a training on the new Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Code and its impact on the
Group’s business. Except Mr. CHAU Tak Hay, all other
Directors, namely Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P,,
Dr. LEE Delman, Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent, Mr. CHAK
Hubert, Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus, Mr. LIN Sun Mo
Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT, Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S.
and Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew, participated in the
2024 Directors’ Conference. During the year, the Company
provided legal and regulatory updates to all Directors
from time to time to ensure compliance.

The Company has allocated financial resources to
support and encourage the Directors to participate in
continuous professional development to refresh and
enhance their knowledge and skills regarding their roles,
functions and duties as Directors.

All Directors have provided to the Company their training
records during the year.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance to indemnify the Directors
against liabilities in respect of legal actions arising from
the Group's day-to-day business activities. During the
year, the insurance coverage was HK$100 million.

(7)) EET (&)
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(xi) Board Independence

The Company currently has in place the following
mechanisms to ensure that independent views and input
are available to the Board (the “Board Independence
Mechanisms”):

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

()

(9)

The Board maintains a sufficient number of INEDs
and ensures all of them continue to devote sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Group;

The Company receives from all INEDs annual
confirmations of their independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and has in place
a mechanism to assess the independence of INEDs;

The Board encourages all Directors to express
their views in an open and candid manner during
meetings of the Board and Board Committees and
ensures they have opportunity to provide input to the
agenda of meetings;

The Company has an annual evaluation on the Board
independence through the Directors’ participations
in and discussions of the Group’s business during
the year, which the INEDs demonstrated their ability
to continue to bring in independent judgements to
the Board and respective Board Committees;

Under the terms of reference of all Board Committees,
it is clearly stated that legal and other independent
professional advice are available, at the Company's
expense, to assist Directors’ performance of their
duties where necessary;

The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO
are separate which ensures that there is a balance of
power and authority; and

The Directors are aware of any potential conflicts of
interest that may arise on their part in relation to the
Group’s business. In case such conflict of interest
arises, the Director concerned would declare his/her
interest to the Board and refrain from voting on the
issues or matters to be resolved.
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(xi) Board Independence (Continued) (xi) ESEBLH (&)

The Nomination Committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) of the Board and the Board have reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Independence Mechanisms during 2024 and consider
that they are adequate and effective to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board
for it to perform its duties.

(xii) Board Evaluation

The Board recognises the benefits of regular evaluations
of its performance. During the year, an evaluation
covering the Board’s and Board Committees’ performance
was conducted by the Nomination Committee, with
the assistance of Senior Management. Areas covered
included the overall effectiveness of the Board and
Board Committees and the attendance, participation
and contributions of Directors both during and outside
meetings. The conclusion was satisfactory.
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Board Committees

During the reporting year, in view of the downsizing of the
Board and the fact that the objectives and functions of the
Corporate Governance Committee (the “Corporate Governance
Committee”) and the Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”)
of the Board overlap to a certain extent, the Board resolved
that with effect from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM, the
Corporate Governance Committee shall be merged with the
Audit Committee, which shall be renamed as the Audit and
Governance Committee, with some duties and responsibilities
of the Corporate Governance Committee being assigned to the
Nomination Committee. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 15 April 2024.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board has four Board
Committees, namely the Audit and Governance Committee, the
Remuneration Committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the
Nomination Committee and the Investment Committee (the
“Investment Committee”).

(i) Audit and Governance Committee (Merger of the
Audit Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee)

During the reporting year, the Corporate Governance
Committee has been merged with the Audit Committee,
which has been renamed as the Audit and Governance
Committee, with effect from the conclusion of the 2024
AGM (the “Merger”).

Audit Committee

During the year and prior to the Merger, the Audit
Committee consisted of five INEDs, namely Mr. CHUNG
Wai Kwok Jimmy (Chairman), Mr. CHAK Hubert, Ms.
CHAN Chi Yan, Mr. CHAU Tak Hay and Mr. LIN Sun Mo
Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include, among
other matters, to review the Company’s financial
information and to oversee the overall financial reporting
process as well as the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
In addition, it is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the External Auditor. It also reviews and
monitors the External Auditor’'s independence and
objectivity as well as the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards.
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(8) Board Committees (Continued)
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Audit and Governance Committee (Merger of the (i) BEREAZET (BEXEETHLE
Audit Committee and the Corporate Governance ERZEEAH) (B)
Committee) (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued) BEREES (&
During the year, the Audit Committee held one meeting. NER  BERESSLET NS o
The attendance of members was as follows: SWHEENT :
Audit Committee meeting
Names attended/Eligible to attend
BHE SEREE
HE EREEEEERY
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy (Chairman) ™ BHEBLE (FE)O 1/1
Mr. CHAK Hubert @ BEmisxo 1/1
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan @ REELZLO® 1/1
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay @ BEREEO 1/1
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, MERELEE
G.B.S., J.P, FCILT @ G.B.S., J.P.,, FCILT @ 11
Notes: Htat -

(1)  Following his retirement as an INED, Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok
Jimmy ceased to be the chairman of the Audit Committee with
effect from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

(2) Following the Merger, Mr. CHAK Hubert, Mr. CHAU Tak Hay and
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT, who were the then
existing members of the Audit Committee, became the members
of the Audit and Governance Committee.

(3) Following her retirement as an INED, Ms. CHAN Chi Yan ceased
to be a member of the Audit Committee with effect from the
conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

At the meeting, the Audit Committee performed, among
other matters, the following duties:

(a) reviewed the Group's financial statements for the
year ended 2023, the draft 2023 Annual Report,
the draft 2023 final results announcement and the
proposed 2023 final dividend and recommended the
same to the Board for approval;

(1) ERELTLEREFBELZTBEFFREZE
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(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(i) Audit and Governance Committee (Merger of the

Audit Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee) (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

(b) reviewed and approved the audit plan and audit
report prepared by the Internal Audit Department
(the “Internal Audit Department”) of the Company;

(c) reviewed the reports on the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems to ensure that such
systems were adequate and effective;

(d) reviewed the Whistleblowing Policy;

(e) met with the Internal Auditor independently to
discuss the work of the Internal Audit Department
and to ensure the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal audit function;

(f) reviewed the remuneration of the Internal Auditor;

(g) met with the External Auditor, KPMG, independently
to discuss the financial reporting and internal
control issues encountered during the 2023 annual
audit; and

(h) reviewed the proposed audit fee for 2024 and made
recommendation to the Board on the proposed re-
appointment of KPMG as the External Auditor at the
2024 AGM.

Corporate Governance Committee

During the year and prior to the Merger, the Corporate
Governance Committee consisted of five INEDs, namely
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy (Chairman), Mr. CHAK
Hubert, Ms. CHAN Chi Yan, Mr. CHAU Tak Hay and Mr.
LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT.

The main responsibility of the Corporate Governance
Committee is to ensure and uphold good corporate
governance functions of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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t and Governance Committee (Merger of the (i)
t Committee and the Corporate Governance
mittee) (Continued)

Corporate Governance Committee (Continued)

During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee

(8)EEZXEE

ERREREET (EREETHLE
4

EREEEGH) (8

TLEERZEE ()

RER REERZEEEBRT K

2

held one meeting. The attendance of members was as FoNBHEERMT @

follows:

Corporate Governance

Committee meeting

Names attended/Eligible to attend

BHE SEREE

i JL%EI&?EE Eli/-';t

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy (Chairman) ™ BHEBLE (FE)O 1/1

Mr. CHAK Hubert @ BHEEAED 1/1

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan ® PREEZ L 1/1

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay @ BEEREE® 1/1
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, MERELEE

G.B.S., J.P,, FCILT @ G.B.S., J.P., FCILT® 1/1

Notes: Miat -

(1) Following his retirement as an INED, Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok (1) BHRELTERBERBELETHEFLEER
Jimmy ceased to be the chairman of the Corporate Governance EEEFFE H-E-NFRFRAFAESLE
Committee with effect from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM. RELEY -

(2) Following the Merger, Mr. CHAK Hubert, Mr. CHAU Tak Hay and (2) REGIHE ENABLEXELRZEEREHASE
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT, who were the then RIEHE S FEELERMERTE
existing members of the Corporate Governance Committee, GBS, J.P, FCILTRBFERRELEEEHK
became the members of the Audit and Governance Committee. g

(3)  Following her retirement as an INED, Ms. CHAN Chi Yan ceased 3) BERLLTRETBEETHEFLFEES

to be a member of the Corporate Governance Committee with
effect from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

ZEEHE B-F-MERFRAFAEHE
RELER -

<
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(8) Board Committees (Continued)

)

Audit and Governance Committee (Merger of the
Audit Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee) (Continued)

Corporate Governance Committee (Continued)

At the meeting, the Corporate Governance Committee
performed, among other matters, the following duties:

reviewed and made recommendation to the Board
on the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance;

(a)

(b) reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors, Senior Management and
the company secretary (the “Company Secretary”) of

the Company;

reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and the relevant compliance disclosures in the
draft 2023 Corporate Governance Report;

(c)

reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on
the Anti-Corruption Policy;

(d)

reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Independence Mechanisms;

(e)

(f) evaluated the performance of the Board and all
Board Committees; and

(g) performed other corporate governance duties under

the Code Provision A.2.1.

Audit and Governance Committee

Following the Merger, Mr. CHAK Hubert, Mr. CHAU
Tak Hay and Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT,
who were the then existing members of both the Audit
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee,
became the members of the Audit and Governance
Committee, and Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus
was appointed as the chairperson of the Audit and
Governance Committee. As at the date of this Annual
Report, the Audit and Governance Committee consists
of four INEDs, namely Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus
(Chairperson), Mr. CHAK Hubert, Mr. CHAU Tak Hay and
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT.

(@

REZEZL CEERZEESET(HH

BE) LTH

BENAEENEEXERARERE
BoUhEESSREESR

(a)

BNARBDES  SREBEAER
RAWE (2AWE D WEIREF
BEERRE

(b)

BNARXRBIFLEERTHNGE
RRE_ZE_=ZF0H¥EA
ERARNNEBERKE

()

BAIREREX IHEOEESR
HEE

(d)

BNEEEB I MEHNERRK
MU EBEESSRHES

()

() FREFSERFAEESEEENX
BiR

BEFAMGEA21GBITEME
EERBE -

(9)

ERRERZE®

NEfE  ENAERZESRLEER
ZEEMBRARENBERLELE - BRE
EREAERMER KA 0 GBS, J.P, FCILT
RAEBURERZEGHRE  MRAKL
THEZEAERRERZESER - ¥
AERAY > BERRELRZESHNEE
ERAB L (FF) Bk s  FE
BRAERMERLESE - GBS, J.P., FCILT
HR o
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(8) Board Committees (Continued)

)

B)EEEEE (&)

Audit and Governance Committee (Merger of the (i) BEREAZET (BEXEETHLE
Audit Committee and the Corporate Governance ERZEEAH) (B)
Committee) (Continued)
Audit and Governance Committee (Continued) BERREREZEEE (H)
The main duties of the Audit and Governance Committee ERRERZEENTERBEEE (A
include, among other matters, to review the Company’s BR)BEARANYBER  BERER
financial information, to oversee the overall financial BREREFURAEENEREER
reporting process as well as the adequacy and ABEZRZARRBEZHNEN » LR
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and BEREEAAAREMBATANRELEE
internal control systems and to ensure and uphold good RIEE o WO BRREREEFRER
corporate governance functions of the Company and IBREANER - EEREROESS
its subsidiaries. In addition, it is responsible for making REER - BERZREARZESTRERN
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, ZE Bl 4 5 0 25 2R D I 4% BUAT /9 58 S 1 AT
re-appointment and removal of the External Auditor. BEM URBEREFRSEH -
It also reviews and monitors the External Auditor’s
independence and objectivity as well as the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards.
During the year, the Audit and Governance Committee RER ERREREZESEHT—RE
held one meeting. The attendance of members was as FEoMBHEHERMOT :
follows:
Audit and Governance
Committee meeting
Names attended/Eligible to attend
BHE RERUE
" ERREREZEEETEERY
Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus (Chairperson) W IRAI¥& &+ (FFE)O 1/1
Mr. CHAK Hubert @ BEEkE® 1/1
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay @ FEEEREA@ 1/1
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, MERLE
G.B.S., J.P, FCILT ® G.B.S., J.P.,, FCILT®@ 1/1

Notes:

(1) Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus has been appointed as the
chairperson of the Audit and Governance Committee with effect
from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

(2) Following the Merger, Mr. CHAK Hubert, Mr. CHAU Tak Hay and
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT, who were the then
existing members of both the Audit Committee and the Corporate
Governance Committee, became the members of the Audit and
Governance Committee.

Mt -

(1) RARLZTITBEARERRELESET
B BE-FE-NFRRAFAGHERESL
2 e

(2) REE BENAEERZEERLFESRE
EEMERARENBH#ELLE - FEREL
LRMERELE GBS, J.P, FCILTHBF
BRELZESEHRS -
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TtXERBMEE (F)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(i) Audit and Governance Committee (Merger of the
Audit Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee) (Continued)

Audit and Governance Committee (Continued)

At the meeting, the Audit and Governance Committee
performed, among other matters, the following duties:

(a) reviewed the Group’s interim financial statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2024, the draft
2024 Interim Report, the draft 2024 interim results
announcement and the proposed 2024 interim
dividend and recommended the same to the Board
for approval;

(b) reviewed and approved the audit report prepared by
the Internal Audit Department;

(c) reviewed the interim report on the risk management
process of the Group;

(d) met with the Internal Auditor independently to
discuss the work of the Internal Audit Department
and to ensure the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal audit function;

(e) met with the External Auditor, KPMG, independently
to discuss the review of the Group's interim financial
report;

(f) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and the relevant compliance disclosures in the
draft 2024 Interim Report;

(g) reviewed and discussed the update on changes
and developments of corporate governance
requirements and regulations; and

(h) performed other corporate governance duties under
the Code Provision A.2.1.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

The fees payable or paid to KPMG during 2024 comprise
an audit fee of HK$1.08 million (2023: HK$1.09 million)
and a non-audit related service fee of HK$0.13 million
(2023: HKS0.09 million). The latter represented taxation
service fees.

8) EEZEE

(@

ERREREES (ERZEETHLE
EREEEEH) (E)
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SiREER UM
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ZI|E
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IR
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MEZMPINIE  TRERAEEH
R AR FAZ B BEAY R
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MEE-E-_NFHhHREEHR
RHEBESRKE

(9) BRNLTRBEELEELGRERR
PINBRTEERER R

h) BEFAUKRTEA2VEETE B
&AM -

1 S5 B i B

RZZ-ZDNF -FEEENRENTE
SREFTNEEANERBREREE
B 1,080,000t (ZE=Z=ZF 1 B
1,090,0007T) R F X BHERBE E B
130,000t (ZE == : 8 %90,000
) c RERBRBRBE -
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(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(ii) Remuneration Committee

During the year, (i) Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus has
been appointed as a member of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from the conclusion of the 2024
AGM; and (ii) following his retirement as an INED, Mr.
CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy ceased to be a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from the conclusion
of the 2024 AGM. As at the date of this Annual Report,
the Remuneration Committee consists of two INEDs,
namely Mr. CHAU Tak Hay (Chairman) and Ms. CHEUNG
Ho Ling Honnus, and the Chairman of the Board and a
NED, namely Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P..

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among other matters, to make recommendations to the
Board on the policy and structure for the remuneration
of Directors and Senior Management and on the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and Senior
Management.

The Remuneration Committee has promulgated a
written Remuneration Policy for all Directors and Senior
Management (the “Remuneration Policy”) to ensure the
ability of the Company to attract and retain experienced
and skilled Directors and Senior Management of high
calibre to lead, direct and guide the Company to achieve
its strategic corporate goals and objectives. The
Remuneration Policy, which is built upon the principle of
providing equitable and market-competitive remuneration
packages to the Directors and Senior Management,
aims at maintaining competitive remuneration levels but
not excessive. No Director or any of their associates is
involved in deciding that Director's own remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee periodically reviews the
Remuneration Policy. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the Remuneration Policy and made
recommendation on the revision of the same to the Board
for approval. Under the Remuneration Policy currently in
force, EDs who also hold other executive positions in the
Company and are paid remunerations for such positions,
which shall be commensurate with the prevailing market
situation, shall not be entitled to additional remunerations
for their executive directorships, unless the Remuneration
Committee, the Board or the Shareholders in general
meetings decide otherwise, while NEDs shall be paid
fixed remuneration, which shall be determined with
reference to the relevant Director’s roles in the Board and
respective Board Committees, in cash annually.

(8) EEZZEE (&)

(i) HFMES

REAR (VRIRZITEZEAFMES
ERE BER-NFERRBFAFER
BER R(i)BERTERREBERTR
BEAFHEEENE  B-ENFER
RBFASEREEN - RAFHRBEH -

FNESSHMEBEREREE (TE)
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ZJ5fEE L > S.B.S, JPAR °
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(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(ii) Remuneration Committee (Continued)

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting. The attendance of members was as follows:

(8) EEZZEE (&)

(i) M

Z8E (&)

RER > HFHESSEET-RER K
EHERNT :

Remuneration Committee
meeting attended/

Names Eligible to attend
BHE AERHE
M FMZEEEEHRRY
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay (Chairman) BEEREE (ZEF) 1/1
Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. ZJy/EE+ » SB.S, J.P. 1/1
Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus ™ RAKZEOM N/AT i F
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy @ BB KLED 1/1
Notes: et -
(1)  Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus has been appointed as a member (1) RUBLLTEZIRBFHZESERS H=

of the Remuneration Committee with effect from the conclusion
of the 2024 AGM.

(2)  Following his retirement as an INED, Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok
Jimmy ceased to be a member of the Remuneration Committee
with effect from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

At the meeting, the Remuneration Committee performed,
among other matters, the following duties:

(a) reviewed the Remuneration Policy and made
recommendation on the revision of the same to the
Board for approval;

(b) assessed the performance of EDs;

(c) reviewed the remuneration packages of Directors
and Senior Management and recommended the
same to the Board for approval;

(d) reviewed the director’s fee of Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling
Honnus and recommended the same to the Board
for approval; and

(e) reviewed the share option scheme of the Company
(the “Share Option Scheme 2014"), details of which
are set out in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in the “Directors’ Report” of this Annual
Report, including whether to adopt a new share
option scheme and the related arrangement upon
the expiry of the Share Option Scheme 2014, and
recommended the same to the Board for approval.

2
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(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

Remuneration paid to Directors and Senior Management

Details of remuneration paid to Directors in 2024 are set
out in Note 9 to the “Notes to the Financial Statements”.

Details of remuneration paid to Senior Management in
2024 by band are set out below:

(8) EEZZEE (&)

(i) FHESE (&)

MEEREREEAESITHOEHMH

RIZBZMNFEXNTFESNHFMFE
BN IRRM T INATE9

R-Z_MNEEXNTEREEAEN
M BEREMEREINT

Number of

Senior Management

SBREEBABAH

HK$8,000,001-HK$9,000,000 788,000,001 7t — /& %59,000,0007T 1

HK$5,000,001-HKS$8,000,000 7&%55,000,001 7t — /& %58,000,0007T -

HK$4,000,001-HK$5,000,000 7 #54,000,001 7T — 7 #55,000,0007T 1

HK$3,000,001-HKS$4,000,000 753,000,001 7t — % #54,000,0007T -

HK$2,000,001-HKS$3,000,000 7 #£2,000,001 T — & %3,000,0007T 2

HK$1,000,001-HKS$2,000,000 7 %51,000,001 T — & %2,000,0007T 1
Nomination Committee (iii) #BEES

During the year, (i) Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus has been
appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee
with effect from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM; and
(i) following his retirement as an INED, Mr. CHUNG Wai
Kwok Jimmy ceased to be a member of the Nomination
Committee with effect from the conclusion of the 2024
AGM. As at the date of this Annual Report, the Nomination
Committee consists of two INEDs, namely Mr. LIN Sun Mo
Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT (Chairman) and Ms. CHEUNG Ho
Ling Honnus, and the Chairman of the Board and a NED,
namely Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P..

With effect from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM, the
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have
been revised to include duties to review and monitor
the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and Senior Management and the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
Directors and employees of the Group and to conduct
an annual review of the Board’s performance, the Board
Independence Mechanisms and the Anti-Corruption
Policy. Apart from the said duties, the main duties of
the Nomination Committee also include, among other
matters, to review the structure, size and composition of
the Board, to assess the independence of INEDs and to
select suitable candidates for appointment as Directors.

RER: (VRITBRZTEZEEIERES
ERE BZZENERRBEASGHE
BER R(NVEEBLTENRETIBER
FTBEIRAZEENE B2 N
EFRREAFEASERBEN - REAER
B - REZEEHMEBBEMASRE
4+ G.B.S., J.P, FCILT(FE)REAE
Zt LUREESXIRERIVPEZIES
+  S.B.S., JPAEM -

REZESENRERECEET  UEHE
WA MEE %E%&ﬁi&ﬁﬂ}\aﬁ’]i K
SEERBRE  URE FHFE%&Zﬁﬁl
BENTATARERFM (WAH) -
HESSNREA ﬁ%gﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬂ&&
ERRETFERNNEYE  B=2-N
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o REZEENTIERKTFERE (A
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(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iii) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Policy of Board Diversity, Refreshment & Succession and
Size

The Company has adopted a Policy of Board Diversity,
Refreshment & Succession and Size (the “Diversity
Policy”), which is available on the Company’'s website
under the section headed “Investors/Corporate
governance/Corporate governance policy”. The Company
acknowledges a truly diverse Board should include a
range of diversity perspectives with reference to the
Company’s business and specific needs, including but
not limited to, gender, age, educational background,
experiences, exposures, human relationship networks
and work profile. The Board members should have a
fairly balanced skill set, backgrounds, experiences and
exposures that are useful and instrumental to serve the
Company’s needs and business from time to time. Under
the Diversity Policy, all new INEDs appointed are subject
to a maximum tenure of nine years, unless the Board
otherwise approves. The Nomination Committee and the
Board keep ongoing dialogues on the Board diversity,
succession and refreshment issues in accordance with
the Diversity Policy and review the implementation and
effectiveness of the Diversity Policy on an annual basis.
During the year, the Nomination Committee also reviewed
the plan to phase out the existing INEDs who have served
the Board for more than nine years by stages and, in view
of the downsizing of the Board, reviewed the restructuring
of Board Committees and recommended the same to the
Board for approval.

The Board has one female Director out of nine Directors
(equivalent to 11.1% of the Board), which is broadly in
line with the prevailing market average in Hong Kong and
meets the measurable objective set under the Diversity
Policy. Accordingly, the Company considers gender
diversity on the Board is achieved for the time being and
targets to maintain such parameter unless there is any
change in either the market average in Hong Kong or the
Listing Rules requirements. For future recruitment of a
Director, if other things being equal, a female candidate
would be given preference.

(8) EEZZEE (&)

(iii) RBREESFT (&)
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(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iii) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Policy of Board Diversity, Refreshment & Succession and
Size (Continued)

The gender ratio in the Group’s workforce in 2024 is set
out as follows:

(8) EEZZEE (&)

(iii) RBREESFT (&)

EZgmESRt  BFE - SOERAER
®= (&)

REZEZNE  AEERESTHMAIL
PIERFI T -

Gender ratio
(Male: Female)

4 51tk 45

(B Zitf)

All staff (including Senior Management) Z2EET (BESREEASR) 1:1.1
Senior Management SREBAE 2:1

As the gender ratio across the workforce is rather
balanced, the Company has no immediate plans or
measurable objectives set for achieving further gender
diversity. For the time being, there are no circumstances
that may pose a substantial challenge for the Company to
achieve gender diversity across the workforce.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) to provide formal, clear and
transparent procedures, process and criteria for the
Nomination Committee to nominate and recommend
suitable candidates to the Board. The Nomination
Committee periodically reviews the Nomination Policy.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee and the Board may consider
the following factors, which are neither exhaustive nor
decisive, when assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

(a) personal ethics, reputation and integrity;

(b) professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience that are relevant to the Company’s
businesses and corporate development and
strategy;

(c) willingness and ability to devote adequate time
to discharge the duties as a Director and to make
required commitments;

HRE2EETHMRILLAIEEIE » RO
ARETERERE-—SHRZ /M
REEMFERAFTEEER - BA - HiE
EABERATEHALNTAEERZEEST
MR Z T T EBRE RS -

RABME

AREERAREBE (REHRE]D -
AREZEENEFTERENEBSER
BARMBER - ARANZANREF - RE
RER - REZESTEHMFARBEEK -
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REZEERESFTENTEHREARS
EER  TZEUTERE (HEF2MHE
TR EREMAER)

() EAEE - EBRHME ;
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TtXERBMEE (F)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iii) Nomination Committee (Continued)
Nomination Policy (Continued)
Selection Criteria (Continued)

(d) the diversity perspective under the Diversity Policy
(as amended from time to time) for achieving
diversity on the Board with reference to the
Company’s business model and specific needs,
including but not limited to, gender, age, educational
background, experiences, exposures, human
relationship networks and work profile; and

(e) applicable legal and regulatory requirements (as
amended from time to time).

Nomination Procedures

(a) For filling a causal vacancy or appointing an
additional Director to the Board in accordance
with Article 88 of the Articles of Association, the
Nomination Committee shall make recommendation
for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a
general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall
make nomination to the Board for consideration and
recommendation.

(b) Shareholder(s) may nominate a candidate to stand
for election as a Director at a general meeting in
accordance with the “Procedures for shareholders
to propose a person for election as a Director”
published by the Company from time to time.

(c) The nomination proposal should include the
candidate’s biographical information and other
information as required to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules and the candidate’s signed written
consent to be appointed as a Director and to
the publication of his/her personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose
of or in relation to his/her standing for election as a
Director.

(d) If considered necessary, the Nomination Committee
may request the candidate to provide additional
information and documents.
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(8) Board Committees (Continued) B)ESFZEE (&)
(iii) Nomination Committee (Continued) (iii) RBEEE=E (&)
Nomination Policy (Continued) REBE (&)

Nomination Procedures (Continued)

(e) The Nomination Committee shall consider the
nomination proposal, evaluate such candidate based
on the selection criteria set out in the Nomination
Policy and review the structure, size and diversity of
the Board to determine whether such candidate is
suitable for recommending to the Board.

(f) A circular with the candidate’s information such as
the name, brief biography (including qualifications
and relevant experience), proposed remuneration,
independence and any other information as
required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations will be provided to the Shareholders
before the general meeting and within the prescribed
period as required under Listing Rules.

(g) The Board shall have the final decision on all
matters relating to the recommendation of a
candidate to stand for election at a general meeting.

The Nomination Policy is available on the Company’s
website under the section headed “Investors/Corporate
governance/Corporate governance policy”.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held two
meetings. The attendance of members was as follows:

EEREF (F)

() REZESAZRREEE RE
REBEXFENIEZERFEZR
BA URNESTSNRE AR
kEnf LWEERBEAMES
BHEBZIREA -

() RBRRAREALRE LHRAR
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() E=ERMEERERRAELE
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& o

REBFKBNADBRUIREE ¥
R/ EERBE]I-W -

RER  BEEERRETHALHE - K
BHEENT :

Nomination Committee
meetings attended/

Names Eligible to attend

BHE SEREE

HE REZEEEFEARY
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, MEELE -

G.B.S., J.P., FCILT (Chairman) G.B.S., J.P., FCILT (¥/&) 2/2

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. ZJ3/EH+ > S.B.S, J.P. 2/2

Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus ® RAERZEO 11

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy @ B LED 1/1

Notes: Vo=

(1) Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus has been appointed as a member
of the Nomination Committee with effect from the conclusion of
the 2024 AGM.

(2)  Following his retirement as an INED, Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok
Jimmy ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee
with effect from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

(1) RAUABRLLTEZARBELFZEEHE  H=
FEoFERREFASEREER -

(2) EHRELLEREFBELZTHEFEELZS
BAE  H-FE-NFRFAFASLHRE
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(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iii) Nomination Committee (Continued)

(iv)

At the two meetings, the Nomination Committee
performed, among other matters, the following duties:

(a) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board;

(b)

reviewed the restructuring of Board Committees;
reviewed the Diversity Policy;

(d) assessed the independence of INEDs;

considered and made recommendation to the Board

on the proposed re-election of two retiring Directors
at the 2024 AGM,;

(e)

(f) considered and made recommendation to the Board
on the nomination of Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus
for election as an INED at the 2024 AGM; and

(g) considered INED candidates’ suitability for

directorship nomination.

Investment Committee

During the year, (i) following her retirement as an INED,
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan ceased to be a member of the
Investment Committee with effect from the conclusion
of the 2024 AGM; and (ii) following his retirement as a
NED, Mr. YING Tze Man ceased to be a member of the
Investment Committee with effect from the conclusion of
the 2024 AGM. As at the date of this Annual Report, the
Investment Committee consists of two INEDs, namely Mr.
CHAK Hubert (Chairman) and Mr. CHAU Tak Hay.

The duty of the Investment Committee is to oversee the
Company’s investments in financial instruments and
the management’s execution of the investment policy
guidelines laid down by the Board.
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(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Investment Committee (Continued)

During the year, the Investment Committee held two
meetings. The attendance of members was as follows:

B)EEEEE (&)

(iv) REZEE (&)
RER  REZESEETMAERE - K
EHERNT :

Investment Committee
meetings attended/

Names Eligible to attend

E',tHﬁ/AEFEtHJﬁE
®a BREZETETERE
Mr. CHAK Hubert (Chairman) BEBAE (£F) 2/2
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan ® PREEZLO 1/1
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay FEREE 2/2
Mr. YING Tze Man @ RFXEED 1/1

Notes: e -

(1)  Following her retirement as an INED, Ms. CHAN Chi Yan ceased
to be a member of the Investment Committee with effect from
the conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

(2)  Following his retirement as a NED, Mr. YING Tze Man ceased to
be a member of the Investment Committee with effect from the
conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

At the two meetings, the Investment Committee, among
other matters, reviewed the updates on the Group's latest
cash position and investment portfolio and considered
whether there was a need to make any changes to the
current deposit approach.

(9) Company Secretary

Following the removal of Mr. TAI Kwok Hung as the Company
Secretary by the Board on 9 February 2024, Mr. HO Kai Tak
(“Mr. HO"), an external service provider and a practicing
solicitor in Hong Kong, has been appointed by the Board as the
Company Secretary with effect from the same date. Mr. HO
has confirmed that he took no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year as required under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The primary corporate contact person at the Company whom
Mr. HO can contact for the purpose of the Code Provision
C.6.1 is Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S., the CEO and an ED.
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(10)Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings can send a request to the Company to convene a
general meeting pursuant to Section 566 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “CO"). The
request must state the general nature of the business to
be dealt with at the meeting and may include the text of a
resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be
moved at the meeting. The request must be authenticated by
the Shareholder(s) concerned and sent to the Company in hard
copy form or in electronic form to comsec@tradelink.com.hk.

Shareholders may also put forward proposals at general
meetings in accordance with Sections 580 or 615 of the CO.
Shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders who have a right to vote on the
resolution at the general meeting or the AGM (as the case may
be) to which the request relate or at least 50 Shareholders who
have a right to vote on the resolution at the general meeting
or the AGM (as the case may be) to which the request relate
may request the Company to circulate a statement regarding
a resolution proposed at the general meeting or to give notice
of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended
to be moved at the AGM. The request must be authenticated
by the Shareholder(s) concerned and sent to the Company in
hard copy form or in electronic form to comsec@tradelink.
com.hk and where, (i) in the case of a request for circulation
of a statement regarding a resolution proposed at a general
meeting, such request must be received by the Company not
later than seven days before the relevant general meeting; or
(i) in the case of a request for circulation of a resolution to
be moved at an AGM, such request must be received by the
Company not later than six weeks before the relevant AGM
or if later, the time when the notice of the relevant AGM is
dispatched.
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(10)Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

Pursuant to Article 97 of the Articles of Association,
no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for
election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless
notice in writing by Shareholder(s) of the intention to propose
that person for election as a Director and notice in writing
by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have
been given to the Company in each case, during the period
(being a period of at least seven days) commencing on the
day after dispatch of the notice of general meeting at which
elections to the office of Director are to be considered and
ending on the day that falls seven days before the date of the
general meeting (both days inclusive). The “Procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director” is
available on the Company’s website under the section headed
“Investors/Corporate governance/Corporate governance
structure”.

For Shareholders’ enquiries in other aspects, please refer to
the details set out in the Shareholders Communication Policy
(the “Shareholders Communication Policy”) of the Company as
mentioned hereinafter.
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(11)Communications with Shareholders and

Investors

The Company has adopted the Shareholders Communication
Policy, which is available on the Company’'s website under
the section headed “Investors/Investor relations”. The
Company encourages two-way communications with its
Shareholders and investors to enhance understanding of the
Group’s performance and developments. The Company offers
options for Shareholders to elect receipt of the corporate
communication either through website version or in printed
form. Regular e-newsletters on the Group’s latest business
development are published on the Company’s website. A
free subscription service is available for interested parties
to receive e-newsletters which the Company publishes bi-
annually on major updates on the Group’s business of
interests to investors. Under the Shareholders Communication
Policy, Shareholders are encouraged to participate in the
Company’s general meetings and appropriate arrangements
will be in place to encourage Shareholders’ participation.
Shareholders may at any time contact the Company’s Investor
Relations and Corporate Communications Department for
any enquiries with regard to the Group and/or the Board with
contact details published on the Company’s website and set
out in the section headed “Investor Relations and Key Dates”
of this Annual Report. In addition, Shareholders may contact
the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, if they have any enquiries about
their shareholdings or entitlements to dividend. Relevant
contact details are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this Annual Report.
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(11)Communications with Shareholders and
Investors (Continued)

During the reporting year,

(@) A media luncheon was organised and held by the
Company on 15 April 2024 after the announcement of the
Group’s 2023 final results;

(b) A forum was organised and held by the Company on 26
April 2024 to brief individual Shareholders on the Group'’s
2023 final results; and

(c) 2024 AGM was held physically in Hong Kong on 24 May
2024. Almost all members of the Board (including the
Chairmen of the Board and all Board Committees), Senior
Management and the External Auditor were present to
answer questions raised by Shareholders.

During the year, the Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy
and taking into account the aforesaid channels in place
and initiatives taken to solicit and understand the views of
Shareholders and stakeholders, considered the same to be
adequate and effective.

(12) Constitutional Document

The Articles of Association is available on the Company’s
website and the website of HKEXnews. There was no change
in the constitutional document of the Company during the
year.
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ﬁTradelink

Maximising digital efficiency

SlsA s AR

Recycling bins are installed in the office for the Automated External Defibrillator Course conducted

collection of metals, plastics and wastepaper. by the Fire Services Department and a First Aid

EMAERBERESE - ZBRELVEWSE - Course organised by the Hong Kong Red Cross
EEEEMRNEB O ERERREREBA+FEH
W SRR TE

Company Outing to Sha Tau Kok
WA QA RREEE
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Mother's Day Workshop
BRRE TIELH

HKCCA Mystery Customer Assessment

Awards - Best-in-Class Award in the 'Public Service
and Utilities' category and Gold Award
ERBEFPHALHERUEFTERR -[DHRHER
NABEENNEREARRER

SME ReachOut: FUND Fair plus Tech Sourcing 2024
hONEEER  BTEBERMKREE2024

Tradelink Staff Club Bowling Competition
B BETHLMRERLE

Tradelink “Cybersecurity 360" Luncheon Seminar

ESBEIAKRZEZEHB|TENIS

"Transforming Agreement Processes for Business
Growth” Luncheon

[ Transforming Agreement Processes for Business
Growth |F &1 &
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About This Report

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report is made by the
Company to disclose and demonstrate the Group’s performance
in ESG in response to material issues of concern to various
stakeholders.

Reporting Scope and Boundary

The reporting boundary of this report covers the Company and all
its subsidiaries for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December
2024 (the “Reporting Period”). Building upon the reporting scope
in 2023, we have extended it to incorporate subsidiaries located
outside Hong Kong, thereby enhancing the comprehensiveness
and accuracy of our ESG disclosures. We target to maintain
this reporting scope for the ESG Reports in the future to ensure
continuity and clarity in our commitment to ESG practices.

Reporting Standards

This report has been prepared in accordance with the mandatory
disclosure requirements and relevant “comply or explain” provisions
of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.

Reporting Principles

To prepare this report, the Company adheres to the reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency
as stated in the ESG Guide. The reporting principles are explicitly
explained in accordance with mandatory disclosure requirements
as below:

Materiality — The Company has identified and prioritised material
ESG issues through Board discussions and communication with
stakeholders, and disclosed such issues in this report. Details
of stakeholders’ engagement and materiality assessment are
set out in detail under the sub-sections headed “Stakeholders’
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” of the “Governance”
Section of this report.

Quantitative — Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or methods of calculation used, as well as the
main sources of conversion factors used, for the performance
indicators shall be included where appropriate.

Balance - This report adopts a factual and unbiased approach
to the disclosure of information and provides stakeholders
with an objective overview of the Group’s overall sustainability
performance.
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About This Report (Continued)

Reporting Principles (Continued)

Consistency — Consistent statistical methods are adopted in
this report for meaningful comparisons of the key performance
indicators (“KPIs”) over time. Any changes in the reporting
scope or statistical methods shall be explained in this report for
stakeholders’ reference.

Source of Information

All information and data in this report are from the internal data
collection and official documents of the Group.

Governance

Governance Structure and Board's Oversight

The formulation and reporting of the Group’s sustainability strategic
directions are governed by the Board. The Board is responsible
for the supervision of the information collection and preparation
for this report. The Board is also tasked with overseeing the
management and target-setting related to the Group’s sustainability
governance, as well as evaluating the effectiveness of various
measures and progress towards relevant objectives on a regular
basis. Where applicable, the Board shall monitor and assess the
progress made against the goals and targets set by using relevant
KPls.

To oversee ESG matters effectively, the Board delegates specific
responsibilities to the Audit and Governance Committee, which
evaluates and identifies, among others, ESG and climate-related
risks to ensure the implementation of appropriate and effective
ESG and climate-related risk management and internal control
systems, in particular, those concerning material ESG-related
issues identified by the Board will be given special attention to.
Additionally, the Board assigns responsibilities to the Audit and
Governance Committee to review the Company's performance
and compliance in corporate governance matters, as well as
disclosures in the Company’s Corporate Governance Reports and
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reports. The Audit
and Governance Committee shall report its findings, decisions
and recommendations back to the Board for consideration and
approval.

For other matters relating to the Group’s corporate governance,
please refer to the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”
of this Annual Report.
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Governance (Continued)

ESG Strategy and Management Approach

Our ESG strategy is summarised as follows:

Environmental

- We are dedicated to sustainable business practices that
actively contribute to environmental protection.

-  We operate our business in a responsible manner by taking all
kinds of measures to minimise environmental pollution.

- We implement internal policies designed to reduce
environmental impact and actively work to raise employees’
awareness about efficient use of resources.

- We support or collaborate with organisations which promote
environmental protection.

Social

- We maintain and value our employer-employee relationships,
and strictly comply with relevant employment laws.

- We aim to engage suppliers that are in compliance with their
local environmental and employment laws.

- We always make positive contributions to the society.

Governance

- We are dedicated to upholding a high standard of corporate
governance.

The Board strives to create value for the Group’s customers,
employees and stakeholders by making every reasonable effort
to comply with ESG-related laws and regulations. Additionally, it
aims to promote social and environmental good in the community
by referencing relevant KPIs. The Board will periodically review the
ESG strategy and identify areas for improvement as needed.

Stakeholders’ Engagement

To successfully execute our ESG strategy to meet or even exceed
stakeholders’ expectations, the Company communicates and
collects stakeholders’ opinions about ESG-related issues via a
variety of channels on an ongoing basis. Their concerned matters
and engagement channels are as follows:
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RIE -t ERERHBE (8)

Governance (Continued)
Stakeholders’ Engagement (Continued)

BTN
B /A

BRESHE(E)

&)

Stakeholders

Concerned matters

Engagement channels

BHE BEEE SHERE
Employees - Employee rights and benefits Staff intranet portal, meetings and emails,
== — Training and development training and seminars

Investors and shareholders

REERKRR

Customers

BF

— Work environment and corporate culture
- Work-life balance

— Occupational health and safety

- EEEFREF

- EIRER

- IERBREEXL

- TREEFE BN FE
-BERREHEZ2

— Investment returns

— Business development
— Business performance
— Business strategies

— Corporate governance
- REER

- EBBRRE

- EBRR

- XBE

- ¥ER

— Product/Service quality and service level

- Product/Service price

— Customer information/personal data
confidentiality

— Cybersecurity

- Business ethics (anti-corruption and
prevention of bribery)

— Corporate reputation

-ER/ RBEEERRBEAF

-Em/REER
- BFER EAENREN
-Rgze

- EREE (RS R LR
- oEEE

BETRBE SRRER  FIIRWFTE

Announcements, investor newsletters,
circulars, Annual Reports, Interim Reports,
AGMs, face-to-face meetings/calls with
investors, individual investor forums
DNE-REZBH  -BR - F3R -

RHEIREG RRBAFAE  HREEE®H
ETEFER BAREEWE

Product/Service terms and conditions,
code of conduct, contracts, letter of
undertaking on integrity, meetings and
training, after-sales service (customer
inquiries or complaints)

Em/ BEGRRES - THATE &8
WIEEBE  BRRIEI - ERRE (BF
BHHIRF)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE -t ERERHBE (8)

Governance (Continued) B (E
Stakeholders’ Engagement (Continued) KHBEZHE(E)
Stakeholders Concerned matters Engagement channels
BHE BEIEE SHERE
Suppliers — Business ethics and credit Business contracts, meetings, emails and
HrER - Fair trade calls
- Mutually beneficial strategic alliances E¥BEH S SHREF
- Corporate governance
-BEEEREA
- AR
- BEERRBMERMY
- EER
Community — Community development Volunteer/Community work and charitable
HE - Social welfare activities
-HBEERE EL/HEIERESIH

- HEEA




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiZ - tERERRS (&)

Governance (Continued)

Materiality Assessment

To evaluate the materiality of ESG issues that are significant to our
investors and stakeholders, the Company considers the reporting
principles outlined in the ESG Guide, the nature and core activities
of our business and the outcomes of stakeholders’ engagement.
Based on this materiality assessment, we will periodically review
and adjust our ESG strategy as needed to ensure it remains aligned
with stakeholders’ priorities and evolving business needs.

Identification: Based on the market trends, standards, media
coverage, benchmarking analysis and insights, fourteen ESG-related
issues were identified.

Prioritisation: The topics to be reported were determined and
prioritised from two dimensions, namely materiality to the Group’s
business and materiality to the stakeholders.

Validation: Regarding the stakeholders’ feedback and analysis, five
issues were identified as "high materiality”. The result was verified
by the Board.

=

s (8

EEMFMS
RTEHREERENEMSBEEZENRE 48
EREENEEY ZIS’D\:JE%E%I%L’%‘&%&
%/niaélﬁﬁﬁ%LE’JE#ﬁﬁﬁJ EMEBHIUER
BEEH UARFOESHENER - iﬂzﬁ’f&?ﬁlﬂ:i%
MG ERRNTEREIEZARRMORE - HER
ERRE  URARHEBNEELZENSERT

I@JT?%J: WEBFREF -
A RETSBE RE - RERE BEEDN
KT EBETORRE HEREREREE -

BEHF  RHAEEXEBNERZUERHABHEN
EEMMEXERERARSNERE  UHZSEAE
EITEAHERF -

BR ABEFOENRERINAE  BAHA
BHIeEEEM |SH ZARKESSER -

Intellectual Property Protection

ABERRE

E) Information Privacy and Cybersecurity
T BERBARAKEZS
Business Ethics and Anti-corruption P
" BEERRRET
Customer Service
m Labour Stggggﬁj P
= Employee Practices and Relations
b REEBRREIE Service Quality and Safety
% Occupational Health and Safety BBEERZR
- ERREERS
E|
g Employee Training and Development
Supply Chain Management iz
5 % g e EEENRERE
IS ©
= 7]
3 E
§ i Energy Efficiency and Resource Management
o Community Contribution HERBEREREE
< HEEE
]
=
>
=
s
o
7]
=
©
=
Emission Management
B EE
w
= Response to Climate Change
9 FEHRIRE

Low 1§

Materiality to the Group's Business #{A&EBEHNEEH

Medium &

High &
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiZ - tERERRS (&)

Environment

The Group is fully aware of its responsibility to the environment
in its business operations. Therefore, we are committed to
implementing various policies and measures to reduce emissions
and waste, and continuously improving our environmental
protection awareness.

We strictly comply with environment-related laws and regulations
in Hong Kong, including but not limited to the Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Cap. 354, Laws of Hong Kong), the Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Cap. 358, Laws of Hong Kong) and the Sewage
Services Ordinance (Cap. 463, Laws of Hong Kong).

During the Reporting Period, none of the Group’'s business
operations had a significant impact on the environment or natural
resources, and no violations of environment-related laws and
regulations occurred. While environmental KPIls were not disclosed
in the previous years’ ESG Reports, we have begun disclosing them
for the Reporting Period in this report to better demonstrate our
commitment to responsible business practices, thereby facilitating
greater transparency and allowing meaningful year-on-year
comparisons.

Emissions

As an e-commerce services company, our operations are primarily
digital and do not involve significant industrial processes that
contribute to air pollution. Therefore, emissions are not a material
concern for our business model. However, to demonstrate our
commitment to sustainability, we are replacing company cars with
electric vehicles to reduce emissions.

Waste Management

The Group targets to continuously reduce waste and has
implemented different measures to effectively handle and reduce
waste. For example, employees are encouraged to use e-forms to
minimise paper usage, and recycling bins are installed in the office
for the collection of metals, plastics and wastepaper.

IRIE

FEBRAHEBLEEPNRBEEE - Bt - HM
BHNBREERRRERABRD BRI RERY -

UHBERSRERESH -

RMBRETEBNREEBMEERER  BEE
TIRNEBEPIEIAE(EDEBERSG) - BBE
P 5E358F (K75 R E BIMRBI) & & B A G 55463F
kB RBARA) -

R|BERE  AREXEBLEEVBHYRERARE
FEREMNEAYE  TEREREMREEBEEE
REfR - BEUEFENRE HERERHEH
WEKFBREEARENES  ERMAREFREMSE
BERBSHBNERER  UEFHRIERMY
BEAXBERNER HMRERSERELAFE
BENRFLR -

BB

EREFHERBLE  RMUBIB(LEESE
WASRELERRSRENERTIERE - B
HREMPVEBES  FRWAEFEREEEH - A
i RRFEMETHELNEAR  BRMNEEQF
EWMBERDEHERND R -

BRERYER

REEFEFERLBERY - W Bk TEHEK L
BROEBENRDBERY - flw - EMSEESE
REFREUBDARER  AEPRLEREWE
T ZBREAND K -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiZ - tERERRS (&)

Environment (Continued)

Waste Management (Continued)

The Group actively promotes waste recycling awareness among its
employees and encourages the efficient use of resources through
various programmes and initiatives. During the Reporting Period, we
mobilised our staff to collect mooncake boxes and red packets for
recycling.

Our waste was primarily waste from office operations, which was
uniformly processed by the property management companies.
As a result, we currently do not have access to detailed waste
data. However, we acknowledge the significance of enhancing our
waste monitoring and management practices. Henceforth, we will
proactively endeavour to implement measures for the collection
and analysis of waste data, ensuring enhanced transparency and
contributing to sustainable practices.

R (&)

BEEYMER (&)
FEEEBBBRBRMEANEEERETHERR
VP EE TEEERER RBSHE - &M
SHETWEAHERARHUERY -

BMWERYEIERAPLELE  AEEEYH
MEEBQNRG—ERE - Bt RMBEATLRERE
AHANERMEBE - AT RMAAREAERWE
EREHEEENEEM Al RMBBEEZ K
HERREMDITERNEBE  BRIESEAER
BAUKEERFEHEM -

Unit 2024®
Waste BEY B —E-_MEFO
Hazardous Waste BEBEY
Total hazardous waste produced FMEENEEREYHESE tonnes 0
U
Intensity of hazardous waste FEENEEBEVEE tonnes/number of employees 0
produced M EEAE
Non-Hazardous Waste BMEBEY
Total non-hazardous waste FEENEEEREY tonnes 2.05@
(wastepaper) produced (BE4E) B2 U
Intensity of non-hazardous waste FEENEREREEY tonnes/number of employees 0.0092
(wastepaper) produced (BE)ZE Wi EE AE
Notes: Mtz -

m All environmental KPIs for the financial year ended 31 December 2023
(“FY2023”) are not available, so only the environmental KPIs for the financial
year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024") are shown in this report.

@ The calculation is based on a standard paper weight of 2.5 kg per ream.

" BRER_E_=Fft A=+ —HUEHREE (==
BF]) BT ERBHBEMIEENEIRM  FAMERIFE
FEEREE—E_MFE+ A=+ —HUILHOBEFE
([=ZF=—EIF ) B IR 1B BB AE A IERZ -

@) BES25ANNEEEREEHE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiZ - tERERRS (&)

Environment (Continued)

Use of Resources

We are committed to maintaining sustainable operational practices
and actively enhancing the efficient use of resources. We advocate
for saving electricity, water and paper in our daily work, and
cultivate employees’ awareness of energy conservation. During
the Reporting Period, resources consumed by us were mainly
electricity, office paper and water.

Our stationery, reports and souvenirs are produced using
environmentally friendly materials whenever possible. The Group
prioritises the use of recycled paper and toners to promote
resource efficiency and environmental conservation among
employees. For Annual and Interim Report printing, suppliers are
specifically required to use environment-friendly paper, ensuring
alignment with the Group’s sustainability objectives.

For the environment and natural resources, despite the fact that
being an e-commerce services company, our operations do not
contribute significant pollution and other negative effects on
the environment and natural resources, we are committed to
minimising environmental pollution and will continue to uphold
these practices in our daily operations.

Energy

Our electricity consumption primarily comes from lighting, air
conditioning, electronic appliances and other office equipment. The
energy consumption data during the Reporting Period is as follows:

R (&)

BEiRER

EMBOEFIHBELEEER BEREAERS
R-ZMRBEIEPEEHORE - ALkRA
o MIFEERESWEEIE - N|EME - HAE
ANEREERASH WBOAERK-

HMHWXEAR BRERLCSRBUREARRY
HEE -AEEELEADWARREY  UEE
EPEEERBORRRRE - TNFRE P K
o AR ERUEBERRRAR - BRY
BAEENASELER -

HNBEERARER BEFREFHERER
B BMNEETEENBENSRREMERR
RARREFNEEZE  BEMNDANOBREZTR

BERD  UHKEBEERFEENREZSEE -

BEIR
RMMENERTERARE  ZH  EFRER

Hitpi A aRE - RESHBNEREREHBOT

Unit 2024
Energy Consumption BERCHAE B —E-MEF
Total direct energy (petrol, diesel, BiEeeR 5 ~ %08 XA kwh 19,618.23
natural gas) consumption R)EFEEE TR
Total indirect energy (purchased EERR (SEEN) kWh 792,988.00
electricity) consumption® HEHEO T R
Total energy consumption BRI HEAE kWh 812,606.23
TR
Intensity of energy consumption RREERE kWh/number of employees 3,643.97
TRE EBEAH
Note: Hiat :

™ Part of the vehicle electricity consumption is estimated based on available
data.

O B EREEERETFEBENG -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiZ - tERERRS (&)

Environment (Continued) IRIR (&)
Use of Resources (Continued) BiRER (8)
Energy (Continued) HER (&)

To fulfil its targets to maintain the appropriate use of energy, AEREFEEFRFRER KMEL>TLERERE
thereby reducing unnecessary energy consumption, the Group has M BEE » AEBFCER—RYIERESERNT
implemented a series of measures to enhance energy efficiency as

below:

- Using LED lighting; - {ESFLEDE® ;

- Maintaining air-conditioning at 25°C to optimise energy use; - BEHABRERIFE2C UELREERER

- Installing a new energy-efficient air-conditioning system to - ZEFHEEARS  UNEEREEURE
improve air quality while reducing energy consumption and RBEFER A
costs;

- Setting timers for air conditioners and water dispensers to - BZEFARBKEEETEKSE UGHEEL;
save electricity;

- Prioritising the procurement of appliances with energy - EARBAREERIZEBRNESS

efficiency labels; and

- Reminding staff to turn off lights and air-conditioning when not - RESIEFEANHERRAEREAREER
in use or when leaving the office. = o
Water Resources KEIR

Despite not having encountered any issues in sourcing water, ﬁgﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂl_ EE{TRIRE - BEKMR
we recognise the importance of water resources in sustaining RKEREREFETREENETEM o Z%ap,%’htt
lives and operations. To conserve this valuable resource, we TBEER KANEELEEDRIFELK LEEHE
target to minimise water consumption in our operations and have EIAAKRSRAKIED] - Fla0 - KL EKEE
implemented guidelines for water conservation and efficient ?%%U%LXKE%M(%%E A FEK - AR BE A EBE
utilisation. For instance, we have installed tap water controllers to  $RUAEEE KER °

limit water flow and speed, reducing water consumption, and we

have posted internal posters to promote water-saving awareness.

Unit 2024
Water Consumption FEK B —E-MEF
Total water consumption FEKkEE m? 558.00
3 T3 K
Intensity of water consumption FXKZRE m3/number of employees 2.50

7R BEAE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiZ - tERERRS (&)

Environment (Continued)

Use of Resources (Continued)

Packaging Material

The total packaging material used for finished products during the
Reporting Period are shown as below:

R (&)

BEiRER (&)
BEMH
BEMBARRAAABEMBBENT AR

Unit 2024
Packaging Material SEMH B —E-MEF
Total packaging material used for BRmTARENREE kg 619.79
finished products A
Intensity of packaging material used HERATAEEMLRE kg/number of employees 2.78
for finished products AT/ BEAHK
Climate Change FAREME

The world is facing the challenge of climate change, and we are
no exception. This challenge presents not only potential risks but
also huge opportunities. Although our operations have not yet been
severely affected by the physical risks or transition challenges
brought about by climate change, we are clear about the potential
impact of extreme weather events on our business operations
and take proactive measures to address the challenges and
opportunities posted in alignment with the recommendations of the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures.

RIREERAMBCARE - RPOTFTHEIS o bk
BrTEBERELERR RAREEEAKSE B8R
179 B0 8 388 oK 32 SRR 2 4 76 2R B D 22 L o o 4 B K BB
BEZE BEMABFEARGBRRARMRRERME
BEBWEELE URBERFEBMBRENE
HEBRREEGE R R B ARE -

Strategy ]
Risk/Opportunity Potential Impact
Category Description on the Business Response/Strategy
Al [ B I8 HEBHNEEZE FEY R

Transition Risks

HARER

Policy and Regulatory Risk — Stricter climate-related

- Increasing operational

— Develop solutions

BERREERR regulations costs as client demands that comply with
- EBREHNRIFHEE LR shift environmental regulations

- RENTBEEFERESR to support clients
20 - HEFSRIBERNER

FRUXERF
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE -t ERERHBE (8)

Environment (Continued)

Climate Change (Continued)
Strategy (Continued)

BRI (&)

RARZME (&)
REg ()

Category
Rl

Risk/Opportunity
Description

LB H3E #

Potential Impact
on the Business
HEBENBESE

Response/Strategy
FEHS HRE

Technological Risk

i LB

Market Risk
5 R

Reputation Risk
BEEE

- Growing demand for more

sustainable technological
solutions
HEUHERMBARATR
MR B &1 N

Climate-related factors
may alter the demand
patterns and supply chain
structures
RIRMEBEEETTRENEFE
REXRMUEEEE

Inability to manage
environmental impact

or support the transition
towards a lower-carbon
economy
ErEERBFENXE
B EBREH

Additional investment
required to upgrade
technology and meet
market demand for
climate-friendly solutions
FHEMREUA RS
WE TS ERIRR TG
RIERERNFR

Shifting demand towards
greener products and
sustainable supply

chain may impact trade
volumes and flow,
potentially affecting the
Group's transaction-
based revenue streams
ERENZCERRATE
BHERTXEEFIER
o A RER B AR KRR
BX S HRER

Reducing customer trust,
diminishing brand value
and potential loss of
business opportunities
BEFEERE - mEEE
WA AR AT RE Sk AR

Invest in low-energy,
efficient electronic data
interchange technology to
remain competitive
REREHEER RSN E
F BB IR LM AR B3R
Fh

Proactively monitor
climate-related market
trends and integrate
sustainability factors
into strategic planning
processes
BRERRZEETSB
g URKAFETEEER
ARBRERRE

Actively engage
stakeholders to
understand evolving
expectations and
continually update
sustainability practices
BB EZIRUT #
TEFICNEE  WHE
EHASEMER

<
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE -t ERERHBE (8)

Environment (Continued)

Climate Change (Continued)

Strategy (Continued)

BRI (&)

RARZME (&)
Rug ()

Category
Rl

Risk/Opportunity
Description
[ B IR 4

Potential Impact
on the Business
HEBENBESE

Response/Strategy
FEHS HRE

Physical Risks
WE R

Extreme Weather Events
1B R R AR R

Rising Temperatures
2IREE

- Disruptions to data centre
operations and service
stability

- Impact on employee
safety and disruptions
to work arrangements,
potentially affecting
business operations

- TEHBPLEERRE
BEM

- HEBEERERTEIE
ZHE REREEKEE

- Higher temperatures
could lead to greater
energy demands for
cooling data centres

- RAH S EHL AEIE
R TR R BEIR F SR 1B o0

— Service interruptions
could harm client trust
and result in financial
losses

- Disruptions to work
arrangements could
impact service delivery
and employee well-being

-REFEATBEEREFEE
WE KA K

-~ ITHZHETEALER
BXAREERU

- Increasing energy
expenses and costs for
adaption measures

- BEIR B X R FE BT 48 e A
12 h0

- Establish clear policies
on work arrangements
during adverse weather
conditions to mitigate
disruptions and prioritise
employee safety

- HIEHBEHNBSRFMR
THITERBEBUER - LR
PFREIBEEEREER
z

- Transition to renewable
energy sources to offset
increased energy costs
from cooling

- EE A EERR - UKH
72 B0 B 38 0 B BE R B AR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE -t ERERHBE (8)

Environment (Continued) RiR (&)
Climate Change (Continued) FREE (B)
Strategy (Continued) R ()
Risk/Opportunity Potential Impact
Category Description on the Business Response/Strategy
Al BB HEBNEBEELE PEY KRG
Climate-Related Opportunities
RIREEAHE
Growing Demand for Low- - Increasing demand in - Opportunity to expand the - Unearth the market
carbon Technologies paperless Group’s market demand for paperless
HEBREMHERBASEN - BRAEFERBREZM - EREBAREETS solutions, maintain
positive communication
with the Government and
understand customer
demands
- BEEKCBRARNT
SRR BEERAREFERE
B OoUATHMEFER
Enhancing Brand Reputation — Investing in innovative - Greater appeal to - Strengthen ESG strategies
RBHAmESEE climate solutions could environmentally and highlight the value of
strengthen the Group’s conscious clients and climate-friendly services in
sustainable development improving customer the market
reputation loyalty - INRIRIE - HERERE
- REAFRBRMAFTRT - RIIEZABRREBH W& o 3658 FE SRR A4 B BR A
?%g$%ﬂ’ﬁ]%%§’é‘éﬁ EF O IRSEFIHE EMSEHNEERE
% =
Strengthening Resilience - Mitigating risk exposures - Reducing operational - Integrate climate resilience
hnsg &) and seizing opportunities disruptions, minimising into the Group’s corporate
arising from improved downtime and lower governance and operational
operational efficiency associated financial risk management
- EERRKO > WILEE costs framework
BERERSTFRNEE -RALEETE BEFI - SRRIUEBATERNE
HA T B 6 48 B8 B B B AR *XERREERMBEEESR
Improving Resource - Reducing consumption - Reductions in energy, - Continuously enhance
Efficiency and waste across water and resource business processes
REBERME organisational operations consumption, translating through automation, digital
-BAORBEERNERER into reduced operational workflows and electronic
BEZEY costs and improved document handling,
profitability over the thereby reducing paper
medium and long term consumption, physical
- BABER  kRERHE storage space and
o R REAE R associated waste
ReFRPNVETEE - EBABL WL IER

BREFXMHERE  FERE
FEBRRE - TR KR
HiE - BRFHZEEREE
BE SR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiZ - HERERRS (&)

Environment (Continued)

Climate Change (Continued)

Risk Management

In order to mitigate the repercussions of physical climate risk and
transition risk on the Group’s financial, marketing, operational
and reputational aspects, with a view to safeguarding its steady
development, the Group has proactively integrated a systematic
approach to managing and monitoring climate-related risks into
its overall risk management framework. For more information
about our risk management measures, please refer to the section
headed “Risk Management and Internal Controls” in the “Corporate
Governance Report” of this Annual Report.

Governance

Recognising the increasing importance of climate-related
challenges and the critical role of the Board in overseeing the
governance of climate-related risks and opportunities, the Group
has already established a robust ESG governance framework. For
more details, please refer to the section headed “ESG Strategy and
Management Approach” in this report.

Metrics and Targets

Carbon emissions are a major factor affecting climate change. As
such, we not only pay attention to the amount of greenhouse gas
("GHG") emissions, but more importantly, actively take measures
to reduce our carbon footprint by optimising energy usage and
enhancing employees’ environmental protection awareness.

BRI (&)

RAREIE (&)

ERERE
ARENERGRERREHEAREASENTE
L EERBEIENSE  UREAKEEE
BE ARECEES -RIEENEERREE
RENATHESEHERBREMEEER - BEHEM
ERERERNESER  F2HRLFRICXE
ERES PN EBEERAIEERE |- -

BiA
FAEERERRRERAREASERUARESERE
ERFEFERRREEEATENERAR B
VRENERE HEREARER -BFHEEZHE
FESHAARERR - HEREAKBREET #
_ﬁ'ﬁ °

HERBR

WHERALERRELNIERZ - AL - HMT
ERIRERE (REREDHNE FEEENR
BBREUER  ZERRLEREAINRSEENER
R B DUR A 3 AT R B 2 B o

Unit 2024

GHG Emissions BERBHR By —E-mEF

Scope 1: Direct GHG SHE BEERBEERBHMK  tonnes of CO,-e 5.38
emissions WMo-SEmEE

Scope 2: Energy indirect GHG EE2: REREEBEERE  tonnes of CO-e 314.95
emissions (purchased electricity) BB (INBEER) W_EtEEE

Scope 3: Other indirect GHG HE3: HMREEBRERE  tonnes of CO-e 4.72
emissions (business travel) B (BBHE) WoElmREE

Total GHG emissions BEREHERAE tonnes of CO,-e 325.05
M—EkEE

Intensity of GHG emissions BEREBHEREE tonnes of CO,-e/number of 1.46

employees
Wo_EltREE EBEAY




L

—EomFER BRBEEFESAMRAT | 85

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiZ - HERERRS (&)

Environment (Continued)

Avoided Emissions
The Group is committed to helping its customers reduce carbon
emissions by offering innovative digital paperless solutions.

Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS")

Tradelink’s e-commerce services, including electronic trade
declarations and permit applications, enable customers to
digitise their trade processes, saving an estimated 3.3 million
sheets of paper monthly. Services such as Road Cargo System,
Insurance-Link and customs compliance solutions like Automated
Manifest Service and Advance Filing Rules Service further reduce
emissions by eliminating paper-based submissions and associated
transportation.

Supply Chain Solutions (“SCS")

Our SCS, such as the Shipment Management Solution (“SMS”) and
Transportation Management System (“TMS”), digitise logistics
processes to improve efficiency and reduce emissions. The
SMS streamlines shipping documentation, reducing errors and
saving resources by ensuring accurate labelling and optimised
goods transport. The TMS further minimises emissions by
aligning delivery routes and maximising vehicle usage, reducing
unnecessary logistics travel.

Payment Technology Solutions (“PTS”)

The PTS e-receipt solution helps businesses replace traditional
paper receipts with digital alternatives. This reduces the demand
for paper, associated deforestation and waste from non-recyclable
receipts. Merchant clients adopting this service have reduced paper
receipt printing by 50%, contributing to significant environmental
savings.

Identity Management (“IDM”) Solutions

The IDM eKYC service allows customers to remotely apply for
accounts, eliminating the need for physical visits and paper
forms. Our digital signing solutions enable the digital signing of
documents, avoiding the use of paper and reducing transportation
emissions associated with in-person meetings. Both services
support paperless, efficient workflows while reducing carbon
footprints.

BRI (&)

BRHEBR
FEERNEBRUANNBBERCBRSTRE
BB F RPN

BREFE %R (TGETS))

B BNETHERKEREETESHRERST
B FEFEABIBLHEEZRE SAFEN
3,300,0005R4% - BREVMERZLG ERBEKEH
MERERELHFREXFUSBEEASRBRATR
ERBEBEREAZERERER  E—FRED
HERR o

HESERAR(HERERSE]

EMMNEEEERE (EEEERE ) REREE
A ((BEwEEAG]) SHERERZRZSIAR
BB  UWESHRALFEI N - EEEERK
BLERNHEE  EERARERMELELEY
EMRLARNBEER -EREERRBEBES
RYBRBABAREBESEREARER - HL T
VBN - RETE—DRD B -

ENBBERAR(IARBEERAED
ENABEBRALTRTNEFWEBRS RBBI B
DBBAAERERNAERE  BOBRKRFE
HERMRE RS T @B IE R ERY - 5K
LIRBHEFEFRA50%NAEWBITH - BE
EIERBEA o

SHREERE(SRERDBRAER
BOEBEBABRPNeKYCRB AHEFEERF
FFE  BERBSEHIREERBHNTER - HANH
BHEEHIREEBBCESI XN  BREARRL
HOBRESERBNERER - MERBYXSE
AL BSRITERE  BERDEZH -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiZ - HERERRS (&)

Social

In the corporate and social management of the Group, we are
committed not only to optimising our employee management and
welfare system, providing a good working environment, broad
career development opportunities and rich welfare benefits, but
also to caring for the growth and well-being of our employees. We
advocate for equal and fair employment principles, respecting the
rights and dignity of our employees.

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment Management

The Group manages its human resources and maintains its
relationship with the employees in Hong Kong in compliance with
the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57, Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“EQ”), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap.
485, Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap.
608, Laws of Hong Kong) and the relevant legislations against
discrimination, including the Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap.
602, Laws of Hong Kong), the Sex Discrimination Ordinance
(Cap. 480, Laws of Hong Kong), the Disability Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 487, Laws of Hong Kong) and the Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527, Laws of Hong Kong). For
employees in the People’'s Republic of China (“PRC”"), the Group
adheres to all applicable labour laws and regulations in PRC,
including but not limited to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Regulations on Management of Housing Provident Fund, the
Minimum Wage Regulations, the Employment Promotion Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Special Provisions on Labour
Protection of Female Employees and the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Disabled Persons.

The Group provides equal opportunities in various aspects such
as employee recruitment, development and promotion, so as
to safeguard the legal rights and interests of its employees,
and provides a healthy and harmonious working environment
for each employee. In addition, our Terms and Conditions of
Employment explicitly address matters, including but not limited
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion
and working hours, ensuring fairness and transparency in these
aspects. Furthermore, our Equal Opportunity Policy reinforces our
commitment to fostering a fair and inclusive workplace.
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Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Employment Management (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 223 employees
(including its employees in PRC), and the distribution was as

& (E)

EBREZIER(E)

EREEE (&)

R-ZBE-_WE+ZA=+—H KEBHXF223F

BE (BEETEES)  EEIMHAOT :

follows:
Unit 2024 20230
Employee Data EEZE By —E-MEF —E=FO0
Total Number of Employees EEAH Person A 223 204
By Gender & 1 Bl &l 5
Male B Person A 106 110
Female i Person A 117 94
By Age Group RERAR 85
18-24 18-245% Person A 5 10
25-29 25-295% Person A 30 32
30-39 30-395% Person A 70 47
40-49 40-495% Person A 58 58
> 50 > 505% Person A 60 57
By Geographical Region Rt EE 5
Hong Kong a8 Person A 186 204
PRC B Person A 37 /
By Employment Type RERBERES
Full-time 2 Person A 223 204
Part-time FRE Person A 0 0
Note: HtaE -

)

The employee data of FY2023 only includes our Hong Kong employees.
Accordingly, some of the social KPIs for FY2023 are not available or only
relate to our Hong Kong employees.

W B CHFHNESHEECREEMNNEEES - H
W ZEZ =R FRE S BB RAENIE RN AR IE
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Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Employment Management (Continued)

During the respective reporting periods, we achieved a reasonably
stable turnover rate, a breakdown of the same is as follows:

& (E)

EBRERSIER (&)

EBRERER (&)

RERREHE RMERFEBEMNRALLE
HMEAWMT :

Unit 2024 2023®
Employee Turnover Rate Data® {E& R AL REFEM By —E-MEF —E-=F0
Total wEr % 10.76 18.14
By Gender BRI E 5
Male B % 16.04 24.55
Female zZ i % 5.98 10.64
By Age Group RERAR 8 5
18-24 18-247% % 60.00 70.00
25-29 25-295% % 26.67 46.88
30-39 30-39%% % 10.00 14.89
40-49 40-495% % 3.45 12.07
> 50 > 505% % 6.67 1.75
By Geographical Region Rib EE 5
Hong Kong o % 12.37 18.14
PRC H % 2.70 /

Notes: Kiat -

™ Turnover rate in relevant categories = Number of employees who left
employment in the specified category during the relevant reporting period/
Total number of employees of the specified category as at the end of the
relevant reporting period x 100%

@ The turnover rate data of FY2023 only includes our Hong Kong employees.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the employment of child labour and
forced labour. We comply with the EO and its regulations, as well
as relevant laws and regulations in PRC (including but not limited to
the Provisions on Prohibition of Child Labour, the Labour Law of the
People’'s Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic
of China), ensuring that no child or forced labour is utilised in our
operations.

W BEELIAE K e FE =B R & R B A 18 E AR5 A B
BEEANE REBREHERIECHEIINESEAE
x100%

@ ZEZZRFRmA L FREECER T EES -

T A
AEEBRZEREIRBSL T - RABTERBIK
B ERHIA R R R EER AR (BREERRER
(BIEFEREIRE) - (FEARLNRL B E) -
(REARANBELBHARZ) R(FEARLNE
FIEY) BARBRFNEEREPTBFERAETMET
HNIWELT o
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Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Labour Standards (Continued)

The Group has implemented robust procedures in the recruitment
process, which include verifying candidates’ identity cards and
supporting documents to prevent the wrongful recruitment of child
labour and illegal labour. We also confirm candidates' willingness
to work to eliminate any risk of forced labour. The Human
Resources Department of the Company is responsible for checking
and verifying the background, identity and qualifications of each
new hire. If any employee is found to be a child labour, illegal
labour or subject to forced labour, we will terminate their contract
immediately and report the situation to the relevant regulatory
authorities. Additionally, we regularly assess our risk management
and internal control systems to ensure effective measures are in
place to mitigate employment risks.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any reports
of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group relating to preventing child and
forced labour.

Employee Benefits and Welfare

The Group regards employees as valuable assets and is committed
to providing equal employment opportunities and competitive
remuneration packages to attract and retain talent. The Group has
established, and will continue to review and update, its policies and
guidelines, including the Policy and Procedures on Examination
Leave, Policy and Procedures on Voluntary Service Leave, Lactation
Policy, and other policies covering areas such as compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare.

The Group offers employee benefits that exceed the statutory
requirements in Hong Kong and PRC. These include fully paid sick
leave, maternity leave and paternity leave, as well as additional
benefits such as birthday leave, marriage leave, compassionate
leave, examination leave, voluntary service leave, medical insurance
and ex-gratia payments upon retirement. The Group is committed
to inclusivity by employing individuals with disabilities and
maintaining a disability-friendly working environment.

As part of its family-friendly policies, the Group provides a
designated lactation room to support breastfeeding mothers. To
promote work-life balance, the Group also offers flexible working
hours and part-time work arrangements for working parents, where
necessary. Additionally, a dedicated common room is available
for staff social activities. We have also established the Tradelink
Staff Club to organise different kinds of activities for staff and their
families.
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Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Health and Safety

The health and safety of employees are of paramount importance
to the operation of the Group. We strictly comply with relevant
laws and regulations in Hong Kong, including but not limited to
the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282, Laws of Hong
Kong) and the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509,
Laws of Hong Kong), and in PRC, including but not limited to Work-
related Injury Insurance Regulations, Law of the People’'s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases,
respectively to ensure the health and safety of our employees.
The Group reviews the occupational health and safety measures
adopted on a regular basis to ensure the same remain effective.

The Group prioritises office safety above all else and is committed
to minimising fire risks in its workplaces. In compliance with
fire regulations, all our offices are equipped with fire sprinklers
and extinguishers, which are inspected annually by qualified
professionals. To enhance staff awareness of safety procedures,
regular fire drills are conducted to familiarise employees with the
locations of fire exits and the evacuation routes.

During the Reporting Period, the Group took proactive steps to
enhance workplace safety. Training sessions were provided
to staff, including an Automated External Defibrillator Course
conducted by the Fire Services Department and a First Aid Course
organised by the Hong Kong Red Cross, equipping employees
with essential life-saving skills. We also purchased an automated
external defibrillators and have placed it in the pantry of our Hong
Kong office, which is easily located by staff.

With the relevant precautionary measures and training taken,
the work-related fatalities and lost days due to work injury were
maintained at zero in the past three years (including the Reporting
Period). This achievement is encouraging, and we are committed to
sustaining this zero-incident record.

e (8)
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2024 2023 2022
—E-ME —E-=F —E-_—F

Number and rate of work- AEITHMMAZE KR
related fatalities occurred 0 0 0
Lost days due to work injury IEBERAIEAY 0 0 0
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Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Development and Training

To foster the development of internal talent and enhance our
staff’'s professional skills and competitiveness, the Group has
established a Policy on Training Subsidy. This initiative supports
employees in attending external, job-related training courses and
seminars to improve their knowledge and skills for their roles and
advance their careers. Additionally, the Group provides financial
assistance covering up to 50% of the course and examination fees
for job-related qualifications. In the annual performance appraisal,
supervisors would discuss with our staff on the training plan in the
coming year. Each department has its own training budget for their
staff to attend job-related training.

e (8)

ERERESTERGE)
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Unit 2024 2023®

Employees Training Data EEZIEE B —E-NEF —EZ=F0
Percentage of employees FZIEER DO

trained™ 98.65 /
By Gender RMER &5
Male B % 47.27 22.73
Female zZ % 52.73 34.04
By Employee Category REEER &S
Senior Management EREREAB % 1.82 20.00
Vice President and Senior Vice BIZBNRSRBIER

President % 12.27 15.38
Manager gz % 24.55 28.00
General employee —RIEE % 61.36 30.89
Average training hours BHEEETHZIN

completed per employee® FHRH Hour /MBS 3.14 /
By Gender RER 85
Male B Hour /MBS 2.23 1.24
Female zZ Hour /B 3.97 2.17
By Employee Category REEERE S
Senior Management SREBEAE Hour /MBS 2.08 0.60
Vice President and Senior Vice BIAHKRSKBIEE

President Hour /)NEF 5.36 5.44
Manager g Hour /)N EF 4.65 1.05
General employee —REE Hour /N B 2.22 1.17

Notes: e -

™ Percentage of employees trained in relevant categories = Number of
employees in the specified category who took part in training / Number of
employees who took part in training x 100%

@ Average training hours completed per employee in relevant categories = Total
number of training hours completed by employees in the specified category /
Number of employees in the specified category

® The training data of FY2023 only includes our Hong Kong employees.

™ BHEEFNZNES B 7 =18 HFI &8558 1ES
AB S HIZHH1ES A Zx100%
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Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Employee Care

The Group is committed to fostering a supportive and engaging
environment for its employees through activities that promote well-
being, teamwork and a sense of community.

Case: Company Outing to Sha Tau Kok

During the Reporting Period, over 60 employees and their families
joined a company outing to the Sha Tau Kok restricted area and the
historic Hakka walled village, Tsung Pak Long. Participants enjoyed
scenic views, explored Hong Kong’s cultural heritage and shared a
BBQ lunch with freshly picked fruits at an organic pitaya farm.

Case: Mother’s Day Workshop

To celebrate Mother’s Day, the Tradelink Staff Club organised a
beeswax aroma stone workshop led by professional instructors.
Employees were encouraged to create handmade gifts to express
their appreciation for loved ones. The workshop fostered a sense of
achievement and creativity.

Case: “Tradelink Staff Club Bowling Competition”

The Tradelink Staff Club also organised the “Tradelink Staff Club
Bowling Competition” during the Reporting Period. Employees
showcased their skills in a fun and energetic atmosphere filled with
laughter and encouragement. The event strengthened camaraderie
among participants, and congratulations were extended to the
winners who demonstrated exceptional performance.

Operating Practices

Product Responsibility

The Group is dedicated to product responsibility, ensuring the
secure and high-quality delivery of its products and services. We
provide hotline service, on-site technical support and training
to assist customers in using our offerings effectively. Through
continuous enhancements and upgrades, we strive to meet service
targets, uphold high operational standards, and deliver the best
possible customer experience.
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Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)
Product Responsibility (Continued)
To uphold our commitment to delivering reliable and quality
services, we implement quality management system established in
accordance with the 1SO 9001:2015 standard. This demonstrates

e (8)

EEEM(E)
EmEMFEGE)
AEREMBERTEEERBENEARE  KMAEE
ZHRISO 9001:2015ZERE Y NEEEIERE o It
EREMEEIBEREREEFPENTAER

our capability to consistently provide products and services that SEBIRZERRENERRRE  REEXRMBREA
meet customer expectations as well as applicable statutory and ZEFREEMNZE N ©ISO001EETIEERNSEE
regulatory requirements. It reflects our dedication to enhancing E’%—TEEEE Al BENEREX e EEENH
customer satisfaction. The 1SO 9001 standard is founded on RBIREEBEA  REFERSEICE -
several key quality management principles including a strong
customer focus, the motivation and implication of top management,
the process approach and continual improvement.
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=
Percentage of total products sold or EERCEEEMBHF N/A N/A
shipped subject to recalls for safety ZEHEBRREEHAMARKKY T iE A FiE A
and health reasons®™ BokO
Number of products and service related EEBEREREKREHNRFEHE 0 0

complaints received

Note:
m Due to our business nature, this item is not applicable to us.

Supply Chain Solutions (“SCS”)

Our SCS follow a structured product development process to
ensure quality and efficiency. The process begins with identifying
market demands and customer-specific needs, followed by
feasibility analysis, cost evaluation and resource allocation. If
development is required, we ensure that products are tested with
simulated scenarios to guarantee reliability and sustainability.

During the Reporting Period, our SCS implemented custom updates
for several customers in retail and logistics, including generating
shipping reports for government agencies, expanding operating
systems to other business units, and updating data conversion and
transmission processes. Additionally, our SCS provided tailored
solutions to small and medium-sized enterprises (“SMEs"), helping
them enhance operational efficiency and support business growth.
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Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Product Responsibility (Continued)

Identity Management (“IDM”) Solutions

As a Recognized Certification Authority under the ETO, Digi-
Sign strictly complies with the Code of Practices for Recognized
Certification Authorities issued by the Government. This ensures
that the digital certificates we issue, such as Personal ID-Cert,
Organisational ID-Cert and Encipherment ID-Cert, meet the highest
standards of security and quality for electronic transactions.

We have established robust procedures for identifying, controlling
and resolving non-conforming outputs to prevent their unintended
use or delivery. Non-conformities are addressed through corrective
actions, containment measures and customer communication as
appropriate. We ensure that all actions are properly documented,
including descriptions of the non-conformity, steps taken to resolve
it, and the authority responsible for the decision. These measures
demonstrate our commitment to accountability and maintaining
high standards of service quality.

Payment Technology Solutions (“PTS”)

Our PTS focus on developing payment software solutions. We
ensure that all applications pass the required card association
certification testing before production. This process guarantees
compliance with stringent regulatory and technical requirements,
ensuring the security and reliability of payment services. Our PTS
support SMEs indirectly by providing payment solutions to bank
acquirers, who then offer these services to SME merchants.

Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS”)

Our GETS-related services manage to maintain a relatively stable
performance over the years. In particular, with reference to the
success of our existing partnership, we are actively exploring
potential opportunity with other partners. Leveraging our extensive
customer base and our connection to HKMA’s Commercial
Data Interchange where customer data, with the consent of our
customers, can be shared with partners, we can establish close
relationships with partners and collaborate on mutually beneficial
initiatives.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that had a significant impact on the Group relating to advertising,
labelling and other matters relating to products and services
provided.
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Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Customer Services and Complaint Handling

The Group has implemented a Complaint and Refund Handling
Procedure (the “Complaint Procedure”) to ensure efficient
resolution of customer issues. This procedure applies to all
complaints and refund requests received via telephone, fax, email,
letters, or through government departments.

Pursuant to the Complaint Procedure, complaints are logged in
the Customer Relationship Management system, acknowledged
within one working day, and investigated promptly. If additional
information is required, customers will be contacted. Other
departments may be consulted as needed to formulate appropriate
follow-up actions. Once findings and actions are communicated,
cases are either closed or further investigated if the resolution
is not accepted. Refund requests follow a similar process, with
justified cases approved by management and processed by the
Company’s Finance Department, while unjustified cases are
communicated to customers via explanatory letters.

Performance of the Complaint Procedure is measured through KPls,
including a 99% target for acknowledging cases within one working
day, providing findings for non-refund cases within five working
days, and providing findings for refund cases within two weeks.
All records are retained for at least one year, and monthly reviews
are conducted to ensure process effectiveness and continuous
improvement.

During the Reporting Period, we were honoured to receive
continuous recognition for delivering exceptional customer service
as we won the Best-in-Class award in the 'Public Service and
Utilities' category for the 4th time, along with the Gold Award for
13th consecutive year at the 2024 Hong Kong Customer Contact
Association (“HKCCA") Mystery Customer Assessment Awards
since joining the competition in 2012. Moreover, we conducted a
customer satisfaction survey to evaluate our services, achieving a
100% response rate, with a high satisfaction score of 4.7 out of 5,
reflecting our commitment to delivering quality services.
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Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Cybersecurity

The Group prioritises the security and confidentiality of customers'
data by implementing robust cybersecurity measures in compliance
with the security requirements of its GETS licence. These measures
safeguard data against unauthorised access, ensuring the integrity
and availability of our systems and services. Our cybersecurity
framework employs multi-layered network protection, utilising
advanced network equipment to block unauthorised external
access. Strict policies ensure only authorised personnel can access
our systems, with system access controlled by password-protected
logins that are regularly updated to maintain security.

To further enhance protection, we conduct regular internal and
external audits, including vulnerability assessments. Identified
vulnerabilities are promptly addressed following guidance from the
Hong Kong Computer Emergency Response Team Coordination
Centre, ensuring our systems remain resilient against emerging
threats. During the Reporting Period, IT audits were conducted on
access rights to our systems, and no issues were identified.

In the event of a data breach or security incident, the Security
Officer will be notified immediately. A detailed assessment is
conducted to evaluate the potential impact, considering internal
factors such as organisational capabilities, and external factors
such as regulatory requirements. Risks are continuously monitored
and reviewed to ensure mitigation measures remain effective, with
all activities and outcomes documented and formally reported.

To maintain operational resilience, we conduct quarterly tests to
verify that backup systems can restore data to the correct state.
Annual disaster recovery and business continuity drills are also
carried out, with results reviewed to identify and implement any
necessary improvements, ensuring uninterrupted operations even
under adverse conditions.

These comprehensive measures demonstrate our unwavering
commitment to protecting customer data and fostering trust in our
services. Further details of data security measures adopted are
available on the Company’s website under the section headed “eBiz
Portal/Customer Services”.

Case: Tradelink “Cybersecurity 360" Luncheon Seminar

During the Reporting Period, Tradelink hosted the “Cybersecurity
360" luncheon seminar aimed to thank customers for their support
and share the latest practices in cybersecurity. The event attracted
over 160 participants, including industry experts, association
delegates and Tradelink’s customers and partners.
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Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Cybersecurity (Continued)

In our presentation, we introduced current cybersecurity threats,
accompanied by live demonstrations of common cyberattacks,
including OTP theft, fake Wi-Fi, deep fake face swapping and
USB malware. We also stressed the importance of proactive
cybersecurity measures, noting that while cyberattacks are
becoming increasingly sophisticated, awareness and basic
preventive actions can significantly reduce risks. We encouraged
businesses, including SMEs, to adopt simple cybersecurity
practices to protect themselves against potential vulnerabilities.

Privacy and Data Protection

The Group adheres to the requirements of the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “PDPQ")
and strictly observes the data protection principles outlined within
the PDPO in the conduct of its business operations. We ensure that
all staff are educated and required to handle customers’ personal
data with the utmost care and diligence. Access to customers’
personal data is restricted exclusively to the employees who have
a genuine need to access such data for the purpose of delivering
services to the customers. The Group processes customers’
personal data solely to the extent necessary and in a manner
required for the provision of its services, in accordance with
customers’ instructions. Personal data is not processed for any
purposes beyond those explicitly authorised, nor is it disclosed to
third parties without the prior consent of the customers.

To further safeguard customer information, we have implemented
robust system access controls and data access controls. System
access is restricted to authorised personnel only, who must sign
in using passwords that are regularly updated. For data access,
permissions are granted strictly on a “need-to-know” basis, with
authorised personnel being granted access only to the specific
areas of data required for their roles.

The Group’s privacy obligations are clearly outlined in its Privacy
Policy, which is subject to regular review and updates. These
updates ensure compliance with any legislative amendments to the
PDPO, other applicable privacy laws, and the evolving trends and
practices in other mature jurisdictions. This approach reflects our
commitment to maintaining the privacy and security of customer
data at all times.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any reports
of material non-compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group relating to data and privacy
protection.
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Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Intellectual Property Protection

Like other technology companies, the Group considers its
intellectual property (“IP”) rights to be vital to its business and
operations. To safeguard these rights, the Group has implemented
a comprehensive strategy.

Firstly, all IP rights requiring registration, whether locally or
internationally, are diligently registered to ensure their protection
and legal enforcement. Secondly, contractual safeguards are
in place to ensure that any IP rights created or developed by
employees during their employment are fully vested in and owned
by the Group.

The Group also upholds a strong commitment to respecting the IP
rights of third parties. Staff are consistently reminded to use only
licensed software, and monitoring tools are deployed to detect
and prevent the installation of unauthorised software. Additionally,
training and education programmes are provided to new and
relevant staff to raise awareness of the importance of IP rights and
the risks associated with infringement.

To further mitigate risks, internal controls have been established
to identify areas of the Group’s business or operations that may be
more susceptible to third-party IP infringement. Remedial measures
are implemented where necessary, significantly reducing the
potential for IP rights violations.

As at 31 December 2024, we achieved two cumulative approved
patents, held ten registered trademarks, and had two new
trademarks in progress.

Supply Chain Management

The Group is dedicated to establishing mutually beneficial, long-
term relationships with suppliers and partners. This commitment
supports our daily business operations and ensures the delivery of
quality products and services to our customers.

During the respective reporting periods, the number of suppliers by
geographical region is as follows:
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Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

Effective supplier management is a critical aspect of the
procurement process outlined in our Policy and Procedures on
Procurement (the “Procurement Policy”). The Group emphasises
the importance of engaging reliable suppliers who align with
the Group’s standards for transparency, accountability and
sustainability. The Procurement Policy is subject to regular review
to ensure its effectiveness and due management of environmental
and social risks along the supply chain.

Compliance with Environmental and Labour Laws

We mandate that reasonable best endeavours must be applied
to ensure suppliers comply with their local environmental and
labour laws. This reflects our commitment to corporate social
responsibility and sustainable procurement practices. Major
suppliers are required to sign a Compliance Confirmation Form,
formally declaring their adherence to all applicable laws and
regulations relating to, including but not limited to environmental
protection, labour practices, product safety and liability, data
protection and confidentiality, anti-money laundering, fair
competition and anti-trust, anti-bribery and corruption and
corporate governance.

Transparent Supplier Selection

To ensure a fair and equitable procurement process, the Group
ensures that at least three written quotations are obtained
for purchases valued at HKS800 or above. If fewer than three
quotations are presented, clear justifications must be provided,
such as sole supplier status or system compatibility requirements.
The Group is committed to ensuring that suppliers do not receive
unwarranted preference and that prices quoted are fair and
reasonable.

Accountability and Continuous Improvement

By holding senior leadership accountable for supplier-related
decisions, the Procurement Policy ensures that supplier
management remains a priority. Additionally, the requirement
for compliance declarations and detailed justifications fosters a
culture of continuous improvement and ethical sourcing.
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Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

Commitment to Sustainability

We recognise the environmental impacts associated with our
supply chain. As an e-commerce service provider, most of our
purchases are related to IT services, such as cloud services,
facilities management and IT security, which typically do not
pose significant environmental risks. Nevertheless, we prioritise
local sourcing to minimise carbon emissions associated with
transportation. In 2024, approximately 86% of our suppliers were
based in Hong Kong, reflecting our commitment to sustainability
and support for the local economy. We also ensure to engage and
require suppliers to use environment-friendly paper for our Annual
and Interim Report printing.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any key suppliers
engaging in actions or practices that had a significant negative
impact on business ethics, environmental protection, human rights
or labour practices.

Anti-corruption

We uphold the highest standards of integrity, honesty, fairness and
impartiality in all business dealings. To ensure strict compliance
with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201, Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “POBQ”) and the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Cap. 615, Laws of Hong Kong),
along with other relevant laws and regulations relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering, the Group has implemented
a robust framework that includes the Code of Ethics and Conduct
and the Anti-Corruption Policy.

These policies, which are subject to review and comments by the
Nomination Committee and the ICAC, outline the responsibilities
and liabilities of employees as members of a public body. All
employees are required to read, understand and always adhere
to these policies in both letter and spirit. They must uphold the
prescribed standards of behaviour while performing their duties.
These policies address several key areas, including:

- Proprietary and Confidential Information

-  Conflict of Interest

- Prevention of Bribery

- Gifts, Gratuities, Hospitality

- Notification of Suspected Corrupt Conduct

—  Personal and Private Dealings
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Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Anti-corruption (Continued)

These policies are applicable to all employees within the Group and
are designed to strengthen our anti-corruption initiatives. The Anti-
Corruption Policy is formulated based on the recommendations
in the CG Guide, relevant provisions of the Code of Ethics and
Conduct and insights from the ICAC, and is reviewed by the
Nomination Committee on an annual basis. More importantly, the
Anti-Corruption Policy extends beyond employees to include all
Directors and officers of the Group, as well as external parties
engaged in business with the Group, such as agents, consultants
and contractors acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity. This
comprehensive approach underscores our commitment to ethical
practices and compliance across all levels of the organisation.

As a “public body” under the POBO, the Company’s role as a
major service provider, licensed by the Government, underscores
the importance of upholding integrity in public functions. In this
context, Senior Management and Directors, who may be considered
“public officials” under common law, have been informed about
their responsibilities and potential liabilities related to the common
law offense of “misconduct in public office”.

The Group also has in place the Whistleblowing Policy, which is
reviewed annually by the Audit and Governance Committee. This
updated policy incorporates recommendations from the CG Guide,
emphasising protections against retaliation and victimisation, as
well as the confidential and discreet handling of reports and the
consequences of submitting false reports.

The Whistleblowing Policy encourages staff and external parties
who interact with the Group (such as customers, suppliers and
contractors) to confidentially report any suspected misconduct,
malpractice, impropriety, dishonesty, corruption, fraud, illegal
activity, breaches of law or fiduciary duties, conflicts of interest,
abuse of power, or other wrongdoing they may become aware of.
Reports should be directed to the Vice President (Internal Audit)
or the Head of Human Resources of the Company, who serve
as delegates of the Audit and Governance Committee. Where
appropriate, an Investigating Officer will be appointed to look into
any allegations made in these reports, ensuring that all information
is treated with strict confidentiality and shared only on a need-to-
know basis.
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Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Anti-corruption (Continued)

The Company regularly invites the ICAC to conduct anti-corruption
talks for new staff and, where practicable, for Directors on an as-
needed basis as well. These sessions aim to enhance ethical
standards and awareness among employees regarding their
responsibilities in performing their duties. During the Reporting
Period, the Company invited the ICAC to conduct anti-corruption
training sessions. New colleagues were invited to gain a better
understanding of the POBO.

There were no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Company or its employees during the Reporting
Period. This outcome aligns with our target of maintaining a high
standard of integrity and compliance within our operations. The
absence of such legal cases reflects our commitment to ethical
conduct and effective anti-corruption measures.

Community

Empowering SMEs

The Group continues to empower SMEs by offering tailored
solutions to address their challenges in digital transformation and
cross-border operations. By leveraging advanced technologies such
as digital identity, signing solutions and Atrtificial Intelligence ("Al"),
the Group remains committed to supporting SMEs in maximising
operational efficiency and achieving sustainable growth.

Case: SME ReachOQut: FUND Fair plus Tech Sourcing 2024

During the Reporting Period, we participated as a Gold Partner
in the “SME ReachOut: FUND Fair plus Tech Sourcing 2024” with
the aim to provide SMEs with access to funding, technology and
business upgrade opportunities.

At the event, we showcased our business e-solutions designed
to support SMEs in achieving digital transformation and how
our digital identity and signing solutions facilitate cross-border
business activities while ensuring compliance with regulatory
requirements in Hong Kong, PRC and the ASEAN region.

We are delighted to have gained a better understanding of various
funding programmes and the needs of SMEs through this event,
enabling us to provide more tailored business e-solutions to
support their business development.
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Social (Continued)

Community (Continued)

Empowering SMEs (Continued)

Case: “Transforming Agreement Processes for Business Growth”
Luncheon

We participated in the “Transforming Agreement Processes for
Business Growth” luncheon during the Reporting Period. The event
brought together over 60 SMEs and industry experts to explore
actionable strategies for SMEs to streamline agreement processes
and empower their businesses to grow faster and smarter with Al
and digital signing.

We highlighted the importance of secure document handling, as
delays in signing agreements can lead to financial losses and
introduced how we can assist SMEs in managing agreements
efficiently, ensuring compliance with both internal policies and
legal requirements. The luncheon provided a valuable platform
for us to connect with SMEs and industry experts, reinforcing
our commitment to empowering businesses through secure and
efficient digital solutions.

Community Investment

We regard community management as an important part of
corporate social responsibility, and actively participate in
community activities and pay attention to community development
and the needs of the residents. We have established good
cooperative relationships with local governments, non-profit
organisations and community residents to jointly carry out various
community services and public welfare activities. We encourage our
employees to actively participate in community volunteer activities,
to exert their sense of social responsibility and action and to
contribute to community development. Through these efforts, we
hope to provide a better living environment for community residents
and promote the healthy, stable and sustainable development of the
community.

Charity Donation

Under our customer loyalty programme, customers could convert
their bonus points gained from using our services to charity
donations to our two charitable organisation partners, namely
Direction Association for the Handicapped and Oxfam Hong Kong.
During the Reporting Period, we had 240 customers donating their
bonus points to these two charitable organisations.
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Social (Continued)

Community (Continued)
Community Recognition

In recognition of our commitment to various social initiatives,
we are pleased to share the accolades we have received from
relevant organisations. These recognitions highlight our efforts in

& (E)

HE (&)
HERT
RREBEMYZTELSEBNEAD  BAMARD=E
EEAMBECHEMNES HERIEZERMAE
HEZE REEERBHZHETENS D -

community engagement, environmental stewardship and support

for disadvantaged groups.

Award:
#2I15 :

Organiser:
FWE -

Award for Family — Friendly Employers to Tradelink
FERERET-EBES8

Award for Breastfeeding Support to Tradelink
XEEIRHE - BB

Good MPF Employer Award to Tradelink and Digi-Sign
[E& i EE - B 5EKRDigi-Sign

Support for MPF Management Award to Tradelink and
Digi-Sign
EBESEERR - B5BRDIgi-Sign

e-Contribution Award to Tradelink and Digi-Sign
BEHREFLE - EHBRDIigi-Sign

Caring Company Logo to Tradelink and Digi-Sign
(B R REE IS - B 58 RDigi-Sign

“Green Office” label and “Eco-Healthy Workplace” label in
Green Office Awards Labelling Scheme

BERAERBTEANZERAT ESRIMEREIFR]

B

“ESG+ Pledge” Logo and “ESG Advocator 2025" label to
Tradelink

[ESG+HNE |#RH RESGIEEHE2025 |BF - ES R

“ESG One” Silver Member
[ESG— kB |REE R

Family Council and Home and Youth Affairs Bureau
FEZEURRBREFEKRE

Family Council and Home and Youth Affairs Bureau

FEZEURRBREFEER

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
BEMAEETEEERER

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
BHRIEABETEERER
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority

B AEEEEER

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
BETSREHE

World Green Organisation
tHRGEEHES

The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong

BRBTEREHEE

Hong Kong Productivity Council
BERBLEENRER
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Biig : IRiR - HEREAMERESIA
ARG

Section

30

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Description
Disclosures and KPls Hut
TEER -EBE  —REER

BRERES

A. Environmental
ARIE

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEAT : BB

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A1.1
BREMIERALT

KPI A1.2
R EMIEEAL2

KPI A1.3
AR EWIEEALS

KPI A1.4
BEEANIERALL

KPI A1.5

B RAMERALS

KPI A1.6
BEANIEERALG

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges

into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-

hazardous waste.

FRHBERAERBHR mAkRLHBHEES - EEREEE

BEYNELESH

(@) B3R &

(b) BEFHBITABEAZLENHEBEERRM

HER -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

BB R AR B BIE

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse
gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BHiE(HE) RgREE (BE2) RERBHEKE (U
AER(ER RE(MUBERE N - BERETH) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

FEEEEEEYAE UEHE) R(WER)ZBE (NS
EBEN  BERETHE) -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

FFEEEEEREYRASE UMTE) R (WER)ZBE (WNE
EE2EN BEREFHE) -

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
BRI YN EERRAERNEL B EMERIMM LR -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.
HEEBEEERBEEZEYNGE  RIGMFTETZAREER
BERAEINESLEAZEMERNISER -

Environment
BiE

Emissions

2957

Climate Change
RIREL

Waste Management

BEERNER

Waste Management
BEEYER

Use of Resources

ERER

Waste Management
BEEYER
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPls

TEHRE EFE - —REER

BEERER

Description
i

Section
=3:]

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EBHA2 : ERER

General Disclosure

—RiE

KPI A2.1
HRAMERA2.1

KPI A2.2
BEAMIEERA2.2

KPI A2.3
BRANERA23

KPI A2.4
B RANERA2.4

KPI A2.5
BEAMIEERA2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.

BEREAER (BFEGER  KAREMEME) BB -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in’000s) and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
REREASWEER REEER (NS Kem) 2
(Jﬁ)&?@?ﬁﬂﬁfﬁ) REE(WMUSESEN - §ER®
FTE)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BREKEREE(MUBESEN - BERBHE) °

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

WL R B RE RN E B ER A EDEL B EMREMN
B o

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

W REUE R AR LA B EMEE > AR AKRS
EERAREINESLEEMEBNSR -

Total packaging material used for finished products

(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

HAmrAEEMANEE (UHEAE) R (MER) BEESE

fLIEE o

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBHEA3 : RERARER

General Disclosure

—RiE

KPI A3.1
BB & WIBEAS3.1

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on
the environment and natural resources.

HERITAHRRERARERERERZENEE -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them.

W ERTHEHRBERAAERNEAFERCHENERS
BEENTH -

Use of Resources

BIREM

Energy

(N
Be IR

Water Resources

KER

Energy

b 3
BE IR

Water Resources

KEIR

Packaging Material
BEMR

Use of Resources

ERER

Use of Resources

BIREM
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Bfi &%
BES| (&)

RIR - tERER

HwERESIA

Subject Areas, Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs

TEER -BE  —REER
BRERES

Description

iy

Section
b=3:]

Aspect A4: Climate Change
EHA4 : miRE1L

General Disclosure
—REE

KPI A4.1
BB I EAL

B. Social
B. &

Employment and Labour Practices

BRREIER

Aspect B1: Employment
EEB1 : EfE

General Disclosure

—RiE

KPI B1.1
BRAMIERBL1

KPI B1.2
BEAMNIERB.2

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.
BRIREHCERITEEHBTAEESENEARIZIEEA
BENEE -

Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,
and the actions taken to manage them.
HEEERUESHRITAEESENEARR
REHTEH -

REBEEE

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and

welfare.

FEHFNREE  BEREH  TERE - KRE-

FERE 2k REBUREMGSEBREND :

(@) BiZR s &
(b) BPHBTABEAYENHEBEEEREN
HEH o

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,
full- or part-time), age group and geographical region.
mER - ERER (WE2BERE) FRENRMBEZ SN
EE&AZ -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and

geographical region.
mER - FREFNIRBBREDWEERKLE -

Climate Change
RIRZ 1L

Climate Change
SRR

Employment and
Labour Practices

BEREIESR

Employment
Management

ERER

Employment
Management

ERER

& 1107 £
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Description
Disclosures and KPIs i
FTEHE - EBEH - —REER

BRERER

Section

3]

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2: REHEZZE

General Disclosure

—RiE

KPI B2.1
BRAMERB2.1

KPI B2.2
B R EMIEEB2.2

KPI B2.3
BEAMERB2.3

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

FRARHZ2THRRRERREEEREHMEMBEN

(@ XK &

%gﬁ?%%ﬁkﬁiﬁ%%%ﬁ%%%&ﬁﬂ

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each
of the past three years including the reporting year.

BEZF (BEERFE)SFRITHHARKRLER .

Lost days due to work injury.

ETIEEATHEIH-

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
MR EREZ 2B UREBRITRERS

VE ©

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EEB3 : #E RIEI

General Disclosure

—RiE

KPI B3.1
B A M IEEB3.1

KPI B3.2
B2 A M EEB3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills

for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.
Egﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁl¢%§Wﬂﬁ&ﬁ%Wﬁ%°ﬁﬁ%ﬂ
M o

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

RENRESERN (NSREEE - PREEE) S5
EEBDL -

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.
RUERREEERNE D  BEEETHRIEINTFIIEE -

Health and Safety
BEHEZE

Health and Safety
REEZE

Health and Safety
REHEZR

Health and Safety
BEEZE

Development and
Training

R R

Development and
Training
R R IE

Development and
Training

B R R
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Biig - IRiR - HEREAMERESIA

Subject Areas, Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPls

FTEHE - EBEH - —REER
BRERER

Description
fut

Section

3]

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
fEEB4: % T %A

General Disclosure

—RiE

KPI B4.1
BB & W IEEBAA

KPI B4.2
BREANIESRBL2

Operating Practices

EEED

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BB ILEEI @GS ITH:

(a) % &

ggﬁ?%%ﬁkﬁi EENHBEEERIRA

Description of measures to review employment practices
to avoid child and forced labour.
W BEEMNNEEABRETIREHNE T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.

MM ERRERBTREEBRBRBR AR LR -

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EEBS : ftEEER

General Disclosure

—RiE

KPI B5.1
B A S EB5.1

KPI B5.2
B AN IE1EBS5.2

KPI B5.3
B A M IEEBS.3

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.
EEMESENRERESEMBEK -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

B TWHEEEHE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

WM RAEERNES  MENTEEEMNNHERH
B URMBEHITRERGE -

Description of practices used to identify environmental

and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

Hi R MEESEAREANREREESRABWIES - B
REBHTRERGE -

Labour Standards
4 T XA

Labour Standards
BT

Labour Standards
B IR

Supply Chain
Management
HEHEER

Supply Chain
Management
rEEEE

Supply Chain
Management
e EE

Supply Chain
Management
HEEHEERE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Description Section

Disclosures and KPls i b=3:]

TEZEHERE -BE > —REER

BRERER

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Supply Chain

B & W5 EB5.4 preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, Management
and how they are implemented and monitored. HrEEESE

Wl EREEEEREES ARRERRRBNVED - LR
MERTRERLE -

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EEB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure

—RiE

KPI B6.1
B A M IESB6.1

KPI B6.2
B AN 5 15B6.2

KPI B6.3
BRAMIERB6.3

KPI B6.4
B2 A M5 15B6.4

KPI B6.5
BREAMNIEEB6.5

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and

privacy matters relating to products and services provided

and methods of redress.

FEFREHERNBRENRERZE2  EE RERLES

HURBRITEMN :

(a) B &

b) EFHBTABEALENREEERAD
BEH o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
EERCEXEMARTEZE2HEREHMAD KK
Batke

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

RERANERRBRBNRFBRE UAREH T L -

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.
MR EERRENBEEFENED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.
HiEEREBRERERBKER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.
i H B E G RHRIE R ALK - LURABBAH 1T R B 5T
Tk e

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Customer Services
and Complaint
Handling
BEFRBERRFERE

Intellectual Property
Protection

MBERRE

Product Responsibility
EmEME

Privacy and Data
Protection

LEREMRE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPls

FTEHE - EBEH - —REER
BRERER

Description
fut

Section

3]

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

—RiE

KPI B7.1
BB & WIEEBT.1

KPI B7.2
BRAMIEEBT.2

KPI B7.3
HREANEEBT.3

Community
HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEB8 : HERE

General Disclosure

—RiE

KPI B8.1
B AN EEBS.1

KPI B8.2
B2 A M IEEBS.2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRABLEBE PR HFFRABEN

(a) % &

ég)ﬁ%f“ﬂi‘éﬁ}\ﬁi EENHBEEERIRA

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERPAAHBITAREEEREICEENETHARY
B RFRER -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.
WM EEEREREF  URBEATRERSE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors
and staff.
BlimESRETRHENREGTEI -

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates

and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

BRUTEZ2HER THREENTHLREENBRREEREH
SERUEBRNBHOEEK -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
ErEHEE (NHE RESE - BIER @#FE - Ut
Ba) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area.

HEEIHBEMBAER (NESEHER) -

Anti-corruption
RES

Anti-corruption
RES

Anti-corruption

RES

Anti-corruption
RES

Community
e

Community
e

Community
e
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Directors’ Report

EFEHES

The Directors have pleasure in submitting the Annual Report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Principal Place of Business

The Company is a company incorporated and domiciled in Hong
Kong and has registered office and principal place of business at
11/F & 12/F, Tower B, Regent Centre, 63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai
Chung, Hong Kong.

Principal Activity

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of GETS for
processing certain official trade-related documents. Leveraging its
core competence, the Company has diversified its business into
other areas including SCS, IDM solutions and PTS, some of which
are operated by the Company’s subsidiaries.

The principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in Note 74 to the “Notes to the Financial
Statements”.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year, a
discussion on the Group’s future business development and a
description of possible risks and uncertainties that the Group
may be facing are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
Annual Report and these sections form part of this report.

The Group’s financial risks are elaborated in Note 23 to the “Notes
to the Financial Statements”.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial KPIs can be found throughout this Annual Report.

The Board believes that strict compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations is pivotal to the success of the Company. For this
purpose, the Board has delegated responsibilities to the Audit and
Governance Committee and Senior Management to monitor and
implement the Company’s policies and practices in compliance with
the legal and regulatory requirements that have a significant impact
on the Company.

EEMAREAEEEE_Z-_NF+=-A=+—
ALFENFRERSELMBRE

FEEEHE

AATAB-—BEREAIMEALEUETBBREND
T EAMREERTEEEMBVNRTBEEN
BE3EERTUBEIIERI2E -

bﬂ}

EEER

FRANEIREBRRARHEEETEZHERESX
HHIGETS « BEHBLLBFE N - XD AT HEH
BREHEREEANIE  FNEEBRAZRIM
MEBRL REHMEAS - HehE 2 B4 2 789K
BRREE -

AREAMBARANEIEEBRAMFEBRN BB
R INAZT4 -

XBER

HAKERFANEBNPEER  FEEAREE
BRRAWEHUAEETEEENERK AR
ENHABERAFRIEFREEIRIEERETR
Ro#r ImE  MZEMEERAREN -

AREE R R [ B R R M AV 23 E
;\‘_1’ o

ZlK%ILﬁJ MHARRRESHARFANRRE
DM AERDFRPEE -

ESEHEGERRETEREEREREA QTR
DEFREZE - B EFSCHEERTERRE
REEERGREEASERYERAQRANBER
RG] LWESFHARTEEAZENEEREE
BIE o



Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEEHRESE ()

Business Review (Continued)

As an entity incorporated and listed in Hong Kong, the Company is
governed, managed and operated pursuant to the CO, the SFO and
the Listing Rules on the corporate level. The Board has adopted the
Model Code, and the Board Committees have their own terms of
reference defining their respective rights, duties and obligations.
Besides, the Company is deemed to be a “public body” under the
POBO to reflect the nature of the GETS services and the Company’s
market position as a major service provider with a licence granted
by the Government in running important public functions. The
Company has also acted in strict compliance with the EO, the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485, Laws
of Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608, Laws
of Hong Kong) and various legislations against discrimination
including the Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602, Laws of
Hong Kong), the Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480, Laws
of Hong Kong), the Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap.
487, Laws of Hong Kong) and the Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 527, Laws of Hong Kong).

On the operational level, the Group conducts its business in
accordance with, among others, the Competition Ordinance
(Cap. 619, Laws of Hong Kong), the Unsolicited Electronic
Messages Ordinance (Cap. 593, Laws of Hong Kong), the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486, Laws of Hong Kong) and
the ETO. The member companies of the Group have registered
trademarks and domain names to protect IP rights, which are
considered crucial to its business. In particular, the Company
conducts its core business of providing the GETS services to the
trading and logistics sectors in conformity with the Import and
Export Ordinance (Cap. 60, Laws of Hong Kong) and the GETS
contract signed with the Government in addition to the above-
mentioned ordinances.

The Company has implemented several environmental policies
relevant to the Group’s business and operations to protect the
environment. The Company takes actions in daily operations to
reduce its environmental impact. We have been running and will
continue to run our business in a responsible manner to minimise
environmental pollution.

We manage our human resources and maintain our relationship
with employees in strict compliance with the relevant employment
laws. The Company provides a safe and healthy working
environment and protects employees from occupational hazards.
The Company supports and subsidises employees to attend
job-related trainings to improve their knowledge and skills
for discharging their duties at work and enhance their career
progression.

EBESR (E)

ER—FREEBIMRUIRETHAR  AQAFE
XEEELRBEARGH BERBEHEGIR LT
BRAER EEREE ESSCKRMAFTESTA
MEEZESTAARENBELE  ;TAHAEE
R - BB REE - LI RIBB LRS- A
RAEKHI DHEE | URRGETSIRBMHE R A
RAFAERARHEEERAABEMERNER
R EEBEN T IH AL - A2 T FEBRIZETRERME
Bl ~ & B EBIEA85F CREIME X E T F BRI -
EBEBEOSE(REIEMRAN UR BT BERER
EA BEEBEMNFE2E(ERBREH) &
BIEBIEABOE (RIS RIRG) ~ BREHIFA8TE
CGRRBEBFRG) REBEBIES27TE(RER VKT
RBI) ©

HEEEHR L AEERE (AhEE) 5BEMNE
619 GRERA) - BB EAFESIBECGEEAE
AEMRAG) - BBEHFE486E(AAER (FAB) 15
PIIREFRBFPNELEER - AEBNHERT
CEMEERAEUAREHEEEBEZNARE
e BEMS  BREMEAN X2 TEREHE
EBI5E60F GE H O 5 I) & B HUF 2T WGETSE
NEEBRLVER MBS RWRITHEREHGETSHR
3 o

ARERER ALACERZEEAEBERRE
BEHEBNRREEX A L2ARABLEPRITH
UREBEHRENEE - HAIS RIS EHERE
BEARERRSREEHENTNEEEK -

EMBRETHBARREER  WEBANERK A
BELABFRIBAR AR AREZZRENTHR
BYREBEEENHEZZ - ARAXFLEYES
2N TEMEBAE - SUNBIKERIT TR
PR AR e WIRAHBERRE -
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Business Review (Continued)

The Company strives to maintain mutually beneficial and long-
term relationships with its suppliers and customers by developing
mutual trust with suppliers and providing high quality services to
customers. The Company provides hotline service, on-site technical
support and training for customers who use its services and
products. The Company also pledges to continuously improve its
service and products through enhancements and upgrades with an
aim to delivering reliable and quality solutions to its customers. We
use reasonably best endeavours to engage our suppliers which act
in compliance with their local environment and employment laws.

We would like to make positive contributions to the community in
various ways and also encourage our staff and customers as well
as their families and friends to participate in different voluntary
activities. Further discussions in respect of specific ESG areas
are set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” of this Annual Report.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to its major customers and suppliers respectively
during the financial year is as follows:

EBESR (E)

RAREREMREEREYEERATFRHEEE
R L EEEENEFEREEEFNRIE
B ARABRERERBRERNETFRESLRR
B BSERMEREI - ARB T EAHBEBIE
RARTHE #HEIBRTEERBRER  EES
EFRHAEAENATR -EMNESEBRNTER
RENERTEBTEMREREREENHEES -

BMALUREFAALBELREDER - FEB
BT -EFPURAEBRKSHEAFNEIED - BES
ERE - HERERAEBENE-LHRBANRETFER
[RE - HERERWSE] - -

FTEEFRKED

FERMBEFERAERTERFRHED D BIE
HAEEEERARRBENEHNT

Percentage of the Group’s Total

EAREBEEENE L
Sales Purchases
HEHE HEH
The largest customer BREF 4.1%
Five largest customers in aggregate EREFEF 14.6%
The largest supplier BRAMERS 2.8%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate EREERES 10.5%

At no time during the year did the Directors, their close associates
or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors own
more than 5% of the issued shares of the Company) have any
interest in these major customers or suppliers.

REANEAER  SETMNES HEEZBRBEAR
EARR (BESHAERA QR C BITRDS%
FERZETERFIUETHERERES -
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EETHEE(E)

Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
the state of the Company’'s and the Group’s affairs at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 140 to 237 of this
Annual Report.

Final Dividend

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK 6.4 cents per
share for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK 6.3 cents
per share). The proposed final dividend, together with the interim
dividend of HK 3.7 cents per share (2023: HK 3.7 cents per share)
paid to Shareholders on 7 October 2024, amounted to HK 10.1
cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2024. The total
amount of the interim dividend and the proposed final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 is about 98% of the profit
attributable to Shareholders for the year.

The proposed final dividend will be submitted to Shareholders
for approval at the 2025 AGM. If approved, the final dividend is
expected to be paid on Friday, 6 June 2025 to the Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on Friday, 23 May 2025.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year are set out in Note 13 to the “Notes to the Financial
Statements”.

Share Capital

Details of issue of shares and movements in share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in Note 22 to the “Notes to the
Financial Statements”.
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Donations B

The Group's donations for charitable purposes during the year are AEBEREREREZRABENERREAERE103E

disclosed on page 103 of this Annual Report. o

Directors -

The Directors of the Company during the financial year and up to RUBEERARBEZAREAHETNERQTANES
the date of this report are set out below: HIMT :

Chairman and Non-executive Director ETEREHTES

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. ZJy/EE+ > S.B.S,, J.P.
Non-executive Directors IMITES

Dr. LEE Delman ZEAREL

Mr. YING Tze Man @ RFXEED

Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent RKERE
Independent Non-executive Directors BAKHITES

Mr. CHAK Hubert Bkt

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan PREEZ O

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay AEREE

Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus @ RATEBLZLO

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy ™ EAEREED

Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT MER %L 0 G.B.S, J.P, FCILT
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. ® RERAB%%E SBS.®
Mr. TSE Kam Keung @ AR LW

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew BB EA L 4

Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan ©® BIERFZ 0O
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Directors (Continued)

Notes:

(1)  Mr. YING Tze Man, Ms. CHAN Chi Yan and Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy
retired as a NED, an INED and an INED respectively with effect from the
conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

(2) Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus has been appointed as an INED with effect
from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

(3)  Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. has been appointed as an ED with effect from 1
September 2024.

(4) Mr. TSE Kam Keung stepped down as an ED with effect from 1 September
2024.

(5) Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan retired as an ED with effect from 1 August 2024.

Biographical details of the Directors at the date of this report are
shown on pages 21 to 26 of this Annual Report.

In accordance with Article 96 of the Articles of Association, at each
AGM, one third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from
office but are eligible for re-election. Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent,
Mr. CHAK Hubert and Mr. CHAU Tak Hay will retire from office
by rotation at the 2025 AGM. Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent and
Mr. CHAK Hubert, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-
election at the 2025 AGM, whereas Mr. CHAU Tak Hay has decided
not to offer himself for re-election in conformity with the Diversity
Policy and will retire after the conclusion of the 2025 AGM. Also,
in accordance with Article 88 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election. Mr. YUEN
Man Chung, S.B.S. has been appointed by the Board as an ED with
effect from 1 September 2024. Accordingly, he will retire from
office and, being eligible, has offered himself for re-election at the
2025 AGM.

The Directors of the Company’s subsidiaries during the financial
year and up to the date of this report are set out below:

Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. ™
Mr. TSE Kam Keung @

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew ©@
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan *

Ms. PANG Kit Fong
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Directors (Continued)

Notes:

(1) Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. has been appointed as an administrator of &.
#B(HFT)— A BMRA & (subsidiary of the Company) and a director of all other
subsidiaries of the Company with effect from 1 July 2024.

(2)  Following his stepping down as the CEO, Mr. TSE Kam Keung ceased to hold
any position with the Company’s subsidiaries with effect from 1 October
2024.

(3) Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew has been appointed as an administrator
of E5#E(MF7)— ABEMR2L A (subsidiary of the Company) and a director of
Digital Trade and Transport Network Limited (subsidiary of the Company)
with effect from 1 July 2024.

(4) Following her retirement as the COO and an ED, Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan
ceased to hold any position with the Company’s subsidiaries with effect from
1 August 2024.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, subject to the CO, every
Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities which the Director
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of the
Director’s office or otherwise in relation thereto (save and except
liability for negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust
which the Director may be guilty in relation to the Company). Such
permitted indemnity provision was in force at any time during the
financial year and at the time of approval of this report.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. was appointed as a NED on 19
September 2000 and is a director of TAL and accordingly may be
regarded as having interests in all contracts and other dealings
between TAL and members of the Group during the year under
review.

Dr. LEE Delman was appointed as a NED on 29 October 2012 and
is the Vice Chairman of TAL and accordingly may be regarded as
having interests in all contracts and other dealings between TAL
and members of the Group during the year under review.

Apart from the foregoing, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries
was a party or were parties, and in which a Director or any entities
connected with the Director had, directly or indirectly, a material
interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

All Directors shall retire by rotation in accordance with the Articles
of Association and the Listing Rules or at such time as may be
required by resolution of the Board.

Details of the employment contracts between the Company and
two EDs and the service contracts between the Company and three
NEDs and four INEDs are set out below.

On 8 April 2024, Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. entered into an
employment contract with the Company for a three-year term
from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2027 with the first three months to
temporarily act as a CEO-designate before taking the full CEO role
from 1 October 2024. The employment contract can be terminated
by the Company or Mr. YUEN by giving three-month’s written notice
or payment in lieu of notice.

Under the employment contract dated 30 August 2004 signed
between the Company and Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew, the
contract can be terminated by the Company or Mr. CHENG by giving
one month’s notice or payment in lieu of notice. On 15 November
2011, Mr. CHENG was appointed as Acting Deputy CEO, and on 26
June 2012, he became the Deputy CEO. In line with the business
developments of the Company, he was re-designated as the CTO
and the COO on 1 January 2017 and 1 December 2024 respectively.
Other than the re-designation and change of job duties, all other
terms of Mr. CHENG’s existing employment contract remain
unchanged.

Following the AGM held in 2017, the Company entered into service
contracts with two NEDs, namely Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S.,
J.P. and Dr. LEE Delman, and an INED, namely Mr. CHAU Tak Hay,
each for a term of three years. The respective service contract can
be terminated by the Company or the relevant Director by giving
one month’s notice in writing or payment in lieu of notice. The
service contracts with the aforesaid Directors were renewed for a
term of three years with effect from 8 May 2020 and 12 May 2023
respectively.
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Directors’ Service Contracts (Continued)

Following the AGM held in 2018, the Company entered into service
contracts with Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent, a NED, and Mr. CHAK
Hubert, an INED, each for a term of three years. The respective
service contract can be terminated by the Company or the relevant
Director by giving one month’s notice in writing or payment in lieu
of notice. The service contracts with the aforesaid Directors were
renewed for a term of three years with effect from 7 May 2021 and
24 May 2024 respectively.

Following the AGM held in 2023, the Company entered into a
service contract with Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT,
an INED, for a term of three years. The service contract can be
terminated by the Company or Mr. LIN by giving one month’s notice
in writing or payment in lieu of notice.

During the year, pursuant to the revised Remuneration Policy, each
of the said NEDs (including INEDs) signed a confirmation letter
with the Company regarding the revised fixed annual remuneration
payable to the relevant Director, which shall be determined
with reference to the relevant Director’s roles in the Board and
respective Board Committees. Other than the said revised fixed
annual remuneration, all other terms of the respective NEDs’
existing service contract remain unchanged.

Following the 2024 AGM, the Company entered into a service
contract with Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus, an INED, for a term
of three years. The service contract can be terminated by the
Company or Ms. CHEUNG by giving one month’s notice in writing or
payment in lieu of notice.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and Chief Executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the SEHK
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures (Continued)

Aggregate Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares

- NFFTR

ESRESTHRAERKRG - HEAR
RREEEFHESRER (B)

RIRGREBERGPHSTETR

Number of ordinary shares

LERYA

Approximate

Number of percentage of

Personal Corporate underlying total issued

Name of Directors interest interest Sub-total shares® Total shares

EERTRA

BER BAES HEER Mt RERAHAEC @i BEmaEaL

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, SB.S, J.P. )2 L » SB.S, J.P. - 196,798,000 196,798,000 100,000 196,898,000 24.78%

Dr. LEE Delman ZEAET - 101,1250009 101,125,000 100,000 101,225,000 12.74%

Mr. CHAK Hubert BEagE - - - 100,000 100,000 0.01%

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay BEREE - - - 100,000 100,000 0.01%

Mr. TSE Kam Keung ¢ EElEp AL 4,070,000 - 4,070,000 18,100,000 22,170,000 2.79%

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew ~ E{£HA %4 2,755,843 - 2,755,843 8,300,000 11,055,843 1.39%

Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan © BIEF L L0 2,994,605 - 2,994,605 - 2,994,605 0.38%

Notes: et -

(1)  Of these shares, (a) 101,125,000 shares were held by TAL, in which Dr. LEE (1) REZEKRGH - (a) 101,125000 K 3 BTALIFE [

@)

©)

4

®)

Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. has indirect shareholding; and (b) 95,673,000
shares were held by Eastex (HK) Limited (“Eastex”), of which Dr. LEE Harry
Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. is the sole shareholder and sole director. Accordingly,
Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. is deemed to be interested in these shares
under the SFO.

These shares were held by TAL, in which Dr. LEE Delman has indirect
shareholding. Accordingly, Dr. LEE Delman is deemed to be interested in
these shares under the SFO.

The interests in underlying shares represented the share options granted by
the Company to the Directors as beneficial owners under the Share Option
Scheme 2014, details of which are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” below.

Mr. TSE Kam Keung stepped down as an ED and the CEO with effect from 1
September 2024 and 1 October 2024 respectively.

Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan retired as an ED and the COO with effect from 1
August 2024.

2

3)

4)
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or Chief Executives of the Company or any of their
spouses or children under eighteen years of age had interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the SEHK pursuant to the Model Code.

Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme 2014 was adopted on 9 May 2014 and
expired on 8 May 2024, upon which no further options shall be
granted under the Share Option Scheme 2014. The Board decided
at the Board meeting held on 22 March 2024 that no new share
option scheme would be adopted, however, the outstanding options
granted under the Share Option Scheme 2014 shall continue to be
valid and exercisable up to the end of the relevant exercise periods.

Under the Share Option Scheme 2014, subject to the Listing Rules
and any applicable law, the Board had the absolute discretion to
offer any employees (whether full or part-time), directors (including
INEDs), consultants, business associates or advisers of the
Company or any company within the Group options to subscribe for
shares of the Company, provided that the total number of shares
issued or to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to any
one grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue. The grantee shall pay HK$1.00
to the Company as nominal consideration for the grant upon
acceptance of the offer of an option. An offer must be accepted
within 21 calendar days from and including the date of the offer by
the Company. Each option has a 10-year exercise period and the
details of the Share Option Scheme 2014 (including but not limit to
the vesting conditions, the fair value of options at the date of grant
and the accounting standard and policy adopted, where applicable)
are set out in Note 217 to the “Notes to the Financial Statements” on
pages 214 to 221 of this Annual Report.
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Share Option Scheme (Continued)
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme 2014 is:

(a) to assist the Company to attract and retain the best available
personnel; and

(b) to provide additional incentives to employees, directors,
consultants, business associates and advisers to promote the
success of the Group,

by providing them with an opportunity to have a personal stake
in the Company through an offer of grant of options. The shares
issued under the Share Option Scheme 2014 are identical in nature
with the other shares of the Company.

The total number of shares which may be issued in respect of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme 2014 shall
not exceed in aggregate 10% of the issued capital of the Company
at its adoption date, being 79,207,319 shares on 9 May 2014 (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit"). Options that have lapsed shall not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The subscription amount payable in respect of each share option
upon exercise of an option shall be determined by the Board and
shall be not less than the greater of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the SEHK’s daily
quotation sheet on the date, which must be a business day, of
a written offer of such option (the “Date of Grant”); and

(ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the SEHK’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the Date of Grant.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme 2014 is
36,425,000 shares, representing approximately 4.58% of the issued
shares of the Company on that date.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options
granted under the Share Option Scheme 2014 during the year ended
31 December 2024 divided by the weighted average number of the
shares in issue for the year is around 0.05.
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Share Option Scheme (Continued) B (8)

The following table discloses movements in the options granted TXREFEZERBE_-ZF—TNFEREFZRENERE
under the Share Option Scheme 2014 during the year ended 31 REZ-ZE-NE+-_A=+—ALFEENES:
December 2024:

No. of
options
|apsed upon No. of
termination of No. of options
No. of employment/ options transferred No. of
options No. of No. of No. of expiryofthe transferred to from options Market
outstanding options options options 10-year another another outstanding value per
as at granted  exercised  cancelled exercise category category as at Exercise  share on
1 January during during during ~period during during during 31 December Exercise ~ priceper  Date of
2004 theyear  theyear  the year the year the year the year 2024 Date of Grant period share Grant
H-g=mE ERRALRE/ mk 1
-A-8 TETRE EREgE FRftEf  t2R=1-8 HELEH
HAGRH ERRHE  EAGRN  EAZEN  ERAXAN AR BHEAR HATRN ERRA
BRESE BRE¥E BREHE RREEA BRE%A BhEHA BhE%A Ehiga RERE  RE SRARE  HRE
HKS HKS
EHL EMR
Directors i3
DrLEEHamyNai  ZJ9EBT SBS, 900000 - - - (900,000) - - - 30/06/2014  10years 190 190
Shee, SBS, JP.  JP. “5-BERAZTA T4
100,000 - - - - - - 100000 00072015 10 years 178 173
Z2-15tACR T4
Or.LEEDeiman  ZEAEL 200,000 - - - (200,000) - - - 30/06/2014 10 years 190 190
“E-MERAZTH T
100,000 - - - - - - 100,000 020072015 10 years 178 173
ZE-EEtA0H T4
Mr.YING Tze Man® - £ FR££0 200000 - - - (200000) - - - 30/06/2014  10years 190 190
“E-RERAZTH T8
100,000 - - - (100,000) - - - 00072015 10 years 178 173
Z2-15tACR T4
Mr, CHAK Hubert ~ Bfesgf% 900,000 - - - (900,000) - - - 30/06/2014 10 years 190 190
“E-MERAZTH T
100,000 - - - - - - 100,000 020072015 10 years 178 173
ZE-EEtACH T4
M. CHAU Tak ey~ EBE%E 500000 - - - (500000) - - - 30/06/2014  10years 190 190
“E-RERAZTH T8
100000 - - - - - - 100000 00072015 10 years 178 173
Z2-15tACR T4
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kok ESEI% 40 800,000 - - - (800,000) - - - 30/06/2014  10years 190 190
Jimmy) “E-MERAZTA T
100,000 - - - (100,000) - - - 020072015 10 years 178 173

ZE-RELACH T4
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Share Option Scheme (Continued) Bz TR (F)
No. of
options
[apsed upon No. of
termination of No. of options
No. of employment/ options transferred No. of

options No. of No. of No. of expiryofthe transferred to from options Market

outstanding options options options 10-year another another outstanding Value per

asat granted  exercised  cancelled exercise category category as at Exercise  share on

1 January during during during ~ period during during during 31 December Exercise ~ priceper  Dateof

2004 theyear  theyear  theyear the year the year the year 2024 Date of Grant period share Grant

R-3zRE EMERLRE/ idut a3

-f-8 TETRY EnERE Enftit  t2A=t-8 HELRE

HATRY  ERREE  EAGRN  FAEEN  ERARAN AR BHEAN HATRN ERRA

BREER BRERE BREME EREEG ERERR BRENA BhE8A b E RHRE R SRAORE  HE

HKS HKS

L o

M. TSE Kam Keung? %% 40 200000 - - - (200,000) - - - 30/06/2014  10years 190 190
“E-MERAZTA T4

100,000 - - - - (100,000) - - 0/07/2015 10 years 178 173
Z2-REtACH T4

1200000 - - - - (1,200,000) - - 04/07/2016 10 years 157 156
“E-7ELAMA T

2,400,000 - - - - (2400,000) - - /042017 10 years 1592 159
“Z-tEMASTNE T4

2,400,000 - - - - (2400,000) - - 04/05/2018 10 years 134 133
“5-N\f1AMA T

2,400,000 - - - - (2400,000) - - 120042019 10 years 1406 139
Z5-REBATIA T§

2,400,000 - - - - (2400,000) - - 170042020 10years 109 109
“ECREMATLA T4

2,400,000 - - - - (2400,000) - - 16/04/2021 10years 12 116
“EC-EMATAA T4

2,400,000 - - - - (2400,000) - - 19042022 10years 117 116
ZEIZERATAR T§

2,400,000 - - - - (2400,000) - - 21/04/2023 10 years 0958 095
ZEIZEMAZT-] T§

Mr.CHENG Chun BB %4 1,200000 - - - (1,200000) - - - 30/06/2014 10 years 190 190
Chung Andrew “E-MERAZTA T

1,000,000 - - - - - - 1000000 020072015 10 years 178 173
TE-15tA0H T4

900,000 - - - - - - 900,000 04/07/206 10 years 157 156
“E-7ELARA T4

500000 - - - - - - 500000 /0412017 10years 159 159
“E-tERMAZTR T

900,000 - - - - - - 900,000 04/05/2018 10 years 134 13
“5-)\F1fMA T

1,000,000 - - - - - - 1000000 12042019 10 years 1406 139
“E-1EmATIA T4

1,000,000 - - - - - - 1000000 17042020 10 years 109 109
ZECREMATLA T4

1,000,000 - - - - - - 1000000 16/04/2021 10 years 12 116
ZEC-EMATAA T4

1,000,000 - - - - - - 1000000 190042022 10 years 117 116
ZECZEMATAR T4

1,000,000 - - - - - - 1000000 2110412023 10years 0958 095

SROZERACE-R 1
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Share Option Scheme (Continued)

BikEstE (&)

No. of
options
[apsed upon No. of
termination of No. of options
No. of employment/ options transferred No. of

options No. of No. of No. of expiryofthe  transferred to from options Market

outstanding options options options 10-year another another outstanding Value per

asat granted  exercised  cancelled exercise category category as at Exercise  share on

1 January during during during ~ period during during during 31 December Exercise priceper  Date of

024 theyear  theyear  theyear the year the year the year 2004 Date of Grant ~ period share Grant

i a3 FMERLRE/ R-gomF

-f-8 TETRE EREsE Enftit  t2A=t-8 HELRE

HATRY EREEE  EAGEN  FAEEN  ERARAN AN BHEAN HA{TRN SRRH

BRERE BREEE BREHE BREEA BhE8A Ebd BhEEA BhREHA RHRE  ORE SRAORE o9

HKS HKS

BT EHR

Ms.CHUNG Shun ~ EJEE 710 500,000 - - - (500,000) - - - 30/06/2014 10 years 190 190
Kwanf® “%-PERAZTA T

700000 - - - (700,000) - - - 0/07/2015 10 years 178 173
ZE-REtACH T4

900,000 - - - (900,000) - - - 040772016 10years 157 156
“E-7ELAMA T

1,000,000 - - - (1,000,000) - - - /042017 10 years 1592 159
“E-LERECTIA T

1,000,000 - - - (1,000,000) - - - 04/05/2018 10 years 134 133
“5-N\517MA T

1,000,000 - - - (1,000,000) - - - 12042019 10 years 1406 139
“E-1EBATZA T4

1,000,000 - - - (1,000,000) - - - 17/04/2020  10years 109 1.09
“ECZEMATLA T

1,000,000 - - - (1,000,000) - - - 16/04/2021  10years 12 116
ZZT-EMATAA T4

1,000,000 - - - (1,000,000) - - - 19/04/2022 10 years 117 116
ZEIZERATAR T4

1,000,000 - - - (1,000,000) - - - 21/04/2023 10 years 0958 095
“RIZERACT-8 T4

Employees ] 1,200000 - - - (1,200000) - - - 30/06/2014 10 years 190 190
“E-RERAZTA t§

1,100,000 - - - (200,000) - - 900,000 00072015 10 years 178 173
LA t§

1200000 - - - (200,000) - - 1,000,000 04/07/2016 10 years 157 156
“E-7ELARA T4

1200000 - - - (200,000) - - 1,000,000 /042017 10years 1592 159
“E-tEMAZTR T4

1,500,000 - - - (200,000) - - 1300000 04/05/2018 10 years 134 13
“%-)\§1A0A T4

1,500,000 - - - (200,000) - - 1300000 120042019 10 years 1406 139
ZE-REBATIA T4

1,600,000 - - - (200,000) - - 1400000 17/04/2020 10 years 109 109
“ECEERATLA T4

1,600,000 - - - (200,000) - - 1400000 16/04/2021 10 years 12 116
Z3T-EmATAR T4

2200000 - - - (500,000) - - 1,700,000 190042022 10 years 117 116
ZZIZERATAR t§

2200000 - - - (500,000) - - 1,700,000 21/04/2023 10 years 0958 095
ZEIZEMAZT-A t§
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B E (&)

No. of
options
[apsed upon No. of
termination of No. of options
No. of employment/ options transferred No. of
options No. of No. of No. of expiryofthe  transferred to from options Market
outstanding options options options 10-year another another outstanding Value per
asat granted  exercised  cancelled exercise category category as at Exercise  share on
1 January during during during ~ period during during during 31 December Exercise priceper  Date of
024 theyear  theyear  theyear the year the year the year 2004 Date of Grant ~ period share Grant
i a3 FMERLRE/ R-gomF
-f-8 TETRE EREsE Enftit  t2A=t-8 HELRE
HATRY EREEE  EAGEN  FAEEN  ERARAN AN BHEAN HA{TRN SRRH
BRERE BREEE BREHE BREEA BhE8A Ebd BhEEA BhREHA RHAE  R® SRARE  HWE
HKS HKS
BT EHR
Exemployees?  FIEEY 2900000 - - - (2.900,000) - - - 30/06/2014 10 years 190 190
“E-MERAZTA T4
2,900,000 - - - - - 100,000 3000000 000772015 10years 178 173
ZE-REtACH T4
2,100,000 - - - - - 1200000 3300000 040772016 10years 157 156
“E-7ELAMA T
500,000 - - - - - 2,400,000 2,900,000 /042017 10 years 1592 159
“E-LERECTIA T
- - - - - - 2,400,000 2400000 04/05/2018 10 years 134 133
“5-N\517MA T
- - - - - - 2,400,000 2400000 12042019 10 years 1406 139
“E-1EBATZA T4
- - - - - - 2,400,000 2400000 17/04/2020  10years 109 1.09
“ECREMATLA T
- - - - - - 2,400,000 2400000 16/04/2021  10years 12 116
ZZT-EMATAA T4
- - - - - - 2,400,000 2400000 19/04/2022 10 years 117 116
ZZIIEMATAR T4
- - - - - - 2,400,000 2400000 2/04/203 10 years 0958 095
“RIZERACT-8 T4
Total & 64,700,000 - - - (20,700,000) (18,100,000) 18,100,000 44000000
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Share Option Scheme (Continued)
Notes:

(1) Mr. YING Tze Man and Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy retired as a NED and an
INED respectively with effect from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

(2) Mr. TSE Kam Keung stepped down as an ED and the CEO with effect from
1 September 2024 and 1 October 2024 respectively. It was resolved by the
Board to exercise its discretion under the Share Option Scheme 2014, so that
the options granted to Mr. TSE Kam Keung would not lapse upon expiry of
90 calendar days after Mr. TSE Kam Keung ceased to be an ED and the CEO
but shall remain exercisable up to the end of the relevant exercise periods.
Accordingly, the options granted to Mr. TSE Kam Keung were transferred
from the category of “Directors” to the category of “Ex-employees”.

(3) Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan retired as an ED and the COO with effect from
1 August 2024.

Pursuant to Rule 17.07(2) of the Listing Rules, the number of
options available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit at
the beginning and the end of the year ended 31 December 2024
were 907,319 and 0 respectively. The Service Provider Sublimit (as
defined in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules) is not applicable to the
Company as it has never granted any options to Service Providers
(as defined in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules).

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year ended 31
December 2024 was the Company, or its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

Equity-Linked Agreements

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year ended 31
December 2024, save for the Share Option Scheme 2014 disclosed
in this Annual Report.

BigiEstal (&)
Bt -

(1) RFXEEREHREEESFIRIHHEREE 5=
B ERREFABERELN

(2) HBBLLHIHERTHRH FFHE-FE-MFN
A—AR=-F-MFE+H—ABERN EFEHRTR
ZE-FERESERETHEEE  RRTFHHEE
ERBRETERHFRIELLETBIEFHNERTHAE
RAI0MEJE HIEMZE XN ZEERED TR BEE
BETRATERBIL » B - BT H B LNIERE
HIEE/EFEBEFESIEG -

(8) ZEEFLLEFHERLERE A-F-MFNA—
HABLR -

RELETFRAE17.07QQK REE=ZS-IWE+
CA=E+-RLEFEFURERETREEIEE
REFHVBREZE 2 515907,31910 K013 - M
RAQATRKOBRBREE(EER EHRAE+
+ ) BREEABEKEE SRFREMESERE (T
ERITTRASETEE)ETRBEBAREAAT -

BREXFESN  RBEZZ-NF+=A=+—
FBLEFENEMERE  AQRNEKE LR LET
NEFZE BEESTEBERAQAAREMH
EAEBRGO N EEE MR -

B HE 15 840 165 5

WA B 0 = B — D BB AEREIS AR
ARARENT LARBE-—F-MF+=A=+
— B 1E 4 B R O R 40 1 o
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares

So far as it is known to the Company, as at 31 December 2024,
the interests and short positions of the persons, other than the
Directors and Chief Executives of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Aggregate Long Positions in Shares

FERERIRBREBRGPARE
=ERKER

EBAQAFRFAN  RZEBE-_NE+ZA=+—H0" K
ARABEBRBESTHRAEIMNNATRARQT KRG

RABBARR 7 P A RO SRR AR 1B 35 I B B R B55 336
GRATHRENECMANESZRALBNT

RIRBFHEEIFR

Ordinary shares

BER

Approximate

percentage of

Registered Corporate Number of  total issued

shareholders interests shares shares

LB RITR

g )

BLRE EEES BHHE BAL

Substantial Shareholders TERR

Pine Tree Holdings Ltd. (formerly known as  Pine Tree Holdings Ltd. (i%&A
“South China (Jersey) Holdings Ltd.") ['South China (Jersey) Holdings

Ltd. )™ - 101,725,000 101,125,000 12.73%

TAL Apparel Limited @ BEAKXERAFO 101,125,000 - 101,125,000 12.73%

Eastex (HK) Limited @ Eastex (HK) Limited @ 95,673,000 - 95,673,000 12.04%

Notes: KiaE -

(1) The interest disclosed by Pine Tree Holdings Ltd. (formerly known as “South
China (Jersey) Holdings Ltd.”) is the same as the 101,125,000 shares
disclosed by TAL, its 100% owned subsidiary. Each of Dr. LEE Harry Nai
Shee, S.B.S., J.P. and Dr. LEE Delman has indirect shareholding in TAL and is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by TAL under the SFO.

(2)  Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. is the sole shareholder and sole director
of Eastex. Accordingly, Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Eastex under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, so far as it is known to the Company, as
at 31 December 2024, no person, other than the Directors and Chief
Executives of the Company, had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

(1) Pine Tree Holdings Ltd. (51 %8 # [ South China (Jersey)
Holdings Ltd. ) AT #% 75 49 # 7 BATAL (R 2 E /1 /8 4 7])
Fr 1% 2 #9101,125,000/8 % 17 /& [6] — #L IR 17 © E T3 12 1#
+ + S.B.S, J.P.REEF KGR TALFHEE BEERE -
HR1E7H 5 RAERGIIGHERBRTALI 5 B IR 17
R o

(2) ZE5EMEL  SB.S, J.P.BEastex#ilfE —RERIE—F
F oAUt RIFFZERHERG  F5/EE L SB.S,
J.P.# % B REastex T s BRI R 17 H HE B 1 am o

BREXFEEN  BARIFMA  REBZME
TZA=Z+t—R  BEATREAQXAESREST
BABIHATRAQRFRORBERD PHEARC
BRERBRESFNPERGIEBMATREFNERL
MARNERIAR -
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of Directors as at the date of this Annual
Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules.

Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions

The Group had no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rules during 2024.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

The Group did not have any bank loans or borrowings as at 31
December 2024.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 238 of this
Annual Report.

Retirement Scheme

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme for all
qualifying employees. Particulars of this retirement scheme are set
out in Note 20 to the “Notes to the Financial Statements”.

Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. Taking into account the independence confirmations
received and their participations in and discussions of the Group’s
business during the year, which the INEDs demonstrated their
ability to continue to bring in fresh perspectives and independent
judgements to the Board and respective Board Committees, the
Company considers all INEDs to be independent.

BRANDRERE
BIEARDARARERA P UEEMES T OB
AMER  ARABHFLTRAUBTFREND

BISRE -
REXZREEBERS

R  REE DR A LR AIE T 8
EXSRSEBERS -

RITEMRHMER

REZZBZME+ZA=+—H » REBELEEMAR
TERSEMEBR -

MBEERBIE
AEEBEAEYRFENEEREERABHE
BN T H238H -

BIKEHE
AEEASHARRESRTAHNEAHSHE -
B IR R BB S AT S SRR MY | 0 2220 -

BAUFBTESNEBILM

RAREWHEBERE L HRBE3MREEN
FEBMUMBIAR - SR WHN B ERER

RRERERESEREBRESZEETRINER
HRBIFENEED  ARARDERBEBBY -
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Auditor Z B Em

The External Auditor, KPMG, will retire at the 2025 AGM and, being NN BEBMNEER ST BEEFIER_S_HER
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the REBEFAELEMF BEFSERUEIEIER -
re-appointment of KPMG as the External Auditor is to be proposed ZAATBR-ZZE-HAERRBFEASLEZEHE

at the 2025 AGM. REFSRSTHEKMBIMBREMRER -
By Order of the Board AEEEWm

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. FE

Chairman Z=Jy/EE+ - S.B.S., J.P.

Hong Kong, 18 March 2025 BB —E-HF=A1TNH
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed securities.

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 13 May 2025 to Friday, 16 May 2025, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered to determine the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2025 AGM. In order to qualify to attend and vote at
the 2025 AGM, all duly completed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration, no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 12 May 2025.

The register of members of the Company will also be closed from
Friday, 23 May 2025 to Tuesday, 27 May 2025, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered to determine the Shareholders' entitlement to the final
dividend. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all duly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for
registration, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 22 May 2025.

RER  ARAREEAMNBELARNLERE
FEEMHEHEMEWES -

TERERGBFER

AAFRBR-E-_HEFEA+=A(EH)E=Z
—HERB+ABH(EHR)(BEEEWMA) HIE
TERERDIARNBEERTE  UETHEY
E_E_hAFEREBEASIRELBEIRRER -
ANEGHE_Z-_AFREBFEAGSINGLERE
HERK FEEZNRODBEREERBERZELS
BAR-ZZE-_HEFHEATZH(EH ) THFNKE=
T o RERDTNROBEERER B RFE
EETARATRE it ABBEFEFARER
1833 A AR N1741712-1716F o

ARABRTER-_ZB-_AFHEA-T+=H(EHR)Z
ZE-RAFHEAZ+ LR (EHD) (BEEEMA)
HE EEREAQATARMBEELTE  UEE
EREZERPREZRE - ATESWEREARKREN
B MEEENRHBEFRAKERERERELE
RZZE-ZHEFHRA-T-H(EHN) THFNE=
T o8 RERDTNWROBEERER BT RFE
EETARATRE it ABBEFEFAER
1833 A AR N1741712-1716F o



Report of the Auditor
BB E S

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tradelink
Electronic Commerce Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 140 to 237, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

—Eomass BRBEETESERAT | 133 £

BB S
HESEETEZARLAKE
(REBHAMELHERL E])

==
N

AEEE (AT ERIEM]) S EFREIIRNET1408
EEB/ENESZBEFESARLAREWER
B(UTEHBIERE]) NESMBRE - LIKR
REER-Z-WET A=+ -ANGRSHHN
NREBEZALFENGREBEER HGAEER
Hitt2HKRER GEoRSZDRNGESHEERE
R OURGEVBRRMNE  @FIESHBRE
R EERER -

BMRA ZEREUERRCRETBESTMA
EREMHNC(EBUKERELENEEMP St R
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Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement, EREBEETELSRBEMNEXHE  RAEERE
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial HFAFEBRRNBIRAEENETE H"EBEEHE
statements for the current period. This matter was addressed inthe KB EBLASUERERRELAZRRBETER
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements asa - RFFSHHBHIZMEBHNER -

whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter

Revenue recognition in respect of the provision of front-end EHAKBFEFZE S BRBEHWRFEER
Government Electronic Trading Services

Refer to notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial EFEZH#FEHBEREMIFIRIURREISOEZF152
statements and the accounting policies on pages 150 to 152. EHIZ &1 H%E °

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BENBEHNAEEZEE

Revenue of the Group is derived from the provision of front-  Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of
end Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS”) for  revenue in respect of GETS included the following:
processing certain official trade-related documents and

from project and other service income. Revenue from GETS
constitutes a major portion of the E-Commerce segment,
which accounted for 69% of the Group’s revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Revenue is recognised when the customer obtains control of
the promised service in the contract.

BEEENKEREREHEEETHNESE S HEXHWA
HBAFETEZRE ((GETS)) RAREHER MEAMBIHEUNA
GETSHIN R B EFRHEI TN EERS  MEFHE DT
i EEEEEZE-_ZE_NF+-A=+—HLEFEWRREM69% °

WEIREFEMSOHENRBEGEERESR -

with the assistance of our internal IT specialists,
identifying and evaluating the key relevant IT
systems and the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls,
with particular emphasis on the capturing and
recording of GETS transactions.

with the assistance of our internal IT specialists,
assessing the calculation logic of the pre-
defined formulae built into the IT systems and
the related parameters (including unit price and
transaction volume) used in the calculation of
GETS charges;

EMARFEGETSN RN EA R FEE

EHEMABEANZEXNIHI T - BB RFE
HE B B B8 5 1 ST ) 4 2R A6 A e B 6 9 P B 4 B BR
e BREREITHEG  XWHHIBRBGETSR 5 HIH
R}

EHEMABEANRERNGE T » FEEAM
REGHTRENBAERAEEANETBEB ARG
HGETSEAREANEHESH (BREEMLELR

REE);
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Key audit matter (Continued)

Revenue recognition in respect of the provision of front-end
Government Electronic Trading Services
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AR EsE1E ()

AmBAEFESREHRERER

Refer to notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 150 to 152.

2 g2

AR Z

B E B BEHREMAIRIURREISOE R F152

HAYE T B -

The Key Audit Matter
BREER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

REANET N AREZSBE

The Group uses complex information technology (“IT")
systems to track the point of service provision for GETS. The
calculation of the GETS charge is automatically performed
by the IT systems based on pre-defined key parameters,
including unit price and transaction volume.

A record of GETS transactions is generated by the IT
systems from which the GETS charges, in an aggregate
amount, are manually input into the accounting system on a
monthly basis.

We identified revenue recognition in respect of GETS
as a key audit matter because of its significance to the
Group’s total revenue and because the reliance on complex
IT systems with the subsequent manual input into the
accounting system increases the risk of error in recording
revenue.

BEEEEAERNEMBE (EMBED R RRHGETSH
RERBEESE - GETSEANGEREMNMREARERERL
RENBERESB(BREVERRXSZE) BBHT -

GETSHR SR BZREHEMRRAKES  GETSEANA S
BRABUAFHASHERELS -

EMEGETSH N mRAEMNSERENSE BAHE &
SEARSENERRD - WHAMBEENENARERSEU
REEFHWAS RSB T CHRW S HRER -

comparing the details of the monthly manual
journal entries relating to the input into the
accounting system of aggregate GETS revenue
with the reports generated by the IT systems, on
a sample basis;

comparing the unit price for each GETS charge
as recorded in the IT systems with details in
contracts signed with customers, on a sample
basis, and to test the operating effectiveness of
internal controls in respect of the authorization
of and input of the unit price changes; and

inspecting underlying documentation for other
manual journal entries relating to revenue which
were considered to be material or met other
specific risk-based criteria.

HBRASTRAEEHEGETSANEZMNE B A TL %
FHE BEAMRASELENREETHERLER

BMERBEEARNERAEMTHENESEGETSERANY
BNEREETFEITNENFBETLE - 8
ARENEREHEERBANRIBIREINET
ME R

BREAPSHBEARAREARTSEMIERR
BENHEMATTEOEEMY -
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BB EE (F)

Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit and Governance committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

FEMBHRREMNZBEAES
BUMNEE B

ESTHHMEEEE - HUEREETHRNFR
ANEEHES  ETEERGEMBRRREMOK
RS -

AMUEAHBRENERL TASRMES B
BATHZE R MERRREAHRNEBER -

FERMEGESMBRRNES  HMANETRH
BHMER  FUBREY  ZEHMESRTHESA
EUBBRIRMEEFBRPATHRNERFHE
EREBREUTFEFEERERBILAER -

EREMEHTHIHF UREMRABEMER
FHEEAHRRL  EMAFTEREZBE-EER
| BFREEAHRE -

EERGESMBHRRARENTE

EXACERBEEESTMOASRMANCE BB

SEIDREB(REARIDBBEEMHHFHNE
EUBHER  AHHEAARREFEEUBRRNER
THEEHRUFFHHERMERNERHERRAFAF
HARFEHEE -

EREFSVBRRE ESAENME BEEEE
BEEWRED  YEEABRTREESELE
BNBEE UREAFEKCLERSTER  RIE
EEEK BEEEHRRIAFLEE  HEAGE
BBRTER-

ERREREEEHPDESETEE
BHREBEWEE -

BEEER
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibilities towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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LA T FS M HRAED

B (8)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

AEEEARASTRENREERFEHE
hEt MBI BN S B -

HESRAFECESHERNREMFELS
e BEBEMENNERERE BRERAFEH
EENBEREENERTEEN - M ATEE
HY SEENSEKKEREIELEEREE -
NREMABFEERTEEN  AELEHR
REMBEFRBEECAEIZFAVHRERSD
HAERAME - BERBENMETR » BIRME
ERRFEREBRER - RMNERRENZHE
B3RS B L FTEUS BV ERORE - AT - KRS
ERFRUREY SREFREEFESE -

TEFEUBBEROBBINELN S8
RE BERE URGEUBEBEREST
BRREBERZMEE -

SFEMBMTREEES  UERNBEREENER
FEBEVHBEENTR EENESER
FFRUEENBRREAZINER - &
MEEES EENERMEEET BN
THEST T - EMAFFTRRAEENES -
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit and Governance Committee
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit and Governance Committee with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit and Governance
Committee, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lung Miu Ling.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

18 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
FEERR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZTE-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-F —E=-=

Note HK$’'000 HKS$'000

Mt BT BT T

Revenue U 25 3 247,625 266,611
Cost of purchases PREE R AR (21,833) (27,756)
Staff costs EE R A 5(a) (113,086) (120,133)
Depreciation e 5(b) (9,348) (8,925)
Other operating expenses Hibh L2 5(c) (36,007) (31,611)
Profit from operations BEREFR 67,351 78,186
Other net income HMW A F5E 6 21,405 32,161
Share of results of an associate  Fi{h — R A AEE& 529 705
Profit before taxation B %50 A0 0 R 5 89,285 111,052
Taxation BiiE 7(a) (7,327) (10,413)
Profit for the year FREFR 81,958 100,639

Earnings per share (HK cents) SRAEF (BW) 12

Basic A 10.3 12.7
Diluted g 10.3 12.7

The notes on pages 148 to 237 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to ordinary equity
shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for the year
are set out in Note 77.

F148EEE237TEMM T ER U ERRN—BD °
BAAFEENDRETERSFAQTLBRBERS
BANBREFBRENRAZTT -
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FeREkHMEERINER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZTE-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—EIE —E-=
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Htat B¥TT BT T
Profit for the year FERER 81,958 100,639
Other comprehensive income FRHEHMEEKES
for the year (after tax and (RHBREHSERER) :
reclassification adjustments):
Item that may be reclassified HEREEHMIEBE
subsequently to profit or loss: BRERMIER
Exchange differences on REBBIRIMEBLD
translation of financial MR ERAESENEZR
statements of the operations
outside Hong Kong 17 (823)
Total comprehensive income FREZEWRSEEE
for the year 81,975 99,816

The notes on pages 148 to 237 form part of these financial 28148EHZEH237EMNMTERIABHRN—F5 -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B 35 AR R

As at 31 December 2024 MR-ZE_WHF+_A=+—H

2024 2023
—EIE —E-=
Note HK$’000 HKS'000
st BETRT BT T
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BMEREE 13(a) 25,583 25,483
Goodwill mE 14(b) 9,976 9,976
Interest in an associate Pl — BB & A B R 15 5,274 5,145
Deferred tax assets BEERBEE 8(b) 606 56
_____________________________________________________________________________ 4143 40660
Current assets mEEE
Trade receivables and contract assets FEWERRA R AN EE 16 23,872 42,646
Other receivables, prepayments and Hfth B FIE - T RIB R
other contract costs Hib & #H R A 17 17,265 17,577
Taxation recoverable A Ug 21§ 18 8(a) 509 -
Deposits with banks RITER 376,767 168,363
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEE 76,285 276,335
N, 494,698 504,921
Current liabilities mEAE
Trade creditors, contract liabilities  FEfTRR - GHNEER
and other payables H b FE T FR8 18 150,170 159,638
Taxation payable R 8(a) 2,401 4,839
____________________________________________________________________________ 152,571 164477
_Netcurrentassets AMBERE 342127 340,444
Total assets less current liabilities ZEEAHERREAE 383,566 381,104
Non-current liabilities RHEaRE
Provision for long service payments R HEIRE & & E 19 2,104 2,017
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEEE 8(b) 2,275 2,121
Other payables H b RE 18 392 762
______________________________________________________________________________ 4771 ________4900_
NET ASSETS BEERE 378,795 376,204
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
HBEMBRRE (E)

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZT-UE+—-_A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-MmE =T

Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Kra BETT BT T

Capital and reserves BARREE
Share capital i &N 22(b)(i) 296,093 296,093
Reserves Ee] 82,702 80,111
TOTAL EQUITY SR 378,795 376,204

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 RKREEEN_—_Z_FF=A+/\BA#ERTET -
March 2025.

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. FE

Chairman Z=T/EE+ - S.B.S., J.P.
YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. HITEE

Executive Director RE®  S.B.S.

The notes on pages 148 to 237 form part of these financial 148EZEH237EMMITERMBHRERM—ZB5 o
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEEEE R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZTE-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

Share Capital  Exchange Other Retained Total

capital reserve reserve reserve profits equity

REx  ExRE EXRRE  HERE  REEN  BER4E

Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
WE  E%Tn  B%Tn  EARTn  BMTn  ARTn  BMTR

As at 1 January 2023 R=8-=%-BA-H 296,093 7,657 693 12 59,958 364,413
Changes in equity for 2023 CEICENEREE
Dividends approved in respect of LEECHERSE 1

the previous year = = = = (58,962) (58,962)
Equity-settled share-based transactions  MRELEL ARBAERNR S = 338 = = - 338
Lapse of share options BREXY - (470) - - 470 -
Profit for the year EREF = = - - 100,639 100,639
Other comprehensive income for the year £RE 2 E K E - - (823) - - (823)
Total comprehensive income for the year ER2ENEEE = = (823) - 100,639 99,816
Dividends declared in respect of REEEERRE 1

the current year = = = = (29,401) (29,401)
As at 31 December 2023 R-8-=%+-B=+-H 296,093 7,525 (130) 12 72,704 376,204
Changes in equity for 2024 “ECMENERED
Dividends approved in respect of LEERHERE 11

the previous year - - - - (50,062) (50,062)
Equity-settled share-based transactions AREZETURAAERNR S - 79 - - - 79
Lapse of share options BREAY - (3,165) - - 3,165 -
Profit for the year ERET - - - - 81,958 81,958
Other comprehensive income for the year ERE 2 E K E - - 17 - - 17
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZ2EAREAE - - 17 - 81,958 81,975
Dividends declared in respect of FEECERRE 11

the current year - - - - (29,401) (29,401)
As at 31 December 2024 RZF-mE+=A=+-H 296,093 4,439 (113) 12 78364 378,795

The notes on pages 148 to 237 form part of these financial f8148EZEH237BHNMFEREBHREN -5 °
statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
FEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZTE-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

2023
—Z=-=
Note HKS$'000
Mt BT T
Operating activities REE
Profit before taxation R % A & R 89,285 111,052
Adjustments for: FHE
Equity-settled share-based payment DREEEL ARG HERN
A+ 5(a) 79 338
Depreciation e 5(b) 9,348 8,925
Finance cost & B A 103 85
Impairment loss on trade receivables BEWRREEHNEEREBERSE
and contract assets 5(c) 4,392 379
Net foreign exchange loss [N EEFE 6 1,847 342
Gain on disposal of non-current HESEABELEEEN
assets classified as assets FRBEENRER
held for sale 6 = (6,805)
Reversal of impairment loss on R—BEBEATAERN
interest in an associate R EE IR 6 - (4,719)
Share of results of an associate PRk — R B & A R 3E4E (529) (705)
Net loss/(gain) on disposals of HENE  BERRZE
property, plant and equipment &E (W) B8 3 9)
Interest income on deposits SRITERNR B WA
with banks 6 (22,580) (20,412)
Operating profit before changes RITEEEEHANKEGR
in working capital 81,948 88,471
Decrease in trade receivables, FEUWERER - EHEE - Hitt
contract assets, other receivables, FEWERIE » FESRRE R EA
prepayments and other EHRAE D
contract costs 15,581 2,264
(Decrease)/increase in trade EAER - aHNAaERHM
creditors, contract liabilities FEAFRE G4 ) /5 hn
and other payables (2,777) 3,131
Decrease in customer deposits EWEFZRERD
received (5,865) (5,843)
Cash generated from operations REELENRS 88,887 88,023
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EHBEBREH (10,670) (4,680)
Refund of Hong Kong Profits Tax REBFBFESH - 2,404
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)
HEREeERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZTE-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

2023
—Z=-=
Note HKS$'000
Mt BT T
Net cash generated from operating RETHELENRLSFHE
activities 78,217 85,747
Investing activities REEH
Payment for purchase of property, BAME - BMERSEE
plant and equipment B2 4 58 (9,451) (13,653)
Proceeds from disposals of HEME - MERBEMESRIE
property, plant and equipment = 10
Net proceeds from disposals of HEPEABELEEENER
non-current assets classified as BEEMBRIEFHE
assets held for sale - 6,220
Interest received =& = 21,415 19,474
Dividend received from an associate ~ #tEtE QX AWERE 679 -
Placement of deposits with banks BFARITER (210,234) (98,398)
Net cash used in investing activities REZEEZEFARLEHE (197,591) (86,347)
Financing activities A& EE
Capital element of lease rentals paid EffHEHREWELRTE (1,110) (1,162)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EffHEEHESHRETEH (103) (85)
Dividends paid to ordinary equity ERNEAREBERKE
shareholders of the Company BEANERE (79,463) (88,363)
_Net cash used in financing activities MEZEBMANRERAE (80,676) (89.610)_
Net decrease in cash and ReRRALZERLFHE
cash equivalents (200,050) (90,210)
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—HHWRERALEE
as at 1 January 276,335 366,545
Cash and cash equivalents B+=—A=+—HHK
as at 31 December HekALEE 76,285 276,335
Analysis of cash and ReERALZESN
cash equivalents
Bank deposits with maturity R=EAREHMRITER
less than 3 months 65,007 262,317
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHERS 11,278 14,018
76,285 276,335
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)
HEREeERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZTE-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

MEFHELENHEAENHE:

Reconciliation of lease liabilities arising from
financing activities:

TRHALAEEREMEZTHNEELENES
BERERFRESED  BETDELNHEHERE

The table below details changes in the Group’s lease liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Lease liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for AHBEEREBL LI RREBESREKELREBWER
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in EREREXRTIEARETHEENEESAREN
the Group's consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from &f& o

financing activities.

2023
—E-=5F
Note HK$'000
et BT T
As at 1 January ®—HA—H 1,470 884
Changes from financing cash flows: FIZERSFKEMNEE) :
Capital element of lease rentals paid EfHEEHREWELRTE (1,110) (1,162)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEEHESHNANETE (103) (85)
Total changes from financing RMERESRENS AL
cashflows 1,213) (1,247)
Other changes: Hith& 5 :
Increase in lease liabilities mainly FAXTERBEEEEN
from renewal of leases HESBEM
during the year 1,146 1,748
Interest on lease liabilities HEEBRER 13(b) 103 85
_Totalotherchanges ... ARERE 1249 ... 1833
At 31 December »+=—BA=+—H 1,506 1,470

The notes on pages 148 to 237 form part of these financial

statements.

F148EHEE237TEMM T BRI BERRN—ZBD °
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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1

Material accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“SEHK"). Material accounting policies adopted
by the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
1(c) provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current accounting period reflected in these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 comprise the Group and the Group’s
interest in an associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis, except
for other financial assets measured at their fair values

(Note 1(i)).

1

FETFER

(@

(b)
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B i B R M5 (&)

FEEBER(E)

(b) MBHRERNEREE (E)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods. Major sources of
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estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 2. W o
(c) Changes in accounting policies (c) BETBREH

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to
HKFRSs for the current accounting period of the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current or
non-current (“2020 amendments”) and amendments
to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements
- Non-current liabilities with covenants (“2022
amendments”)

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability
in a sale and leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures -
Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments have had a material effect
on how the Group’s results and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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B i B R M5 (&)

1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods or the provision of services
in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties such as value added tax or other sales
taxes.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for
any effects of a significant financing component if the
period of financing is 12 months or less.
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B i B R M5 (&)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Revenue and other income(Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Transaction fees, handling fees and registration
fees

Revenue is recognised when the related services
have been rendered.

Annual subscription fees

Revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the period of the subscription.

Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when
the control of the goods have been transferred
to customers, which is the point in time when
the customer takes possession of and accepts
the products, and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss
on the date on which the Group’s right to receive
payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method. The “effective interest rate” is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset. In calculating interest income, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired).
However, for financial assets that have become
credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-
impaired, then the calculation of interest income
reverts to the gross basis.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Services income
Maintenance and support income

Maintenance and support income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the service period.

Others

Services income is recognised when the related
services have been rendered.

When the outcome of a contract can be reasonably
measured, revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the cost-to-cost
method, i.e. based on the proportion of the actual
costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be
reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that are
expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with the policy set out in
Note 1(0).

Other practical expedients applied

In additional, the Group has applied the practical
expedients of not disclosing the information related
to the aggregated amount of the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
if the performance obligation is part of a contract
that has an original expected duration of one year or
less.
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B i B R M5 (&)

FEEBER(E)

(e) % BMEKRE

1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1

(e) Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated in the statement of financial position at cost
less accumulated depreciation (or amortisation) and
impairment losses (Note 1(k)):

—  buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land, where the fair value of the building
could be measured separately from the fair value of
the leasehold land at the inception of the lease (see
Note 1(j));

= interest in leasehold land; and

—  other items of plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets arising from leases of underlying plant
and equipment (see Note 1(j)).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in profit or loss. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified to profit
or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements lower of 5 years or

the remaining term

of the lease
Platform hardware and software, 3 - 5years
computer and office equipment

Motor vehicles 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Building 20 years
Leasehold land unexpired term of the
lease

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(f) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences
until the date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency
transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there
is no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either
at fair value or at the NClI's proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in
the consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the company. NCI in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between NCI
and the equity shareholders of the company. Loans from
holders of NCI and other contractual obligations towards
these holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with Note 7(n) depending on the nature of the
liability.
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1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEFEEGE)

(f) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests () MEBLRRFEERERS (E)
(Continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do REBEFMREMBAREZNES (T8
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity BAREEHRE) TIERERS -

transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it ERERREMBLAREEENERT
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, TEESEERREMBARNEERE
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any & RAMEEFZERER AR EMER
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any HE - FIEBEBERMEERFEINE -
interest retained in that former subsidiary is measured at KEEFIRER - NZATHE A RRENE
fair value when control is lost. ISR AREETE -
In the Company’s statement of financial position, an EAQXTNMBEMRRRA  RHE QA
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less any WRERR AR EEMREREE (R
impairment losses (see Note 7(k)), unless the investment 1(k)) U8R - B BRRECH D EEE
is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal HERE (FFt AP EAFFEHEENHE
group that is classified as held for sale). &) AIBRIS o

(g) Associate (g) B=EnT
An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company BERNRRERNEERA QT HH B
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, MEERRBEEREZE D - BRBESH
over the financial and operating policies. HEZFNER -
An interest in an associate is accounted for using the REENRNESRERFZEZAR B
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or HEWIEREHE (S A2 BEAEFE
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for HENHERE) BRI - EREESANS
sale). They are initially recognised at cost, which includes BEAAAR HREEIZRA - HE
transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated FEMBBRRITATEBAERERED
financial statements include the Group’s share of the ANEakEMEZEKE (Hit2EK
profit or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCI") #®]) EEEAFERLEZBRILE-

of those investees, until the date on which significant
influence ceases.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(g) Associate (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to
nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity
method, together with any other long-term interests that
in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in

the associate.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is no

evidence of impairment.

In the Company’'s statement of financial position,
its investment in an associate is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 1(k)), unless classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is

classified as held for sale).

(h) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses

and is tested annually for impairment (see Note 7(k)).
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B i B R M5 (&)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEFFEE(E)
(i) Other investments in securities (i) HtEHiRE

The Group’s policies for investments in securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries and an associate, are set
out below.

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair
value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at FVPL for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss.
These investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.

(i) Non-equity investments
Non-equity investments are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash flows
which represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Expected credit losses, interest
income calculated using the effective interest
method (see Note 7(d)(v)), foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.

- FVOCI-recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment
is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both the collection
of contractual cash flows and sale. Expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated using
the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as if the financial asset was measured
at amortised cost. The difference between the
fair value and the amortised cost is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(i) Other investments in securities (Continued)

1)

(i)

Non-equity investments (Continued)

- FVPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value
of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL, unless the investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition the Group makes
an election to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Such elections are made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. If such election is made for a
particular investment, at the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings and
not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from
an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are
recognised in profit or loss as other income in
accordance with the policy set out in Note 1(d)(iv).

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case

if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.
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1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(j) Leased assets (Continued)

)

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has elected
not to separate non-lease components and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component for
all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for leases that have a short lease term of
12 months or less, and leases of low-value items
which, for the Group are primarily office equipment.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value item, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If
not capitalised, the associated lease payments are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis
over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is recognised using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss as incurred.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

)

Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-
use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see Notes 1(e) and 1(k)(ii)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted
for separately from the right-of-use assets in
accordance with the accounting policy applicable
to investments in non-equity securities carried
at amortised cost (see Note 7(i)(i)). Any excess
of the nominal value over the initial fair value of
the deposits is accounted for as additional lease
payments made and is included in the cost of right-
of use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, if there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if
the Group changes its assessment of whether it
will exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(j) Leased assets (Continued)

)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is
a lease modification, which means a change in the
scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract, if
such modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case, the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities
is determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs") on:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents and trade
and other receivables);

- contract assets (see Note 7(/)); and

- non-equity securities measured at FVOCI
(recycling) (see Note 1(i)(i)).
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash shortfalls
between the contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls of fixed-rate financial
assets, trade and other receivables and contract
assets are discounted using effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an approximation
thereof where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date
(or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months); and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that result from
all possible default events over the expected
lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.
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1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date
of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs
when the financial asset is more than two years
past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

-  failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’'s external or internal
credit rating (if available);
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’'s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in non-equity securities that are
measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the fair value reserve
(recycling) does not reduce the carrying amount
of the financial asset in the statement of financial
position.
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1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the
recovery occurs.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than inventories and other contract costs, contract
assets and deferred tax assets) to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
cash-generating units (“CGU"s). Goodwill arising
from a business combination is allocated to CGUs
or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal. Value in use is based on the
estimated future cash flows, discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or
CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
They are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and
then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other
assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the resulting carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
Group is required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period,
the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the
end of the financial year (see Note 1(k)(i)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill are not reversed in a
subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at the end of the
financial year to which the interim period relates.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

0]

(m)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see Note 7(d)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the
payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets
are assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set
out in Note 1(k) and are reclassified to receivables when
the right to the consideration has become unconditional
(see Note 1(m)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see Note 7(d)). A contract liability is
also recognised if the Group has an unconditional right
to receive non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such latter cases, a
corresponding receivable is also recognised (see Note

1(m)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see Note

1(d)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a
significant financing component and other receivables
are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost
(see Note 1(k)(i)).
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1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEFFEE(E)
(n) Trade and other payables (n) FE(IRFENREH{hFESFRIE

(0)

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the
underlying products or services are sold, based on
historical warranty data and a weighting of possible
outcomes against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of
continuing with the contract, which is determined based
on the incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation under
that contract and an allocation of other costs directly
related to fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is
established, the Group recognises any impairment loss on
the assets associated with that contract (see Note 7(k)

(i0)).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(o) Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(p)

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising
from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(p)

Income tax (Continued)

- temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the
extent that the group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future;

—  taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which they can be used. Future
taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of
relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of
taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise
a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences,
are considered, based on the business plans for
individual subsidiaries in the group. Deferred tax assets
are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed
when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(q) Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation to pay
this amount as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service
is provided.

Defined benefit plan obligations

The Group has the defined benefit plan of LSP under
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

For LSP obligations, the estimated amount of future
benefit is determined after deducting the negative
service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that
have been vested with employees, which are deemed
to be contributions from the relevant employees.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is
based on the projected unit credit method.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans,
which comprise actuarial gains and losses, and the
effect of any asset ceiling (excluding interest), are
recognised immediately in OCI. Net interest expense
for the period is determined by applying the discount
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation
at the beginning of the reporting period to the then
net defined benefit liability, taking into account any
changes in the net defined benefit liability during
the period. Net interest expense and other expenses
related to defined benefit plans are recognised in
profit or loss.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(q) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Share based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date
using the Black-Scholes model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to those share options, the total estimated
fair value of the share options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of share options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price
of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is included in the
amount recognised in share capital for the shares
issued) or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

()

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of Group companies at
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised in profit or loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from
the translation of an investment in equity securities
designated as at FVOCI is recognised in OCI.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
acquisition, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and
expenses of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the
extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.
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FEEBER(E)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1

(r

(s)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or
partially such that control, significant influence or joint
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the exchange
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified
to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
On disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to that foreign operation that have
been attributed to the NCI shall be derecognised, but shall
not be reclassified to profit or loss. If the Group disposes
of part of its interest in a subsidiary but retains control,
then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is
reattributed to NCI. When the Group disposes of only part
of an associate or joint venture while retaining significant
influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties
are considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(s) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity
is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in Note 1(s)(a).

A person identified in Note 7(s)(a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which

it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.
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FEEBER(E)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued) 1

®

(w)

(v)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL in accordance with the policy set out in Note 17(k).

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil
a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
property, plant and equipment (see Note 1(g)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract, e.g. sales
commissions, are capitalised if the costs relate to
revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are expensed when
incurred.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(v) Other contract costs (Continued)

(w)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services
in the future; and are expected to be recovered.
Otherwise, costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is recognised
in profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset
relates is recognised (see Note 1(d)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on
a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and consequently are effectively recognised in profit or
loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.
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Accounting judgements and estimates

Key sources of estimation uncertainty in relation to the
preparation of these financial statements are as follows:

Goodwill

Note 14(b) discloses management’s judgement in relation
to the identification of the Group’s E-Commerce segment as
the appropriate cash generating unit for goodwill impairment
assessment. Further to that, management takes into
consideration the projected volume and activity level and cash
flows of the E-Commerce businesses, discounted to present
value at a risk-adjusted discount rate. These projections
are based on assumptions that take into consideration
management’s knowledge of the business environment and
their judgement on future performance. There is inherent
uncertainty in the estimation process and the underlying
assumptions relating to the future, and accordingly actual
performance may differ significantly from the projection.

Revenue

The principal business of the Group is the provision of
Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS”) for
processing certain official trade-related documents. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 74 to
the financial statements.

Revenue represents the value of services provided and goods
supplied to customers. All of the Group’s revenue is within the
scope of HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers.
The amount of each significant category of revenue
recognised during the year is disclosed in Note 4.

Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from customers
are set out in Note 23(a).
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4 Segment reporting 4 SEBEFHRE

The Board of Directors of the Group reviews the internal FEBESEERS) BEHAIBRE - AT

reporting by segments to assess performance and allocate RERSPHRER - FEBCREF THUTE2HS

resources. The Group has identified the following reportable 0

segments:

E-Commerce: This segment generates income from ETHE: WoHEBAAEEMNGETSK
the Group’s GETS and Supply Chain EHEERATREREA -
Solutions.

Identity This segment generates income from the FHER: WLoBERBHBGIERE -

Management: provision of digital certificate services, REZERRSBEEEMHEHR

security products and biometric-based ERRFTRERBA
authentication solutions for identity
management.

Other Services: This segment comprises handling fees HifR# @ WoBEEAREREFXMHR
for paper-to-electronic conversion BHEEE  URIABEAR
services, and income from payment FREHEMBESERHOUWA

technology solutions and other projects.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable H&(ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁi‘iﬁﬁ%—fze%ﬁ“ﬁﬂﬁﬁ*%E’Jﬁ)ﬂ&
segments with reference to fees and sales generated and the HEBURFEENBIMOREZE@EDEL
expenses incurred by those segments. The measure used for ﬁﬁjzﬁ’\ﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬂ’ﬁfiﬁ_t%Wﬁﬂ,m
reporting segment results is profit before interest, taxation and HERFTERGA] -

depreciation.
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4 Segment reporting (Continued) 4 DEHE (E)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by REAWRZEFBIVINZEFEHRE  URIE
timing of revenue recognition, as well as information regarding HFEEGUMEERIB RS BRRTFENE
the Group's reportable segments results as provided to the BAREBE-_ZT_NER-_ZE-_=F+=-A
Board of Directors for the purposes of resource allocation and ES+—HLFEEAME2HRSMBEENERTIZ D
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31 e

December 2024 and 2023 are set out below.

31 December 2024
—E2-m&E+=HA=+—H
Identity Other

E-Commerce Management Services Total
BEYHE BHER H{th AR gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T BT BETT

Disaggregated by timing of revenue R K 25

recognition
Point in time s 135,138 7,015 16,498 158,651
Over time b B R 36,561 38,794 13,619 88,974
Revenue from external customers  SMBE F I 2% 171,699 45,809 30,117 247,625
Inter-segment revenue 2 EE W E - 7,825 6,905 14,730
Reportable segment revenue T 27Uk 2s 171,699 53,634 37,022 262,355
Elimination of inter-segment revenue 3 852 &b [ U & (14,730)
Consolidated revenue FAaas 247,625
Reportable segment profit A2 K7 EiEF 54,965 3,321 18,413 76,699
Depreciation e (9,348)
Other net income Hib W A F 5 21,405
Share of results of an associate i —EEE AR EER 529

Consolidated profit before taxation &= & B i 51 i& % 89,285
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4 Segment reporting (Continued) 4 DEHE (E)

31 December 2023
—g-=f+t-A=+-8

Identity Other
E-Commerce Management Services Total
EFHE BER H 1 R 7% mst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT BEETT

Disaggregated by timing of revenue UK 25

recognition
Point in time BNEF 128,520 12,114 20,193 160,827
Over time e B R 35177 56,773 13,834 105,784
Revenue from external customers ~ JMEF Ui zs 163,697 68,887 34,027 266,611
Inter-segment revenue 7 Uk = - 7,817 6,901 14,718
Reportable segment revenue T 2H MUk 163,697 76,704 40,928 281,329
Elimination of inter-segment revenue 3 852 &b [ Ut & (14,718)
Consolidated revenue el 266,611
Reportable segment profit 28K 7 EiEF 50,219 16,232 20,660 87,111
Depreciation e (8,925)
Other net income Hi W A5 32,161
Share of results of an associate it —EBE D REE 705

Consolidated profit before taxation %= & BRI iE % 111,052




—Eomass BREETESEMRAT | 183 £

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B i B R M5 (&)

4 Segment reporting (Continued)

0]

(i)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

As at 31 December 2024, there is no transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
under the Group’s existing contracts (2023: Nil). This
amount represents revenue expected to be recognised
in the future from services contracts entered into by the
customers with the Group.

The Group has applied the following practical expedients
in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
provision of services such that the above information
does not include information about the revenue if either
of the following conditions is met:

(a) the performance obligation is part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year or less;
or

(b) the entity applies the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.B16 such that it recognises revenue at the
amount to which it has a right to invoice, which
corresponds directly to the value to the customer
of the entity’s performance completed to date (e.g.
a service contract in which the entity bills a fixed
amount for each hour of service provided).

Geographic information

No geographic information is shown as the revenue and
operating profit of the Group is substantially derived from
activities in Hong Kong.
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5 Profit before taxation 5 BR¥AIEF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: BREBIADERIE kR
2024 2023
—E-lmE —E-=F
Note HK$’'000 HKS$'000
Btat BETT BT T
(a) Staff costs: (@) EERA:
Contributions to defined R EMFGRIRET BIHE R
contribution retirement plan 2,909 3,090
Equity-settled share-based DRBEEEL RSB
payment expenses ERTAANEX 79 338
Salaries, wages and other HE ITEREMER
benefits 110,098 116,705
113,086 120,133
(b) Depreciation: (Note 13) (b) #TE: (Mit13)
Owned property, plant and BEYE BERZE
equipment 6,402 5,964
Right-of-use assets FRHEEE 2,946 2,961
9,348 8,925
(c) Other operating expenses: (c) HttR=ERX:
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEN B & 1,088 1,099
Directors’ fees and emoluments EEEe NS 1,920 2,251
Facilities management fees RBEEEE 4,911 4,806
Repair and maintenance fees HERREE 5,639 6,099
Office rental and utilities MAEHERAARME 3,818 4,015
Consultancy fees BHE 2,654 2,585
Telecommunication costs ESE 9 1,719 1,749
Promotion and marketing EERMSERX
expenses 1,012 1,999
Recruitment fees HEE 450 532
Listing expenses FHAX 1,033 1,034
Legal and professional fees EEREXEE 1,768 445
Service fees to business partners FTFEBEEZRHFORKEE 2,080 1,498
Impairment loss on trade EWEREENEE
receivables and contract RABEEE (#7123 (a))
assets (Note 23(a)) 4,392 379
Others Hitb (i) 3,523 3,120
36,007 31,611
(i) Others include travelling, insurance, and other office and () HtheEEk REEEMHAR —RE

general expenses. ¥ o
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6 Other net income 6 HtWAFRE
2024 2023
—E-lmE —E-=F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bz BET T BT T
Interest income FEUWA 22,580 20,412
Net foreign exchange loss EREEFRE (1,847) (342)
Other income H g A 672 47
Reversal of impairment loss on R—EBEATERN
interest in an associate BB R B E 15 - 4,719
Gain on disposal of non-current HESEABELEEEN
assets classified as assets FRBEENKRE
held for sale (a) — 6,805
Government grants for Research and REM 3R & [0 5+ 2
Development Cash Rebate Scheme  E/F#bi& (b) - 520
21,405 32,161
(a) On 24 July 2023, the process of disposal transaction of (a) R=ZZE-=FtA=-+WA  OEESF
the entire interest of 20% of Guangdong Nanfang Haian ¥ (FE)BRLAAEEMFENER
Science & Technology Service Company Limited to 8% BHEFREREER D RN EIP20%E
BEFE(PE)ER2LE was completed and a gain on HZHHEXSEFERTA > WHEAHEK
disposal (including the release of the corresponding % B #56,805,0007T (B IE MR RR £ AT E R
exchange difference previously kept in the exchange ERFEBNEEREYZ5E) -

reserve) of HK$6,805,000 was recognised.

(b) In 2023, the Group successfully applied for funding (b) R=ZZ-=F  AEEXIIHBBFRL
support from the Research and Development Cash Rebate WIREFHIE BB EIMNEDR) o ZETE
Scheme, set up by the Government. The purpose of EEMARCENRIMBERMYE  WHESZE
the scheme is to reinforce the research culture among B EARM N E R EBIGESE o

business enterprises and encourage them to establish
stronger partnership with designated local public
research institutions.
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B i B R M5 (&)

7 Income tax in the consolidated statement 7 GEBEXRNMEH
of profit or loss

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or (a) HEBBKROIMES
loss represents:

2024 2023
—F-mEF —2=-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT AETT

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax A% - FEFIEH

Provision for the year KEERE 7,865 9,235
Over-provision in respect of prior year X EHBEEEE 9) (18)
N - . e AT

Current tax - outside Hong Kong AHAFRIE - FRIES
_Over-provision In respect of prior year | MEFEBEBBME (133) -

Deferred taxation B8

Reversal and origination of temporary BEIRE+XEKEL
e D) L2l

7,327 10,413

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 is “ECMENEBFESHBEIIRAEE
calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the estimated AT ERBEFMI6.5% (==
assessable profits for the year, except for the Company 16.5%) 55  ERLQ B BEWHRGEFESH
which is a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered BHETHEERQT  ABIdE &
Profits Tax rate regime. Taxation for subsidiaries outside BB ARNBIEDREEBERN
Hong Kong is charged at the appropriate current rates of BRARITH R -

taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

For the Company, the first HK$2 million of assessable MAATME B A%2,000,0007T K FE
profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable RBURFIIE8.25% Bl - MERAT AAERBL
profits are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong A AIR16.5% 8 - sTEAQATNEE
Profits Tax for the Company was calculated at the same MEBBRERMANEEE T =

basis in 2023. AR e
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B i B R M5 (&)

HEBRERNAEH (&)

7 Income tax in the consolidated statement 7
of profit or loss (Continued)

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or (a) FAESKRNBIIES (B)
loss represents: (Continued)
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 and RIBEB(BBEGRGADKM RIS — B
2023 take into account the enhanced Research and FREZBZ=ZFNEBAERBHET R

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (b) HEBAREAENRIEZ HEFET
profit at applicable tax rates: HIRWMT :
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Profit before taxation BRBERER 89,285 111,052
Notional tax on profit before taxation, 1R 15 18 &8 Bl = & A 19 A 18 B Bt %
calculated at the rates applicable to EBRBANERGTTEN R ERIE
profits in the countries concerned 14,637 18,929
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 7~ 8] #1138 B8 X Hy i 75 57 & 512 1,796
Tax effect of non-taxable income FRBRENBBEE (4,224) (7,809)
Tax effect of prior years’ unrecognised FAUEFERERHEBEN
tax losses utilised B e (358) (535)
Statutory tax concession EEBRERE (3,098) (1,950)
Over-provision in respect of prior years I F EBRERE (142) (18)
Actual tax expense EBRFIESH 7,327 10,413

Development tax deductions claimed on staff costs
incurred during the year, pursuant to Schedule 45 of the
Hong Kong Inland Revenue Ordinance. The qualifying
expenditure is entitled to enhanced two-tiered tax
deductions, i.e. 300% for the first HK$2 million and 200%
for the remaining amount.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 takes
into account a reduction granted by the Government
of 100% of the tax payable for the year of assessment
2023/24 subject to a maximum reduction of HK$3,000 for
each business (2023: a maximum reduction of HK$6,000
was granted for the year of assessment 2022/23 and was
taken into account in calculating the provision for 2023).

FRNEELERERAFMHRRNEIMIER
BRBEBINR - SERAXAERZEEN
AR I B 7% 008 - B & 8 #52,000,0007T
MERFE S Bl T 300% K% 200%H 75 138 °

“E_NENEBANEHEBAN REUST
RoBo=F “NERRFENEN
iR A % A9 100% R 88 “I,E%ﬁ%ai
SIEESBE3 000 (Z22=F:1 =
EoCE /CCERBEERHEESN
WA B 6,000t ERFE=ZZT==F
BERCHRULDRE) -
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B i B R M5 (&)

8 Income tax in the consolidated statement 8 HGZEMBRAARNMEH

of financial position

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HEMBAKRROAEBHRIES :

financial position represents:

2024 2023
—EMEF —E=-=
HK$'000 HKS$'000
BT BT T
Provision for Hong Kong Profits TEEEBRNEHEHE
Tax for the year 7,865 9,235
Provisional Profits Tax paid ENEHFEH (6,973) (5,591)
892 3,644
Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax NEEERBRNEBBESR
provision relating to prior years 1,000 1,062
Balance of tax provision outside Hong MU FEEBRIIHIBREL R
Kong relating to prior years = 133
1,892 4,839
Representing: 1
Taxation recoverable recognised ERGEMBEMRRTRERN
in the consolidated statement A Uy 2 i 18
of financial position (509) =
Taxation payable recognised in the ERGEMBEMRRTRERN
consolidated statement of financial R
position 2,401 4,839
1,892 4,839
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B i B R M5 (&)

8 Income tax in the consolidated statement 8 LGAMBRARMAEBH ()
of financial position (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) BHEINELHEBEEERAERE:
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) ERGEUBRAERBERANELRE
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial BE/ (BB MARBIREREE M
position and the movements during the year are as N
follows:

Depreciation

allowances
in excess of
related Credit loss
Deferred tax arising from: RETHRENELERSE : depreciation allowance Total
rEH % B =
HEATE BIRBE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETRT

As at 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=%—-A—H (1,006) 137 (869)
Charged to profit or loss REZRINR (1,115) (81) (1,196)
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=$+=-A=+—H (2,121) 56 (2,065)
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss ~ R#B#&E & (1K) /3t A (154) 550 396

As at 31 December 2024 R-FE-ME+=-A=+—8H (2,275) 606 (1,669)
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B i B R M5 (&)

8 Income tax in the consolidated statement 8 LGAMBRARMAEBH ()
of financial position (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) EEZFNEEREEEREE : (B)
(Continued)

2024 2023
—E-F =S
HK$'000 HKS$'000
BT BT T
Representing: 15
Deferred tax assets on the REMBMRTRAN
consolidated statement of BEBBEEE
financial position 606 56
Deferred tax liabilities on the FREMBRRERAN
consolidated statement of BLEFEESF
financial position (2,275) (2,127)
(1,669) (2,065)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RBEHR AEENHEEBLE
total tax losses of HK$156,000 (2023: HK$2,328,000). RHBEI56,000T (ZE=Z=F B
The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in 2,328,0007T) ° 7 £ B 3 & 7 R 5+ 1E
respect of cumulative tax losses of HK$156,000 (2023: E5E B 1156000 (ZE-=F : B
HK$2,328,000) as it is not probable that future taxable 2,328,000%) RELEHREEE  REA
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be FATEETSAZZEEBUEREN
available. The tax losses do not expire under current tax RRERBURF  BIBRITHIBEES > B

legislation. 16 518 30 2 fE W HA IR o
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B i B R M5 (&)

9 Directors’ and chief executives’ 9 EERESTRASHS
emoluments
RIEE B (A TRGI) 5£383(1) R R (2 & (I

BESFNRER) RADE2BIRENEETHNE
T

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation is as follows:

Other
emoluments
in connection
with the LE
management salaries,
of the affairs  allowances Contributions Share-

of the and other  to retirement based 2024

Company benefits schemes Bonus*  payments Total

HHER EXEHe
ARAEHKH 2ER BIR5HE Nkips —B=MF
e Hite HitiEH # i EEMXA &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BETR BETR BRI BRI BETT

Executive directors HITEE

YUEN Man Chung(" RRABO - - 1,417 6 - - 1,423
CHENG Chun Chung Andrew P52 - - 3,205 18 811 40 4,074
TSE Kam Keung® HigE0 - - 3,748 12 4,045 - 7,805
CHUNG Shun Kwan® o] Rl - - 2,167 - 661 - 2,828

Non-executive directors ~ FHTEE

LEE Harry Nai Shee ZhE 140 - - - - - 140
LEE Delman ZEX 100 - - - - - 100
YING Tze Man® HER® 48 - - - - - 48
YUEN Wing Sang Vincent ~ ®k% 100 - - - - - 100

Independent non-executive BIFHTES

directors
CHAK Hubert Bn 338 - - - - - 338
CHAN Chi Yan® REEO 131 - - - - - 131
CHAU Tak Hay BER 358 - - - - - 358
CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus® R/ #0) 212 - - - - - 212
CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy?  E#&E7 155 - - - - - 155
LIN Sun Mo Willy KEH 338 - - - - - 338

Total EH) 1,920

10,537 36 5,517 40 18,050
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B i B R M5 (&)

9 Directors’ and chief executives’ 9 EERERSITHRAEME ()
emoluments (Continued)
Pursuant to paragraph 24.5 of Appendix D2 of the Listing RIEE BT L AR AIKi $%D25524.58% » &
Rules of the SEHK, the emoluments of the chief executives’ are SITHAENMESHENT !

disclosed as follows:

Other
emoluments
in connection
with the LE
management salaries,
of the affairs  allowances Contributions Share-

of the and other to retirement based 2024

Company benefits schemes payments Total

HHER EXEe
ARAEHH 2ER EIKaHE Ukips —B=MF
e Hite HitiEH 3 i BRORA a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BETR BETR BRI BRI BRI

Chief Executive Officer -  BETHAH
designate
YUEN Man Chung® =R - - 675 2 - - 677

Chief Executive Officer THEH

TSE Kam Keung® HizEe - - 550 2 274 - 826

Total ) - - 1225 4 274 - 1,503

Notes: Miat -

(1) Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. has been appointed as an Executive (1) ERBL4 SBSEZMIBHITEF(HE)
director (“ED”) with effect from 1 September 2024. BE-ZE-MFEAH—HBE -

(2) Mr. TSE Kam Keung stepped down as an ED with effect from (2) BB ALANIHE B FE-WEAH— A
1 September 2024. £ e

(3) Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan retired as an ED with effect from 1 August (3) HEEHRL+EIHE BHE-_E-WENF—HE
2024. Lo

(4) Mr. YING Tze Man retired as a Non-executive director (“NED”) with (4) HFNEERATHHATEZ(HHE) BE=F

effect from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM. ZERREFASLERELER
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9 Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

®)

(6)

?)

(8)

)

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan retired as an Independent non-executive director
(“INED”) with effect from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus has been appointed as an INED with
effect from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy retired as an INED with effect from the
conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. has been appointed as Chief Executive
Officer-designate on 1 July 2024 and re-designated as Chief Executive
Officer on 1 October 2024.

Mr. TSE Kam Keung stepped down as Chief Executive Officer on
1 October 2024.

9 EERERITBRAEME (&)

(6)

7)

(8

)

BEEL Lt REBYHHTEELE((BE]) =
EoMERFRBFACERELNS -

RARLTEEFREE H-F-HNFRRE
FAESBREER -

EREEEREBE H-F-MFRRAFA
BRARELEH -

REBLELE SBSR-FE-IMELH—HEEF
BRETEAH R-FEZDFE+H—HAED
TTHAEE

HERIELER - FEZWF+ A — A HETRAAR -
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B i B R M5 (&)

9 Directors’ and chief executives’ 9 BEENBRSITHAEME (8)
emoluments (Continued)

Other
emoluments
in connection
with the Basic
management salaries,
of the affairs  allowances Contributions Share-
of the and other  to retirement based 2023
Fees Company benefits schemes Bonus* payments Total
BBER EXEs
ONGIES 31 2ER BRGTE UR#BA —B-Z%
ik HihEe Hitn g7 A A EERNZA &%t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETR  BRTx BRTx ERIx BRI BEIx

Executive directors HiTES

TSE Kam Keung EE - - 5270 18 2137 157 7,582
CHENG Chun Chung Andrew {24 - - 3,145 18 752 62 3,977
CHUNG Shun Kwan o] ¥ - - 2,988 - 488 66 3,542

Non-executive directors ~ FHTEZE

LEE Harry Nai Shee ZhiE 140 - - - - - 140
LEE Delman ZEK 100 = 4 = = = 104
YING Tze Man BFX 120 - 4 - - - 124
YUEN Wing Sang Vincent ~ ®RXk% 100 - 4 - - - 104
Independent non-executive BIFHTES
directors
CHAK Hubert il 350 = 4 = = = 354
CHAN Chi Yan REE 330 = 4 = = = 334
CHAU Tak Hay BER 370 - 4 - - = 374
CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy % 390 - 4 - - - 394
HO Lap Kee Mg
(retired on 12 May 2023)  (R=B==%
RATZHER) 127 - 4 - - - 131
LIN Sun Mo Willy RER
(appointed on 12 May (R=Z==%
2023) LAT-HE
Zft) 224 = = = = = 224
Total At 2251 - 11,435 36 3377 285 17,384
*  Bonus represented actual bonus paid during the year * TEALIEF A B (T HE R FEAL
The above emoluments include the value of share options I BEREBEAATBREFERTFET
granted to certain directors and chief executive under the EERTHEATIVERERITE QBN MEE
Company'’s share option schemes, as estimated at the date of EBE LtAEYNEZNFECRESETREE
grant. Details of these benefits in kind are disclosed under the [BBIRESTE | —EIRE -

section “Share Option Scheme” in the Directors’ Report.
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10 Individuals with highest emoluments 10 RE#EFAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, four FA BEBREFALTHAZ(ZZE==
(2023: three) are directors during the year whose emoluments ZR)AES HENHNESORIZIEE - 8
are disclosed in Note 9. For the year ended 31 December E-E_NE+ZA=+—BLEE Z0EA
2024, two of these four directors were in the directorship for EEPHMBETEEFE —F - WEFIEMR
only part of the year. The portions of their emoluments that EEHENHEHT IR TIXEE =R (=ZF
were not attributable to the period during which they were TEF WMB)ATZMEABENT ¢

in directorship were disclosed below. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the three (2023: two) individuals are

as follows:
2024 2023
—EME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Salaries and other emoluments HeRhEMMS 3,311 3,111
Share-based payments URHBAERMNZ A 5 22
Retirement scheme contributions EIRGTEIMRK 21 36
3,337 3,169
The emoluments of the above three (2023: two) individuals L= (ZZ=_=F :WMB) ZxoF A LM
with the highest emoluments are within the following bands: SABEENT :
2024 2023
—E-lmE —E-=5
Number of Number of
HK$ BT Individuals Individuals
A A"
Under 1,000,001 4~ 21,000,001 2 =

1,500,001 - 2,000,000 1,500,001 - 2,000,000 1 2
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B i B R M5 (&)

11 Dividends

(a) Dividends payable to ordinary equity shareholders of
the Company attributable to the year

11 IR

n
3=

(a) AFEERNAATEERRESAAN

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Interim dividend declared and EEIRRIKAHH IR S
paid of HK 3.7 cents per share BRI7EW(ZE==
(2023: HK 3.7 cents per share) FR3.7784) 29,401 29,401
Final dividend proposed after REBZFRDBITRER
the end of the reporting period REHREBRKNRBARE
of HK 6.4 cents per share gR64EBW(=ZE==
(2023: HK 6.3 cents per share) FhR6.3781L)
based on issued share capital
as at the year end 50,857 50,062
80,258 79,463

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of

the reporting period.

SHREIAREE -

R HI R R B TR B9 K 3 IR B 30 R R 3R
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11 Dividends (Continued) 11 KRR (&)
(b) Dividends payable to ordinary equity shareholders of (b) BERL—EHBEE  RFRAMER
the Company attributable to the previous financial R FARATNEBERBERSE ANERS
year, approved and paid during the year kR

2024 2023
—E2EOE —E-=8F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T

Final dividend in respect of the previous BR Lt —{EMBFE @ WA F R

financial year, approved and paid BERIKAHNARERESR6.3E
during the year of HK 6.3 cents per W(ZZB==%F : §R4.6784)
share (2023: HK 4.67 cents per share) 50,062 37,109

Nil special dividend in respect of the EERL—EAMREE ¥R
previous financial year, approved and ~ FR#t/ERIR B 4F 5 S

paid during the year (2023: HK 2.75 —E-=F §KR27534)
cents per share) - 21,853
50,062 58,962
12 Earnings per share 12 BRER

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the ERERBFDBRERALAAEZBERRERSE
profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the A FE{h & F 78 #581,958,000t (ZE = =4 :
Company of HK$81,958,000 (2023: HK$100,639,000) and the 7 #100,639,000T) R FREBBITEBRH
weighted average number of 794,634,000 ordinary shares hn#ESE 19 IR (794,634,000 (ZE = =4 :
(2023: 794,634,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the year. 794,634,000 Z i@ AR ) 5T & o
Basic earnings per share is the same as diluted earnings per ERARLTEEZEHRERSD  WERESER

share as the Company has no dilutive potential shares. HER#EERFER -
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13 Property, plant and equipment 13 W% - BERR
(a) Carrying amount (a) ERE{E

Platform
hardware Ownership
and software, interest in Other
computer [and and properties
Leasehold and office Motor Furniture  building held leased

improvements  equipment vehicles  and fixtures  forownuse for own use

TaEAR BEERN
&4 TER tREr BEFERN
HENERE  BOER RE  BRRRE  AEEER Hithg st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BRI BT BT BHTT BNt BRI

Cost; B

As at 1 January 2024 RZE-mE-F-H 18,322 178,585 1,651 3,282 39,268 6,032 247,140
Additions AE = 8,501 - = = 950 9451
Disposals RE - (170) - (12) - - (182)

Asat31December2024 ~ WZEZRE
+-A=1-R 1832 186916 1651 3270 30,268 6982 256409

Accumulated depreciation: ~ RitHTE :

As at 1 January 2024 R-E-ME-A-A 16,049 163,389 534 3,249 33,844 4,592 221,657
Charge for the year Ehmx 925 5210 389 16 1,805 1,003 9,348
Written back on disposals ~ EEHFE - (167) - (12) - - (179)

Asat31December 2024  R-B-ME

_________________ ToASTOR o M694 e 93 3288 38649 595 230826
Net book value: RESE:
Asat31December2024 ~ WZE-Mm%
TZHA=1-H 1,348 18,484 728 17 3,619 1,387 25,583
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13 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 13 W% - MERRME (&)

(a) Carrying amount (Continued) (a) BRME{E (&)
Platform
hardware Ownership
and software, interest in Other
computer land and properties
Leasehold and office Motor Furniture  building held leased
improvements equipment vehicles and fixtures ~ forownuse  for own use Total
TRERR KRN
EGEE ) 1#RET HEFARN
BENEEE  HOERE RE GHRRE  EREER Efi% &3t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
BETR BRTR AR AR AR BETR BETR

Cost: A
As at 1 January 2023 R-B-=£-5-H 18251 170,822 1278 3282 39,268 4278 237179
Additions AE 71 10,662 1,166 = = 1,754 13,653
Disposals RE = (2899) (1%3) = = = (3692)
Asat31December 2023 ~ WZE=-=F

_________________ ToRSTSR e eSS e 30 B8 608 27140
Accumulated depreciation: ~ Rit1TE :
As at 1 January 2023 R-Z-=£-5-H 15013 161,292 1278 3233 32,039 3,568 216,423
Charge for the year ERR% 1,036 4995 49 16 1805 1024 8925
Written back on disposals ~ EEE - (2,89) (793) - - - (3691)
Asat31December2023 ~ WIE=Z#

_________________ TTASTCR J6Me ey S M9 e 4R 21657
Net book value: REFE:
Asat31December 2023 ~ WZE==f

TZRZt-H 2273 15,196 m7 33 5424 1,440 25483
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13 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 13 W% - MERRME (&)

(b) Right-of-use assets (b) FHEESE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets FRAREERHBEEEERNS S WIRE
by class of underlying asset is as follows: FEINOT
2024 2023
—EWE —E-=F
Note HK$'000 HKS$'000
HraE BETT BT T

Ownership interest in leasehold land REBFEEANEE L
and building in Hong Kong held for REFHEBERESZ

own use, carried at depreciated RITERATIER - FIgk
cost, with remaining lease term FAENF10ZE505F
between 10 and 50 years (i) 3,619 5,424

Other properties leased for own use, EEBANWEMYE
carried at depreciated cost BRI E R AR (ii) 1,387 1,440

Platform hardware and software, TREHREY K
computer and office equipment, WMAERE  BITE
carried at depreciated cost A5 BR (iii) 81 22

5,087 6,886
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13 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 13 Y% - BMERRE (&)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (b) EHEEE (&)
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases REHETERABERNBEXER 2 W
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: T

2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
BT BT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use FRREEEREAEEERNEISHN
assets by class of underlying asset:  #HTEXH :

Ownership interests in leasehold land HE T REFWEEERER

and building 1,805 1,805
Other properties leased for own use HEEBANEMYE 1,003 1,024
Platform hardware and software, TEEHREYS  SHE

computer and office equipment, MAERE BITERATE

carried at depreciated cost 138 132

2,946 2,961
Interest on lease liabilities HEEBERE 103 85
Expense relating to short-term leases HBEREEHHEENHEX 582 631

Expense relating to leases of low-value EEEKEBEEEHENHL  TE8HF
assets, excluding short-term leases KEEENEHEE

of low-value assets 141 98
During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were FR EAEEERNEBRIS0,000T
HK$950,000 (2023: HK$1,754,000). The amount mainly (ZEZ=% :#B¥1,754,000T) - &Z <&
related to the capitalised lease payments payable under BXrEAERBEEENERERESN
renewed rental agreements. BEARCEEFK -

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity HENBEESREHABREESERSA
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in the consolidated PMNHEEIAERGERENERR

cash flow statement and Note 18(e), respectively. Btat18(e) °
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13 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings
held for own use

The Group holds a building for its office. The
Group is the registered owner of the property
interest, including part of undivided share in the
underlying land. Lump sum payment was made
upfront to acquire the property interest from the
previous registered owner, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of the land
lease, other than payments based on rateable values
set by the relevant government authority. These
payments vary from time to time and are payable to
the relevant government authority.

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other
properties as its office, warehouse, service centre
and carpark through tenancy agreements. The
leases typically run for an initial period of two to four
years.

The leases do not include an option to renew the
lease for an additional period after the end of the
contract term. None of the leases contains variable
lease payments.

Other leases

The Group leases platform hardware and software,
computer and office equipment under leases
expiring for four years. Leases do not include
an option to renew the lease when all terms are
renegotiated and do not include an option to
purchase the leased equipment at the end of the
lease term at a price deemed to be a bargain
purchase option. None of the leases includes
variable lease payments.

13 Y% - BMER®HE (E)

(b) EREEE (&)

0]

(i)

(iif)

BEERASELHREFHEERE
s

FEESEEEFEREPRLE K
SEAMEES (BEEABELHER
ADEEEN WMD) NETHER
A —EBFACERAY LAB
FEREEABADEXES  BH
ARBHBERRELFESK E
ZEBBARERENEREZ WA
BEEHOTREN - ZEFRTE
HE o WA TFHBEBRTHE -

HEFERNEMYE
AEECFEBHEE RIS ERE
RHEMMERHEBRAZE - 2E R
BRoREES -HE-RAER
HMEME o

HEYTBERENFHRERRE
BHERINBENRER - HEM

ERsUEHAENH -

HinHE

FEERBEROFREANENESR
FEEARBMN BEREBRIER
B HELFTEERENEARA
GEREEFEHENRER AXF
BEREEFHERKEERAER
EREERENERBEREREN
2EE -SEHAEESTEEEN

=
o
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14 Interest in subsidiaries 14 FriGM B AT
(a) Details of the subsidiaries which principally affected (a) EEFEFEEEE EEDEENM
the results, assets or liabilities of the Group are as BOBFHEAT :
follows:

Proportion of

Place of Particulars of ownership
incorporation/ issued and interest
establishment paid up held by the
Name of company and operation capital Company Principal activity
HARQE
MR BRITR KENEEE
AR RIREEME BEBRAHE ExEolt TEER
Digi-Sign Certification Services Hong Kong 10,000 shares 100% Certificate authority services
Limited BB 10,000 A& B 43 EERERE
EFRERBERDH
Trade Facilitation Services Limited ~ Hong Kong 50,000 shares 100% Dormant
EE 50,0004 B 12 UmER
Digital Trade and Transportation Hong Kong 41,000,000 shares 100% Provision of electronic messaging
Network Limited g 41,000,0008% % 2 routing and transformation
YEESEHRBERAR services
RUSFAEERRERRHE
Tradelink PayTech Solutions Limited Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares 100% Payment technology solution
BEFRERIARHE EE 1,000,000 A& i 7 IARBEBATER
BRAR
B5B(RM)—-A Macau MOP25,000 100%  Provision of e-commerce services
BERAF 4! 1R P9 #25,0007T RUSTHERSB
ENERZBEFRE PRC RMB500,000 100%  Provision of e-commerce and
BRAR" HE AR #500,0007T e-logistics services

RUEETHERETWRRYE
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14 Interest in subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Details of the subsidiaries which principally affected
the results, assets or liabilities of the Group are as
follows: (Continued)

Each of these is controlled subsidiaries as defined under
Note 1(f) and have been consolidated into the Group’s
financial statements.

# Subsidiary not audited by KPMG. The financial statements of the
subsidiary not audited by KPMG reflect total net assets and total
revenue constituting less than 1% of the respective consolidated
totals.

Company registered as a wholly-foreign owned enterprise in the
PRC.

Goodwill

The goodwill recognised by the Group arose from the
acquisition of Digital Trade and Transportation Network
Limited (“DTTNCo0") in 2009 and is attributable mainly
to the technical expertise, intellectual property and the
synergies expected to be achieved from integrating
DTTNCo into the Group’s existing business and
customer base. The goodwill has a carrying amount of
HK$9,976,000 since the acquisition date of 26 March
20009.

The E-Commerce segment of the Group is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition of DTTNCo
in entirety, and there are no other units within the Group
that the goodwill can be appropriately allocated to.
Accordingly, the E-=Commerce segment is identified as the
cash-generating unit (“CGU") containing the goodwill for
the purpose of impairment evaluation of the goodwill.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use the
CGU'’s cash flow projections based on financial forecasts
covering a six-year period. Based on the management’s
best estimates, cash flows beyond the six-year period
(2023: six-year period) are extrapolated at zero (2023:
zero) growth rate. The future cash flows are discounted,
at a discount rate specific to the Group of 10% (2023:
10%) for the assessment period, to determine the value
in use of the CGU. Based on management’s assessment,
there is no impairment loss recognised in respect of the
goodwill for the year (2023: Nil).

14 FRiGM B 2 Bz ()

(@

(b)

# ﬁ/ﬁﬁ/f@ﬂﬁf#fﬂi%ﬂ@

FERNEREEES -
BATFRBUOT : (&)

BEENAENM

LA | 39 8 B A 1(F) i ST H9 32 42 I B /BB
LF UCRAKENTBRRESA
iR o

ETETE BT
H o ZEWHHBTRAETEIEBITZEN
/f/J‘E QA BIRETR BB EEFERE
WK tHERE BARERFHTBUT -

AMBTENEEEEFA LA -

GRS
AEERINEEDRR-_ZThFEWRE
HIFEZERRKEBMRAT ([DTTNCo)
FEETFERBEEEEM - MEAEER
JEFTAIDTTNCOZEREFRBEER RS
FEMETERMNHENE - B USRS
“EZAE=ZAZt+ AR FENERA
{E 4 7#%%9,976,0007T °

HRBMAEEETHED B ZERE
FEDTTNCoZ BB IR EFRE £ M1 B sk
MERERHBEEIREAEBHME
U MEFHESBEHANRES LIH
BNREELENCN(REELEEND -

LAfE 2 £l B AE R E R AL o

ReELEBEVNARESEIREFERE
Bt EEETE  HIRASELEBMREAN
FHRENMBRANRRESREAE - E
REBENZEMGT  ~NFHB(=F
=F: /\_\ﬂE,HﬁFﬁﬁ)J’Xféﬂ’ﬂﬁ;%muﬁmy&i
(Z2Z=F 1 B) BERERHEE - RRR
EREBUTHHBAEBENEERRE
10%(ZF==%F :10%) Bt » IEER
CEEEVNEE - BREEEBHTM
REAFEDARBERITMARERSE
(ZZ==F 1 8|) -
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15 FRiE—EisE AR

15 Interest in an associate

As at 31 December 2024, the following table contains the
particulars of a material associate, which is an unlisted
corporate entity whose quoted market price is not available:

TREY -HEERLEQRAR -2 -OF+=
B=t—-—HW=E %Z’Aﬂ?%i#im%%&ﬁﬂ’]
FEMEXER:

Proportion Proportion
Form Particulars of of Group’s of shares
Place of Place of  of business issued and effective held by the
Name of associate establishment operation  structure paid up capital interest Company  Principal activity
BER FREMIE ENENEE
BEDRER vk SENE  EXBREML  HRRARE EREZASML RAEIE TEXE
OnePort Holdings (BVI) Limited  British Virgin Islands  Hong Kong  Incorporated HK$86,000 9.297% 9.297%  Provision of
(“OnePort”) EBEREE BB By 7B #86,0007 electronic port
community
system services
REBOLE
ETRE

Interest in an associate is accounted for using equity method
in the consolidated financial statements. The Group has
determined that it has significant influence on OnePort even
though it holds less than 20% of the voting rights in OnePort
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group is representing
the Group as a director of OnePort. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group received dividend of HK$400,000
(2023: HK$279,000) from OnePort. At 31 December 2023,
management assessed the recoverable amount of OnePort
based on value-in-use calculations. The estimates of the
recoverable amount were based on the present values of
the budgeted future cash flows, discounted at a pre-tax
discount rate of 14%, by reference to the activity level and
future zero growth rate beyond the five-year period financial
forecast of OnePort. As the recoverable amount exceeded
the carrying amount, after taking into account share of profit
recognised net of dividend received during the year ended 31
December 2023, reversal of provision for impairment loss of
HK$4,719,000 was made at 31 December 2023. Management
considered no additional or reversal of impairment loss of
interest in OnePort is necessary for 2024.

it —EBE L RAREERS M BRRPER
Fﬁ’f%ﬁ?%}ikﬁﬁ {%MZIK%I%EOnePortT\

2F$I?F1IOnePortE’J§$ ﬁ&ﬂ»‘%l AARHE
¥OonePortAEEEARFEH - REE-Z_-IN
F+ZA=1+—HILEEE KEEHOnePort
U BN BR 238 #6400,000T (ZE == F : B
279,000t) - R=F==F+=A=+—H "
EEEREEREBEFE AT HOnePortiy
W E B EE o AT EI B 58 T3 2 E OnePortHI £ 55
KERBEFHGBEBAUABHARSERE &
REERRBESRENRE » R14%F A1 85
IR BEIR AN ST o BA AR B BEEE B R
A L REBRWAEER IKRREZ
:g:rﬁ-i-—ﬁ +T—BIEFEWRERNER
CRZEZ=F+ZA=+—8 " BEH
ﬁ@iaﬁéﬁ%%&ﬂg,oom c EEERAR=
= — [958 32 N = 3 Bl OnePortfE & AV R (B
B8 o
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15 Frit—MREi=E A R#EzE (F)

TYRBEEERLEQAANNBENEGE (BHE
REVBBRRPHREEHRKR)

15 Interest in an associate (Continued)

Summarised financial information of the material associate,
and reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated

financial statements, are disclosed below:

2024 2023
—E-NF —E_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Gross amounts of OnePort’s assets and OnePortEER B EHE :
liabilities:
Current assets REEE 61,231 63,716
Non-current assets ERBEE 39,481 41,873
Current liabilities REBEE (37,292) (42,034)
Non-current liabilities FREBEE (6,693) (8,215)
Equity = 56,727 55,340
Revenue U &5 35,629 39,068
Profit from continuing operations SIERE R T 5,687 7,578
Total comprehensive income 2HERGZLEE 5,687 7,578
Dividend received from associate el N R W ELR B 400 279
Reconciled to the Group's interest AN £ B A OnePortiE 25 HY ¥ BR
in OnePort
Gross amounts of net assets of OnePort OnePort& E FHHALE 56,727 55,340
Group's effective interest AEEBERESR 9.297% 9.297%
Group'’s share of net assets of OnePort AE B Fr{kOnePortfI EE B E 5,274 5,145
Carrying amount in the consolidated REGEMBHRPIIREE
financial statements 5,274 5,145
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16 Trade receivables and contract assets

16 BRIRRREHNEE

2024 2023
—EME —E-=F
Note HK$'000 HKS$'000
Bt at BETT BT T
Trade receivables, net of loss FEURERFR - MBRESERE
allowance (a) 21,259 31,750
Contract assets, net of loss EHEE  HIKREEERE
allowance (b) 2,613 10,896
23,872 42,646

(a) Trade receivables, net of loss allowance

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of

loss allowance, is as follows:

(a) MBURERFX - MIEREG R RHE
IREE AT

RB|ERR - ZBRREAHRHKRERRE
AE - BURIRRHRE DT ¢

2024 2023

—EEF —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Less than 1 month PR—EA 10,854 21,389
1 to 3 months —Z=@A 5,096 6,981
3 to 12 months =Z+ @A 5,309 3,306
Over 12 months BE+=@A - 74
21,259 31,750
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16 Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, all of the trade receivables
were expected to be recovered within one year. As at
31 December 2023, the amount of trade receivables
expected to be recovered after more than one year
was HK$260,000 and all of the other trade receivables
were expected to be recovered within one year. Some
of the trade receivables are covered by deposits from
customers (see Note 18).

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 23(a).

Contract assets, net of loss allowance

The Group’s contracts include payment schedules which
require stage payments over the contract period once
milestones are reached. These payment schedules
prevent the build-up of significant contract assets.

All of the revenue recognised during the year are from
performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied)
in the current year.

As at 31 December 2024, all of the contract assets
were expected to be recovered within one year. As
at 31 December 2023, the amount of contract assets
expected to be recovered after more than one year was
HK$229,000 and all of the other contract assets were
expected to be recovered within one year.

16 BWERMREHNEE (&)

(a)

(b)

FEURBRTR - HIBREEIRE (B)
R-ZZE_ME+—_A=+—8 FEHFAE
ERERTR—FERKE - R=ZT==
+TZA=+—8  EHRBB—-F£KE
I FE IR BR 7k < 38 5 7B #5260,0007T © T8
HAEEMERERR TR —FERKE - &
FTREURRARAEFREHENERSERE (B
Hiz£18) o

FBAEEFERREREVRRELEN
FERRNE-DHBRERAZ23()

AHNEE  HIREBIERE
FEENSHNEREMRERR  AEEE
HERBERENPBIRERIE - it
ENNEERBLEERERAGHNEE -

FARIBNAEURBYRAREAEED
ER (B ER) WENER -

R-ZZE_ME+_—_A=+—8 FBEHFAE
EHEETR—FRKE - R=T=_=F
+TZA=+—8  EHRBB—F#&KE
HEHNEESEESBY229,0000T » WA
HEEMENEETR —FRKE -
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17 Other receivables, prepayments and other
contract costs

17 B URRIE - A RIER HAth
BRI

2023

—Z=-=
Note HKS$'000
k3 BT T
Other receivables and prepayments  HE B EWRIB KBS IE (a) 13,095 12,561
Other contract costs Hih & N A (b) 4,170 5,016
17,265 17,577

(a) Other receivables and prepayments (a) HttEWRER AN RIE

(b)

All other receivables and prepayments are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs capitalised as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 relate to the costs to fulfil contracts with
customers at the reporting date. Other contract costs
are recognised as part of “cost of purchases” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period
in which revenue from the related sales or services is
recognised. There was no impairment in relation to
the opening balance of capitalised costs or the costs
capitalised during the year (2023: Nil).

All other contract costs are expected to be recovered or
recognised as expenses within one year.

(b)

FHAMEEMERHRERBRARETR
—FRARERERAFAX

Hit S HRE
REBZNER-ZF-_=F+-/A=+-—
RERHHEMSORRNERRE AHE
TEFANNBAERE - AMMEHBAR
REHEHEEIRBEN KR ERIHE
MARESEERABERRRERAIN —
B o FANBEMEFEER LKA
BREIAAERCNRHE(ZE_=5F:
##) o

BFHREREMENEATR—FRKE
AR -
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18 Trade creditors, contract liabilities and

other payables

18 BHERM - SHNEREREMEN

MR

2024 2023
—EIE —E-=

Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Kz BETT BT T
Trade creditors FEATBR X (a) 7,065 8,403
Customer deposits received EREFZE (b) 100,151 106,016
Accrued charges and other payables FEET B 2 &k H h &3 7K 1E (c) 31,289 35,494
Contract liabilities BHEE (d) 10,551 9,017
Lease liabilities HEEaE (e) 1,506 1,470
150,562 160,400

Representing: :
- Non-current - kR 392 762
- Current - RE 150,170 159,638
150,562 160,400

(a) Trade creditors

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade creditors, based on the invoice date, is as

follows:

(a) MR

RI|ERR - ZBRABTE - BARN
HERER DOATHT -

Less than 1T month
1 to 3 months
Over 3 months

LR—EA
—Z=A
BB=M@A

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E—-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT T

6,944 8,242

121 108

= 53

7,065 8,403
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18 Trade creditors, contract liabilities and
other payables (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Customer deposits received

Customer deposits are received from customers before
they are allowed to make trade transactions through
the use of the Group’s systems. Generally, customers
are only allowed to incur transaction charges up to the
amount deposited with the Group. Customer deposits
received are refundable on demand.

Accrued charges and other payables

The amount mainly includes accruals and payables of
staff costs and other operating expenses.

Contract liabilities

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue
recognised on the project exceeds the amount of
the deposit. The amount of the deposit, if any, was
negotiated on a case-by-case basis with customers.

Movements in contract liabilities

18 BHERM - SHNEREREMEN

IR (%)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EREFES

EFRTATFPEAERRAEENASR
ETESXSABEEFREHRKIE - — K
it REAILURBENRZE  EUEF
BAAKEXNNEZEERR  EREFRE
AEERTFLRE -

FESH R R H At B Y FRIE

ZERITERERERENANETREN
B RRIE LA R H A R &R -

aNarE
EXREERNEEEBRAMBEZES - It
BRENMERERSNEE EECHE
RWEEREBBRESHEARL - REN
T8 (WH) DEENRERERFERS
lI:H o

AHAERENES

2023
—E-=5F
HK$'000
BT T
As at 1 January n—A—H 9,017 11,578
Decrease in contract liabilities as a EHNEBRFARIARED
result of recognising revenue during SFAEHEEN R E MR
the year that was included in the
contract liabilities at the beginning
of the period (8,792) (11,322)
Increase in contract liabilities as EHNEERIEAFTEMIEM
a result of billing in advance 10,326 8,761
As at 31 December R+t=-ZBA=+—H 10,551 9,017

As at 31 December 2024, the amount of billings in
advance of performance expected to be recognised as
income after more than one year was HK$301,000 (2023:
HK$225,000).

RZZEZNFE+ZA=+—8 - HHE
R-FERBABUANBORATES
AR BHE301,000T (ZEZ=F 1 B
225,0007T) °
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18 Trade creditors, contract liabilities and 18 ENIRM - SHEaERHEMEN
other payables (Continued) FIE (&)
(e) Lease liabilities (e) HE&AE
The following table shows the remaining contractual TRERTEERBEHAREEEEN
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the FpEHN2EMA -

reporting period:

2024 2023
—2-MEF —E-=

Present Present
value of the 151 value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
=EHS =EHE REHEE RIEESE
FMIRE HREE RRBRE TR
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
BETT BETT BT T BT T

Within one year —FR 1,114 1,170 708 774
More than one year but within BB-FELFR
five years 392 402 762 801
1,506 1,572 1,470 1,575
Less: total future interest B RRF BB
expenses (66) (105)

Present value of lease liabilities HEBEBRE 1,506 1,470
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19 REIRIF = BB

19 Provision for long service payments

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously
for at least five years are entitled to long service payments in
accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under
certain circumstances. These circumstances include where
an employee is dismissed for reasons other than serious
misconduct or redundancy, that employee resigns at the age
of 65 or above, or the employment contract is of fixed term
and expires without renewal. The amount of LSP payable
is determined with reference to the employee’s final salary
(capped at HK$22,500) and the years of service, reduced by
the amount of any accrued benefits derived from the Group'’s
contributions to MPF scheme (see Note 20), with an overall
cap of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does
not have any separate funding arrangement in place to meet
its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment
Ordinance, which will eventually abolish the statutory right
of an employer to reduce its LSP payable to a Hong Kong
employee by drawing on its mandatory contributions to the
MPF scheme. The Government has subsequently announced
that the Amendment Ordinance will come into effect from the
Transition Date. Separately, the Government is also expected
to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers after the
abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism takes effect, an employer can no longer use
any of the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory
MPF contributions (irrespective of the contributions made
before, on or after the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in
respect of an employee’s service from the Transition Date.
However, where an employee’s employment commenced
before the Transition Date, the employer can continue to
use the above accrued benefits to reduce the LSP in respect
of the employee’s service up to that date; in addition, the
LSP in respect of the service before the Transition Date
will be calculated based on the employee’s monthly salary
immediately before the Transition Date and the years of
service up to that date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and
its abolition as disclosed in Note 7(g)(ii). The Amendment
Ordinance has no material impact on the Group’s LSP liability
for the current or prior periods prepared or presented.

REFB(ERBIRAD) BRI REREZLAENE
BEEEETERTEEZERRE - ZE5H
MERE EERBEFETAIBEUINE
T AR R B B R65m 3 M £ F B BHE
FEBENEEECFHERERERTTERE - R
REENFRENEHENSZRENERTE
(EPBR%E#22,5005T) KR FIREE - 14
REBERBES MK (RAE20) REE
HEAESHEFN T BRLRABEESS
#390,000T - B Al » AEBAEBEMBILE
ERHUBITEHRREEE -

TEICERA BAEFERTEERIRS
RABREZEEESN  ERRENHBRS
RPEIREBIMEER RO ERNEBEENR
RE - BUSBEREMERTROIEBRERBHE
£ B EHBUF TSR EREE LA
I BIEE -

Hep —BEUCHESEESEN  BETABER
HETEBEREBE MRS S B
EENEME RS (RRREER 28
EHR2EBERNAR) U BBEESRE
HRIRE - A - HESNEEBBAMKES
B BEA#HEARER AR BAUNRERE
BEAHESRBHVREKRSE S i BIEHH
MARRBHRBRSEREZEBERBAE
ENBHREEZAHNRBFENTE -

REBE AL (q) i) ik TRV IR SHHE I R B
BERRARR o BRIIRPIE A EBRAHBRBE
HREFEAL2INRREEBEILBEEAZE -
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20 Employee retirement benefits

21

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.
The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

Equity-settled share-based transactions

(a) Share option scheme

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share
Option Scheme 2014") was adopted on 9 May 2014 and
expired on 8 May 2024, whereby options were granted
to eligible persons, including Directors, employees,
consultants, business associates or advisers as the
Board of the Company may identify from time to time
(the “Grantees”), entitling them to subscribe for shares
of the Company, subject to acceptance of the Grantees
and the payment of HK$1.00 by each of the Grantees
upon acceptance of the options. Each option gives the
holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the
Company.

The share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme 2014 vest after 12 months (25%), 24 months
(50%), 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%)
respectively from date of grant and then exercisable
within a period of 10 years. The Grantee may exercise
the share options subject to the conditions in respective
option offering letter. The subscription amount payable in
respect of each share upon the exercise of an option shall
be determined by the board of directors and shall be not
less than the greater of:

(i) the closing price of the shares on the SEHK as
stated in the SEHK's daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of such option; and

(ii) the average closing price of the shares on the SEHK
as stated in the SEHK's daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant of such option.

20 EERIKEF

21

AEBRB(EBBIEDEETERG) B
REFB(ERBRODEANES - RIBHIME
NETFHE ((REEFE]) - BRETAAE
VERAEENRERICRMAE - RIFEE
58 EXRESAZAREFELHAER
BERRAASSHHNMER  MEBARNST AR
#30,0007T & £FR o A& @ 51 84F H B LK
MR EARES -

vl

RREAE I ARG HEHNR
]
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21 Equity-settled share-based transactions 21 UIREERELURGHERR
(Continued) 2 (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) EBRREETEI (&)
The terms and conditions of the grants that existed TXHINFREFEEWNE B RRRGES
during the year are as follows, whereby all share options Bt FEBREUROGEYARNEER
are settled by physical delivery of shares: W
Number of Contractual
options Vesting conditions life of options
IAHE HBEHH4 BRENSHEH

Options granted to Directors:

BRFESNERE:
- on 30 June 2014 3,700,000 12 months (100%) from 30 June 2014 10 years
-R-E-NEXA=TH B-Z-MERA=+HiEF12{88(100%) T4
- on 30 June 2014 1,700,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RZZ-MERA=TH and 48 months (100%) from 30 June 2014 +F
BZZ-MERA=+HiEF1285(25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 3618 A (75%) K% 4818 A (100%)
-on 2 July 2015 700,000 100% on 2 July 2015 10 years
-R-Z-AFtA=H R=ZZ-HEFtAZH5100% T
-on 2 July 2015 1,700,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RZE-RELHAZA and 48 months (100%) from 2 July 2015 T4
E-E-REt A A28 8 (25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 3618 A (75%) K% 4818 A (100%)
-on 4 July 2016 3,000,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-R-E-XEtAMNA and 48 months (100%) from 4 July 2016 a3

BE-Z-~EtAMARL12(8A(25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 3618 A (75%) K 4818 A (100%)
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21 Equity-settled share-based transactions 21 UIREERELURGHERR
(Continued) 2 (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) EBRREETEI (&)
Number of Contractual
options Vesting conditions life of options
IAH8E HBEHH4 BRENSHER
- on 28 April 2017 3,900,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RZE-tFMA=TNA and 48 months (100%) from 28 April 2017 T4

B-Z-tEWMA=+N\BiEH12MA(25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 3618 A (75%) % 4818 A (100%)

-on 4 May 2018 4,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RZE-NERAMNA and 48 months (100%) from 4 May 2018 &
BE-E—-N\EHAMARL12{E A (25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 368 A (75%) K& 481& B (100%)

-on 12 April 2019 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-R-E-REMA+=A and 48 months (100%) from 12 April 2019 T4
BZZ-NEWNA+=His1285(25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 3618 A (75%) K% 4818 B (100%)

-on 17 April 2020 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RZEBEZEFNA++LH and 48 months (100%) from 17 April 2020 T4
“ZE-EFEMA Tt BBI12ME B (25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 3618 A (75%) K 4818 B (100%)

-on 16 April 2021 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RZEBEZ-FHMA+H and 48 months (100%) from 16 April 2021 T4
BE-Z-—-FWMA+xBisH1288(25%) °
2418 A (50%) ~ 3618 A (75%) % 4818 A (100%)
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21 Equity-settled share-based transactions 21 UREEELUARBAEERNRT
(Continued) 2 (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) MRzt S (F)
Number of Contractual
options Vesting conditions life of options
TAHE SEHEG BRENSHTH
- on 19 April 2022 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RZE--_EMA+RA and 48 months (100%) from 19 April 2022 TF

B-E--EMA+TARRH12/EA(25%)
2418 B (50%) + 3648 A (75%) & 4818 B (100%)

- on 21 April 2023 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RZEZZFMA=1+—H and 48 months (100%) from 21 April 2023 +&F
B-Z-=FWA=+—RHiEsH128A(25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 368 A (75%) & 4818 A (100%)

Options granted to employees:

ERFEESNERE:
-on 30 June 2014 1,200,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RZE-MERA=TH and 48 months (100%) from 30 June 2014 TF
B-Z-DMERA=TAEH12EA(25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 368 A (75%) & 4818 A (100%)
-on 2 July 2015 1,100,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-R=Z-REtHA=H and 48 months (100%) from 2 July 2015 TF

B-E-RELAZREH12EA(25%)
2418 B (50%) + 3648 A (75%) & 4818 B (100%)
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21 Equity-settled share-based transactions 21 UIREERELURGHERR
(Continued) 2 (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) EBRREETEI (&)
Number of Contractual
options  Vesting conditions life of options
TAHE BREKH BRENSHER
-on 4 July 2016 1,200,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-R-ZE-XEtAMA and 48 months (100%) from 4 July 2016 a3

B-Z-R~EtAMARL12{EA(25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 3618 A (75%) K 4818 A (100%)

- on 28 April 2017 1,200,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RZZE-tEMA=+NH and 48 months (100%) from 28 April 2017 a3
BZE—t&EmA =+ NABE1218A(25%) °
2418 A (50%) ~ 368 A (75%) K& 4818 A (100%)

- on 4 May 2018 1,500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
- RZE-NFERANH and 48 months (100%) from 4 May 2018 +&
B-Z-N\ERAMB#E1218 A (25%) * 2418 A (50%) *
3618 A (75%) % 4818 A (100%)

- on 12 April 2019 1,500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RIZE-NENA+=H and 48 months (100%) from 12 April 2019 a3
HZZ-NENA+ZHE12EA(25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 368 A (75%) K& 4818 A (100%)

- on 17 April 2020 1,600,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RZZB-ZENA+LA and 48 months (100%) from 17 April 2020 +5
HA-Z-ZENA+LAE12EA(25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 368 A (75%) K& 4818 A (100%)

- on 16 April 2021 1,600,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RIZB-Z-5WMA+XA and 48 months (100%) from 16 April 2021 +&
BZE-—-&EWA+ A28 8 (25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 368 A (75%) K& 4818 A (100%)

- on 19 April 2022 2,200,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RZB-ZFNA+AA and 48 months (100%) from 19 April 2022 +&
B-EZZFWNA+TAAER12MEA(25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 368 A (75%) K& 4818 A (100%)
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21 Equity-settled share-based transactions 21 URREEELURBABERNR
(Continued) 2 (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) BRES(E)
Number of Contractual
options  Vesting conditions life of options
IAHE BREHH BRENGHER
- on 21 April 2023 2,200,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RIE-=ZEMA=-+—H and 48 months (100%) from 21 April 2023 &

BE-E-=5WMA-+—HEs128A(25%) » 2408 A
(50%) ~ 3618 A (75%) %4818 B (100%)

Options granted to ex-employees:

ERETFRESNERE :
- on 30 June 2014 2,400,000 100% on 30 June 2014 10 years
-RZE-mEXA=TH RZZ-MExA=1+HF100% T
- on 30 June 2014 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RIE-NEXA=TH and 48 months (100%) from 30 June 2014 a3
BE-Z-NEXRA=TAHE12EA(25%)
2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%) %4818 A (100%)
-on 2 July 2015 2,400,000 100% on 2 July 2015 10 years
-RZZE-EFLAZH R=Z-RFtHA=H:H100% T
-on 2 July 2015 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-R-E-"&EtA=H and 48 months (100%) from 2 July 2015 a3
BE-Z-EEtAZ A2 A(25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 368 A (75%) & 4818 A (100%)
-on 4 July 2016 1,600,000 100% on 4 July 2016 10 years
-RZEB-xELAMA R=Z-REtAMA100% T
-on 4 July 2016 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RZE-X"EtAMNA and 48 months (100%) from 4 July 2016 a3
BE-Z-~EtAMARL12(8A(25%)
2418 A (50%) ~ 368 A (75%) %4818 A(100%)
- on 28 April 2017 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 months (75%) 10 years
-RIZE-tEMA=+NH and 48 months (100%) from 28 April 2017 a3

BE-Z—-tEMAZ+NBE12{A(25%) °
2418 A (50%) ~ 3618 A (75%) K 4818 A (100%)

64,700,000
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21 Equity-settled share-based transactions 21 UIREERELURGHERR
(Continued) 2 (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) EBRREETEI (&)
The number and weighted average exercise prices of BRENEE RMEFGTEEDT

share options are as follows:

2024 2023
—EMF —E==
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise  Number of exercise  Number of
price options price options
hn#EF 39 mEFEY
TEE BREE TEE BREHE
HK$ ‘000 HKS ‘000
BT Fig BT FR
Outstanding as at 1 January R—A—BEXT®E 1.43 64,700 1.47 63,400
Granted during the year FREH - - 0.96 6,800
Forfeited during the year FRRIW 1.59 (20,700) 1.39 (5,500)

Outstanding as at 31 December A+ =A=+—H

i RAITHE 1.35 44,000 1.43 64,700

Exercisable as at 31 December W+=A=+—BA{7{& 36,425 47,175
No share options was exercised during the years ended BE-_Z-_MNF+=-A=+—-BR=ZE
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. —EE+ A=+ —HALEFERMET

EEMBERAE -
The options outstanding as at 31 December 2024 had RZZB-ME+=ZA=+—H  ERITE
exercise prices ranging from HK$0.958 to HK$1.78 BRENTEBEN FBY0.958TE B
(2023: ranging from HK$0.958 to HK$1.90) and weighted 178 (ZE==F : N FHB#0.958 &
average remaining contractual life of 4.4 years (2023: 4.7 BE1.007T) HMEFITHBENTEEH
years). BAAE(ZBEZ=ZF 1 47%F) °
(b) Fair value of share options and assumptions (b) BRENAIABERRR

The fair value of services received in return for share EARLBEREREMESHRE AR
options granted is measured by reference to the fair value BE D2REREBERENAREEBS
of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value H - EREBRENMKTAABEEIIRE
of the share options granted is measured based on Black WMAORSEMERTE - KEXTETR
Scholes Model. The contractual life of the share option is BRENSHNER -

used as an input into this model.
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21 Equity-settled share-based transactions 21 UIREERELURGHERR
(Continued) 2 (&)
(b) Fair value of share options and assumptions (b) BRENIABERRR (&)
(Continued)
Fair value of share options and assumptions BRENQIABERRR
2023
—Eg=-=
Fair value at measurement date R 28BN AAREE HK$0.082
B #0.0827T
Share price RE HK$0.95
B#0.957T
Exercise price TEE HK$0.958
7B #0.9587T
Expected volatility (expressed as weighted FEHIR IR (RN = ERTEX AT A
average volatility used in the modelling under = fN#E ¥ 15%1E 2 51)
Black Scholes Model) 21.9%

Option life (expressed as weighted average life BEREARE (EHHZFHEER

used in the modelling under Black-Scholes PRz NEFEHFEE25) 5 years
model) 5%
Expected dividends FEHIR R 6.9%

Risk-free interest rate (based on the yield of EERANE(REBBNESFRERETEHE)

Hong Kong Government Bonds) 3.13%
The expected volatility is made with reference to the FEHREBIISEARANABIHEERER
daily historical volatilities of the Company with period EEXHREHRBZHBENEHELRK
commensurate to the expected option life. Expected TRIES - HEAREDIRBEIREME o A
dividends are based on historical dividends. Changes in EENEBRBLNEEN > ATeeHi AR
the subjective input assumptions could materially affect EBENETFEEATE -

the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. BREZENCDRMHEFENGRGRSE - 5t
This condition has not been taken into account in the fair EMEREBRERELE BNz RERE
value measurement of the services received on the grant B WREEZEBERGE - REBRERES
date. There were no market conditions associated with RS o

the share option grants.
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22 EXRR R

22 Capital and reserves

(a) Movements in components of equity (a) HEXBEzEH
The reconciliation between the opening and closing TEBFURFAREHBINGEEERE
balances of each component of the Group's consolidated BRIVEBRBIIN G EREEE K - AOF
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of BUIRSHIHAFNEFRNEHFE
changes in equity. Details of the changes in the HyWT
Company’s individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out as below:
The Company AQT
Share Capital Retained Total
capital reserve profits equity
(&N BEARGEE REEF ExesE
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT B¥TT BETT
As at 1 January 2023 R-ZT-=f—H—H 296,093 7,657 60,004 363,754
Dividends approved in respect of LEEEHAERE
the previous year (Note 11) (Bfat11) - - (58,962) (58,962)
Equity-settled share-based IR AL URD B
transactions ERNRS - 338 = 338
Lapse of share options BREXY = (470) 470 =
Total comprehensive income FREHEKREHE
for the year = = 84,424 84,424
Dividends declared in respect REEEERRE
of the current year (Note 11) (Kr&E11) - - (29,401) (29,401)
As at 31 December 2023 R-TZ==
+=-A=+—H 296,093 7,525 56,535 360,153
Dividends approved in respect of rEEEHERE
the previous year (Note 11) (BaE11) - - (50,062) (50,062)
Equity-settled share-based UREEEL UKD A
transactions ERNRS - 79 - 79
Lapse of share options BRI - (3,165) 3,165 -
Total comprehensive income FREHKRLHE
for the year - - 93,788 93,788
Dividends declared in respect AEEEERKRE
of the current year (Note 11) (BaE11) - - (29,401) (29,401)
As at 31 December 2024 R-F-WmF
+=A=+—8H 296,093 4,439 74,025 374,557
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22 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(b) Share capital

(i)

(i)

Issued share capital

EER BRITRARE:

Ordinary shares, issued

and fully paid:
As at 1 January and R—A—BRK
31 December +=—RA=+—-H

22 EXRR MR ()

(b) BEA
(i) BRITRAE
2024 2023
—EI@E —E==
Number of Number of
shares Amounts shares Amounts
v Q| &8 RHEE &5
in '000 HK$'000 in '000 HK$'000
TBg BETT TR BET T
794,634 296,093 794,634 296,093

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the
Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Shares issued under share option scheme

During the years ended December 2024 and 2023, no
share options have been exercised to subscribe for
ordinary shares of the Company.

R15E B (D BMRG) 81356% - &
NEEBERIEEE -

BEBEREE ABRBET RREIK
BNRE  YEERAATAE L
REFE-RROR-—ZFR-FEE
BREALNFASBTEEZRARSHE

3¢
m °

(i) RBBRETIFTHRG
BE_Z_NER-_F-_=F+=
B=+—HILFE BEEKEE
TEURBRQATZER -
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22 EXRR MR ()

(b) BeA (&)

(iii) RBEHRKRIARRTEBIRE
HI R :

22 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(b) Share capital (Continued)

(iii) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options
at the end of the reporting period:

2024 2023
—E__MEF —E-=
Number of Number of
Exercise period Exercise price options options
TEER TiEE HEiREEE BREEE
30 June 2014 to 29 June 2024 HKS$1.90 = 9,500,000
—E-NEXRA=tHE=ZZSE-mEARNA=Z1THH B M1 90T
2 July 2015 to 1 July 2025 HKS$1.78 5,300,000 6,400,000
—E-RAFEtB-HEZZ-_HA&tHA—H B#1.787T
4 July 2016 to 3 July 2026 HKS$1.57 5,200,000 6,300,000
—E-RFtANBAEZE-_A~"FtA=AH B 57T
28 April 2017 to 27 April 2027 HK$1.592 4,400,000 5,600,000
“E—+tFMNAZF+NBEZZ=-+tENA=+tH B¥1.592%
4 May 2018 to 3 May 2028 HKS$1.34 4,600,000 5,800,000
—E-N\FHANHEHE=ZZ-_NEHRA=H BH51.34T
12 April 2019 to 11 April 2029 HK$1.406 4,700,000 5,900,000
—E-NFNEA+ZBEZZTE-_AFEA+—H 1,406 7T
17 April 2020 to 16 April 2030 HKS$1.09 4,800,000 6,000,000
CECEFNA+tEtHEZZE=ZEFWTAB+<H B ¥1.097T
16 April 2021 to 15 April 2031 HKS$1.22 4,800,000 6,000,000
—E_—FMA+ABEZZE=—FMA+EH B#E1.227T
19 April 2022 to 18 April 2032 HKS$1.17 5,100,000 6,600,000
—E__HFMAtTABEZZE=-"FMA+N\H BE117T
21 April 2023 to 20 April 2033 HK$0.958 5,100,000 6,600,000
—E_=FMA-t+-—HE-ZE==FWMA=-1H 710,958 7T
44,000,000 64,700,000
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22 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(c)
()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Nature and purpose of reserves

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the grant date
fair value of unexercised share options granted
to directors, employees and ex-employees of
the Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policies adopted for share based
payments set out in Note 7(q)(iii).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 1(r).

Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9
that are held at the end of the reporting period (see
Note 1(i)).

Other reserve

The other reserve is non-distributable and represents
transfer from annual profits up to a maximum
of 50% of the issued and paid up capital of the
Macau subsidiary in accordance with the Macau
Commercial Code.

22 EXRR MR ()

(c) RBEHNEERARZE
() BEXGEE
EXNRBEBEECRTAQAIES
BE R AR IRBERAEET(q) (i)
BRUBRDBERNZAMRANE
FTER TR S RITEBRER
REHHBAREE-

(i) ERRE
EXREREERESIRAME
BRAEENFEEL =M - BH
RECRBERMZ1(NEABE
BE -

DABEME(TTEE)
MRABERZE (FTEE) BERRK
SRR NRB(E B BREE
B)EIRBEBHMEEREROA
BEFENREAREA REERE
BEFE(RHEI0) -

(iif)

Hitfit &

Hitf#EAS T 2K LIERER
ML BRMWELRC T
KR BRAN L& 2 50% BRIV F E iR
MEE -

(iv)
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22 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to ordinary equity
shareholders of the Company was HK$74,025,000 (2023:
HK$56,535,000). After the end of the reporting period, the
directors proposed a final dividend of HK 6.4 cents per
ordinary share (2023: HK 6.3 cents per share), amounting
to HK$50,857,000 (2023: HK$50,062,000). This dividend
has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the
reporting period.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to enable the Group to meet its liabilities as
they fall due for the foreseeable future. The Group has no
external borrowing at the end of the reporting period.

The Group’s capital structure is regularly reviewed and
managed with due regard to the capital management
objectives of the Group.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

22 EXRR MR ()

(d)

(e)

] {4 53 R 4 e
RZE-_WE+=ZA=+—8: a#ts
RKFRAQABAEERBREREANFER
3 A B #74,025000c (ZE ==& ¢
76 #56,535,0007T) - RIEH KR 2%
EERRBEARAYPREERTEER4E
W (ZZBE==F:8R6.38BW)  &x
A8 M50,857,000 (ZE =4 : B
50,062,0007t) ° R ERKEHRIL K
BRAEE-

EXERE
FEBERETINTEEBERRELRE
ESEKSENED  URBRAEETR
ARAREZNEBMEE - AEBMRBED
RIS EBAE K o

REBARZERNEEER  EPRNKE
HERERE -

R B HEAATH B~ B HEZ IR
MWERREFRIR o
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23 Financial risk management and fair values 23 B EMEER QA AEE

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risk EAEENAEEKBEY EBLEE R
arises in the normal course of the Group's business. These BES  FIERMERR - ZERABIIARE
risks are limited by the Group’s financial management policies BATXHANMKEERERERMERS -

and practices described below.

(a) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade receivables and contract
assets. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks is
limited because the counterparties are major banks, for
which the Group considers to represent low credit risk.

Trade receivables and contract assets

Credit terms offered by the Group to customers are
based on individual commercial terms negotiated with
customers. Credit periods generally range from one day
to one month.

When the Group registers a customer as a subscriber,
the customer is automatically assigned with a credit limit
based on the amount of its deposit or bank guarantee.
The amount of deposit is determined on a customer-by-
customer basis, depending on its usage of the Group’s
services. Generally, if a customer reaches or exceeds
its credit limit before the normal billing cycle, an ad
hoc bill will be issued to the customers for payment by
bank direct debit. However, if a customer is in default of
payment for whatever reason, its account is automatically
suspended from operation until all outstanding charges
have been fully settled. For that reason, customers may
also, and often do, place deposits with the Group from
time to time to cover their charges.

(a) EEREMR
FERBEHFAIRERSNEREHS
SERZUBEENRR FAEENEER
BERFEREERBIRRRENEE - BR
HFEFTARAFTERT  AEEERRERR
EEERRTEREENEERRER
Hit  ARERBUDAREERBE -

BUIERRRENEE
FEERTEFPHNEEMNERERP
AR NERNEERERME - FEHNBESR
—RE—fEAR-

EXKEERREFPARFPE  XEESER
BEFNEESHRITERESE  BDAT
Foli—EEEHE AXESREFE
RAXBRBHAE MATFERE
EREEHE-—RM=s WEFEEEN
REBHAZEIRNEALABINEERE
HEMABEEFBHENRE  EXEH
EFUBRITEENRA AN - A -
EFEEMERRENT - MAKRFES
BREFEF EEHXRERE2EAN
Bl -EREMBH  FFRE (FERE
B TRAFAEEFALZS  UMEXNE
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23 BHEAREERAAEE(B)

23 Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

There is, however, no credit policy for the Group’s ad hoc
customers who are required to pay the relevant charges
(including service charges, service centre handling fees
and Government fees) in full when using the Group over-
the-counter services.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk from trade
receivables and contract assets is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the customers
operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, 10.4% (2023: 11.4%) and 27.6% (2023:
37.4%) of the total trade receivables and contract assets
was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and
contract assets are set out in Note 76.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
indicates similar loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is
not distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

(a)

EEER (E)
BWERRREHNEE (&)

R AEEIRBEREFITLEER
Ko ZERFARNEAREENERRSE
B 2BXNERER (BERBE R
BHRLFHEERBGKRE) -

AEERBEVEIRENEENEER
BEFESEEFNENFERMTYEMIER
PREEBEAENITESBERATE  F
EERREEETNEREERAER
HENEFEERRERREREL - Rk
HEHAR104% (ZZEZ=F 1 114%) &
27.6% (Z T =4 : 37.4%) HEEWER X
RENEEBEI I ABRRAEEN &
REFRAXEFHFE -

FBAKERERUERRAENEEN
FERRINE-SELKEER  SRM
16 o

AEEZESEREPENGFERFENS
B(ERBEERETS) FTEREERRR
BHEEERERRE EAKENUERE
BEERBERIAEEF2BNERELE
B #RBRRESENBREBELR
EAEETEEFHBTUED °
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23 Financial risk management and fair values 23 B EMEBEER QA AEE (B)
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERM (&)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) BEWERFREHEE (E)
The following table provides information about the TRIEHEBEAEEMEGNEERR
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade UREWEREGHNEEENEEEE
receivables and contract assets: WEHR :

2024
—E-ME
Provision
Gross on Total
carrying individual ECL loss
amount basis rates ECLs allowance
HHEE FEH BREE
IREEE 18 5l 2 46 BiRE EEER e
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 % HKS$'000 HKS$'000
B¥TT BETT B8 TT BETT
Current (not past due) BDER (CRimEd) 13,441 (1,502) 0.1% (4) (1,506)
Less than 1 month past due 2% —18 B 3,750 - 0.1% (1) (1)
1to 3 months pastdue  BH—Z=EA 3,385 - 0.1% (1) (1)
Over 3 months pastdue  BEHRB=18A 7,014 (1,702) 9.6% (508) (2,210)
27,590 (3,204) (514) (3,718)
2023
—EZ=F
Provision
Gross on Total
carrying individual ECL loss
amount basis rates ECLs  allowance
HHEE ] EERE
IREAE 18 5l 48 45 BBz EEEE we
HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T BET T BET T
Current (not past due) BDER (RimEs) 31,424 - 0.1% (19) (19)
Less than 1 month past due B R —1EA 5,803 - 0.5% (27) (27)
1 to 3 months past due BH-Z=A 3,586 - 3.6% (131) (131)
Over 3 months past due BHEB={A 2,170 - 7.4% (160) (160)

42,983 - (337) (337)
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23 BHEAREERAAEE(B)

23 Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERM (&)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) BEWERFREHEE (E)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past two years. These rates are adjusted
to reflect differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.

Receivables that were not past due relate to a wide
range of customers for which allowance is made on
an individual basis based on the expected loss rate
determined on the basis described above.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management considers that allowance is made in respect
of balances on both individual and collective basis based
on the expected loss rate determined on the basis as
described above.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
trade receivables and contract assets during the year is
as follows:

ERERRRBAMFNERBRER
APE o WELRSRMBA (FEHES
EHERE) RERREZE - BAIMRR R
7 55 [ ¥ B WSRO TR B 1 A B A0 AR
MZBRMMARE -

WEAHNEWRERAEBEFEH 5
ZERFREBRRELMEEBENEAY
BIERERFHRRME -

CEMELEHREENERRERES
BENEFER - ZERFRAEENN
AEELBRY - RENETER  E2E
R BESSRIIERNRERRRE L
EXEBENERBRRGRZRE -

FRAAREBRRARENEENEER
BHREZFHWT :

2024 2023

—ENEF —EC-=F

HKS$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT T

As at 1 January R—A—H 337 828

Amounts written off during the year FRME SR (1,011) (870)
Impairment losses recognised FAEHERREESE

during the year 4,392 379

As at 31 December Rt=ZA=+—AH 3,718 337
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23 Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

(c)

All cash management of the Group, including the short
term investment of cash surpluses and raising of
loans, if needed, to cover expected cash demands, are
managed centrally by the Company. The Group’s policy
is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable
securities and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s current liabilities
was HK$152,571,000. Except for contract liabilities of
HK$10,551,000, all trade creditors and other payables of
HK$139,619,000 as indicated in Note 18, were due to be
repaid during the next financial year or repayable upon
demand. The Group will address the short-term liquidity
requirement inherent in this contractual maturity date
with internal resources.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s
interest rate risk arises primarily from floating rate bank
balances, which expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits
by approximately HK$2,232,000 (2023: HK$2,141,000).

23 BHEAREERAAEE(B)

(b)

(c)

KRB E2E R
FEBNAAERTERTF (BERER
BRNEHRERBEER (WAEFE) U
EAABRREEFR) AR QAEFE
B -AEENBREERERNHREAS
RBEEER  BRABAEZHNREM
BHEUBZERERS  URNEIEMHHE
BESRANFEEERE  UENHEE
HERBARBESER -

RZBE_NE+ZA=+—H X5H
R E BB A B E152,571,0007T ° BRE
# & &8 %10,551,0007T 5 » A aF 1857
THFTE R RA R E M RIEB
139,619,000t ' AT —EHBFEER
BHRIREREE - AEEBLURIBER
EHHREHNIANPAEENERRBES

5=

IR M
AERBASMT AN AEERKR
RS U PR e L
B o AEEHHERBEBRET LR
4t HSARBARSRETEFER
@O

BRE ST
R-ZEBE-_ME+-A=+—0  BAKE
fhat MAIRZEE T HAS0EEE
MAMBEHMTAERRZERFTE £
EENBRBTEERRREBRFIE M H
DR BRE2,232,000 (ZEZ=5F : B
2,141,0007%) °
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23 Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s consolidated equity that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the end of the reporting period. In respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating
rate bank balances held by the Group at the end of the
reporting period, the impact on the Group’s profit after tax
(and retained profits) is estimated as an annualised impact
on interest income of such a change in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2023 for cash
flow interest rate risk.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through cash and bank deposits denominated in United
States dollars and investments in PRC and Macau
established entities. Given the fact that the exchange
rates of United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars
are currently pegged, management does not expect that
there will be any significant currency risk associated with
the investment in debt securities denominated in United
States dollars. The Group has not hedged the foreign
exchange exposure in relation to its investments in PRC
and Macau established entities.

24 Capital commitments

Capital commitments contracted for as at 31 December
2024 not provided for in the financial statements amounted
to HK$1,936,000 (2023: HKS$3,214,000). They were mainly in
respect of the purchase of platform software and computer
equipment for the Group.

23 BHEAREERAAEE(B)

(c)

(d)

F=ER (E)

BRE ST (&)
FRHBESMBTRBRANEZENBRE
HMAREKRBENERT  AEENRERE
HTEEEAWEEEE - HHHBAEFER
WMEMARABENZIERTESRTEE
WEeREMNRER  HEXEERBIE
A (RRBEH) NEERERFIRE
EmEENFERAFLHEEMRTT B
EoMBE_—_E-_=FENBESHEaRNERE
oA MEE BT

4 BE 3L B

REEWIERBETERBUETE
MRERBTERERPEKRREM KL
BERNRE - ERNBRIETEME TE R
#H EEEREMNETHENEERSR
ETEMTEMNEAEREAR -SAEE
RAPBERRMRLEBNRENS @ A&
9 7 428 ¥4 e AR A S BE LB o

24 BAREIE

HN=

ZME+ZA=Z+—H " BFIHNERR

M RR B B2 EREIERE1,936,0007T

(ZEZ =% #%3,214,0007T)

BRASERBYEUMHREMRETEA -
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25 Material related party transactions 25 EAEABALRS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed RUESHBERREAMEGEENIS REE
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered S KEBTRETUTERBEBALRS !

into the following material related party transactions:

(a) Recurring transactions () BEETHNXS
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group BE_ZE-MEF+-A=+—-HLEFE
generated revenue of HK$18,000 (2023: HK$14,000) AEERREEESE TRFEBXHNE
from TAL Apparel Limited (“TAL"), an associate of a FRRD BRBEERKEBRAR (TTALLD
substantial shareholder, for providing electronic solutions (ARETERENBEN ELEKRRBYE
in processing certain government related documents. 18,000t (=== : B%14,0007T) °
(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) EEEBASMSE
Remuneration for key management personnel, including FTEEBEAEMNE (BERWAZIFEE
amounts paid to the Company’s executive directors ERAQNBHITESINNRER R E
as disclosed in Note 9 and certain of the highest paid 1FEBEERE TREHEEITHR
employees as disclosed in Note 10, is as follows: E)WT :

2024 2023

—ENE —E-=F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Short-term employee benefits EHEERER 19,365 17,891
Post-employment benefits KIEZEERF 57 72
Equity compensation benefits REFHERER 45 307
19,467 18,270
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note B4R ATBEREK |(RATFS5(E)) °

5(a)).

26 Charges on assets and contingent liabilities 26 EEH ST RHBEAE

Pursuant to the terms of the contracts with the Government, REEBRITLNENGRE AEERES
the Group has obtained two bank guarantees totaling BOENBARITESWERTEREHLBE
HK$2,176,000 (2023: two bank guarantees totaling 2,176,000t (ZE=-=F  MEBERTERS
HK$2,176,000) from banks for the due performance of the HB82176,0007T) ~ BITIERREBEHER
contracts by the Group. The bank guarantees and performance LA HB12176000T (ZE =6 : B #
bond are secured by a charge over deposit totaling 2,176,0007T) TR R /ERIKF o

HK$2,176,000 (2023: HK$2,176,000).
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27 Company-level statement of financial 27 ‘)& M kY B 5 AK R ®
position
2024 2023
—EIE —E-=
Note HKS$’'000 HKS’'000
Kzt BETT BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRZE 23,131 23,253
Interest in an associate it —REBE QB R 15 5,274 5,145
Interest in subsidiaries Frik i B A R E &= 14 90,302 89,125
Deferred tax assets EEFRIBEEE 425 35
. M19132 117558
Current assets MEEE
Trade receivables and contract assets FEWRRREHNEE 19,152 35,549
Other receivables, prepayments and ~ EfEWRIE - BERER
other contract costs Hih g KA 14,605 12,945
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS B B A B FRIB 566 3,028
Deposits with banks RITEXK 376,767 168,363
Cash and cash equivalents HEeERBELEHE 73,439 273,856
484,529 493,741
Current liabilities mENBE
Trade creditors, contract liabilities ENER a8 ER
and other payables H{th FEAF 5118 137,991 147,411
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAS B B8 1x B FRIE 84,699 96,188
Taxation payable FEFBIE 1,936 3,421
e e e e e 224,626 247,020 _
Netourrentassets .. il ti - S, 246,721 _
Total assets less current liabilities BEEAERTEAE 379,035 364,279
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Provision for long service payments ~ REIRB B E 1,919 1,847
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFRBEERE 2,269 2,092
Other payables H fth S R IE 290 187
4,478 4,126

NET ASSETS BEERE 374,557 360,153
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27 Company-level statement of financial
position (Continued)

27 2EIEEMEMBRAR ()

2024 2023
—EWE —E-=F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Btat BETT BT T

Capital and reserves BERKG#E
Share capital fig A< 22(b)(i) 296,093 296,093
Reserves 3] 78,464 64,060
TOTAL EQUITY 2SR 374,557 360,153

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
on 18 March 2025.

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P.
Chairman

YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S.
Executive Director

KEEEN-E-AF=ZA+N\BHEREE

T 8 -

TE
FJ3/EHE+ - S.B.S., J.P.

BITEE
®E® - s.BS.
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28

29

Non-adjusting events after the reporting
period

After the end of the reporting period, the Directors proposed
a final dividend of HK 6.4 cents per share (2023: HK 6.3 cents
per share) for the year ended 31 December 2024, amounting
to HK$50,857,000 (2023: HK$50,062,000). This dividend has
not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting
period.

Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the annual accounting
period ended 31 December 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following which
may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects
of changes in foreign exchange rates:
Lack of exchangeability

1 January 2025

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial
instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments: disclosures —
Amendments to the classification
and measurement of financial
instruments

1 January 2026

28

29

BEHERRABNEE

REERRE  EFHRBEBEEZ_T-OF
T-ZA=t-BLFENRHREESRG4
BA(ZZEZ=F : SKR6.38l) - SHBY
50,857,000t (=& = = £ : ##50,062,000
) cZBRERBEMRELRERHEE -

BE—ZF_NmF+=-A=+—H
I EETHMEEMERKRE
MESET - BRI REFTREE
ENTE

BEARBRETREH SREHHASHE
7 & TR RASBRTER  ERBE_T=
ME+ZA=+-REFERRER  FRR
FEBMEPERA AR AEEERN0
BRI o

L EREL
bty Rt E D 2 2
(BREHRAENE —F-HF-A—A
(1537) - BB
B B TRBM
(EBHBREEN) —B-AF-A—H
Ho% (153T) » 2BWITA

R(EBVBRESELD)
E7% 2T A
RE-HT A HH
FrEZIEET
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29 Possible impact of amendments, new 29 BE—_F_NNE+—-A=+—H
standards and interpretations issued but ItFEEFHRBEEMGERRE
not yet effective for the annual accounting MEVEET - MEARBRETREE
period ended 31 December 2024 THEE (&)

(Continued)

Effective for

accounting periods R T5 HHAsk 2 %R
beginning on or after MAEHBER
Annual improvements to HKFRSs — 1 January 2026 (BERUMBHREENNN —ZT-XE—HF—H
Volume 11 FERE-F11M
HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure 1 January 2027 (BEAIBHREELN) —E-t+tF¥—A—-H
in financial statements F18%% B HEH 2
BT 7
HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public 1 January 2027 (BEAIBHREELN) —E-t+tF¥—A—-H
accountability: disclosures F% 0 HFARZHT
EENEB R AR E
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what NREBR T AZELATERAERPRE LS
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the EENTE - ESAKERE KRS ER
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the FARAEEHECUBRRERNEATE

adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

b S} —T—=F —E-—F —FE--& —B-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
LAkl EuTR BMTR  #MTR AT

Results ES
(vear ended 31 December) (BZ+=-HA=1+—H
ILFE)
Revenue g 247,625 266,611 258,815 273,825 261,213
Profit from operations TR A 67,351 78,186 80,094 90,986 77,625
Other net income/(loss) HEfpl A/ (B8B) F58 21,405 32,161 (20,427) (2,869) 6,167
Share of results of associates ~ Fi{hH& A A& 529 705 (585) (1,899) (1,395)
Profit before taxation BB AT ST 89,285 111,052 59,082 86,218 82,391
Taxation BE (7327)  (10,413) (6,749)  (12,565) (9,591)
Profit for the year R 81,958 100,639 52,333 73,653 72,800
Attributable to: DN F
Ordinary equity shareholders ~ AARAEBERBEREE A
of the Company 81,958 100,639 52,333 73,653 72,800
Profit for the year FRER 81,958 100,639 524333 73,653 72,800
Assets and Liabilities BEERAE
(as at 31 December) (R+=HA=+—H)

Total non-current assets FRBEELRE 41,439 40,660 30,869 71,282 109,148
Total current assets REBEELSE 494,698 504,921 501,692 493,248 477,097
_Totalassets  HE®& S 45581 532561 564,530 586,245
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBEEE (4,771) (4,900) (4,006) (4,301) (5,379)
Total current liabilities RBEBEERE (152,571)  (164,477)  (164,142)  (181,599)  (196,539)
_Total liabilities AfEes (157,342)  (169377)  (168148)  (185900)  (201918)
Net assets EEFHE 378,795 376,204 364,413 378,630 384,327

Earnings per share (HK cents) SR &R (&4l)
Basic 'K 10.3 12.7 6.6 9.3 9.2
Diluted 31 10.3 12.7 6.6 9.3 9.2
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Property Held for Own Use
BIFERANY=E)

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZT-UE+-—A=+—H

Approximate gross floor area
(square feet)

Address AHNEEERE
3 3k (EFER)
11/F & 12/F, Tower B, Regent Centre, 63 Wo Yi Hop Road, 44,532

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
ERBEBNESE63RER T UBE11ER1218
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REAABRRERH!

The Company encourages two-way communication with both its
institutional and individual investors. Extensive information about
the Company's activities is provided in its Annual Reports. There is
regular communication with institutional and individual investors.
Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to their shareholdings
and the business of the Company are welcome and are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner.

)
-
©

Financial Calendar

Closure of Register of Members:

- to determine the Shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote
at the 2025 AGM

13 May 2025 - 16 May 2025
(both days inclusive)

- to determine the Shareholders’
entitlement to the final dividend

23 May 2025 - 27 May 2025
(both days inclusive)

2025 AGM 16 May 2025

Expected to be paid on
6 June 2025

Final Dividend Payment Date

Listings

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of SEHK
since 28 October 2005.

2024 Annual Report

This 2024 Annual Report, in both English and Chinese, is now
available in printed form as well as on the Company’s website
at www.tradelink.com.hk and the website of HKEXnews at
www.hkexnews.hk.

ARBA-—EFREAKBREERBAREEET
BOEE BFREAARAEBNFRENTIEREF
BA-ARRAEEHEEBREERBEAREER
B EAATUREANBAELBEAFRELRALD
AXBEH BUOEAQFHRE FAAFLEER
REFEER -

Bt %5 H &%

EERERABFEER

-UEEERLRE —E-HRFRATZ=H —
—E_HERRBE —E_HRERA+H
AEITRELREZ (BEEEWA)
BR=R

-LEETERESR —E_HFHEAZ+=H—
REREZBE —E-HRFRAB=1++H

(BEEEWA)

“E-HERK —E_HRERA+H
Bk

REKRERKER FEHER-_Z_8F

NBARBIRS
£

AARRME-ZEERF+A-+ N \BREEEE

ﬁﬁﬁi*ﬁtﬁ?—°

—e-mEER

RZB_NMEFHFRPIPRIIRETEEERIA » Jhd]
AR A BRI 48 ¥Ewww.tradelink.com.hk X # & 5 48
¥Ewww.hkexnews.hk T & °
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REEHEENREZHEH (&)

Stock Code

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited — 536

Investor Relations

Ms. Wong Siu Yee, Grace

Vice President (Investor Relations and Corporate Communications)
Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

11/F & 12/F

Tower B, Regent Centre

63 Wo Yi Hop Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2161 4370

Fax: +852 2506 0188

Email: ir@tradelink.com.hk

Website

www.tradelink.com.hk

B 134X 3R
ERBEXZMBRATE - 536
rEHFZ

EkENE

BAR (REEBERDEEMRN)
EZRETEZHRRAA
EBEE

MESBE635

B &P OBE

11ER1218

ZE 5% 1 +852 2161 4370

{&HE : +852 2506 0188

E# : ir@tradelink.com.hk

b

www.tradelink.com.hk
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Corporate Information

A EH

Board of Directors

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P.

Non-executive Directors

Dr. LEE Delman
Mr. YING Tze Man (retired on 24 May 2024)
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAK Hubert

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan (retired on 24 May 2024)

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus (appointed on 24 May 2024)
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy (retired on 24 May 2024)

Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT

Executive Directors

Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. (Chief Executive Officer)

(appointed as Executive Director on 1 September 2024)

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

(stepped down as Executive Director on 1 September 2024)
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew (Chief Operations Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan (Chief Operations Officer)

(retired on 1 August 2024)

Board Committees

Audit and Governance Committee

Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus (Chairperson)
(appointed on 24 May 2024)

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy (Chairman)
(retired on 24 May 2024)

Mr. CHAK Hubert

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan (retired on 24 May 2024)

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT

Remuneration Committee

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay (Chairman)

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P.

Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus (appointed on 24 May 2024)
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy (retired on 24 May 2024)
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Board Committees (Continued)

Nomination Committee

Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT (Chairman)

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P.

Ms. CHEUNG Ho Ling Honnus (appointed on 24 May 2024)
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy (retired on 24 May 2024)

Investment Committee

Mr. CHAK Hubert (Chairman)

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan (retired on 24 May 2024)
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Mr. YING Tze Man (retired on 24 May 2024)

Senior Management

Mr. YUEN Man Chung, S.B.S. (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer-designate on 1 July 2024 and
re-designated as Chief Executive Officer on 1 October 2024)
Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
(stepped down as Chief Executive Officer on 1 October 2024)
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew (Chief Operations Officer)
(re-designated from Chief Technology Officer to
Chief Operations Officer on 1 December 2024)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan (Chief Operations Officer)
(retired on 1 August 2024)
Ms. PANG Kit Fong (Chief Financial Officer)

Company Secretary

Mr. HO Kai Tak (appointed on 9 February 2024)
Mr. TAlI Kwok Hung (removed on 9 February 2024)

Auditor

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor

Registered in accordance with the

Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

Bankers

Dah Sing Bank, Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Registered Office

11/F & 12/F

Tower B, Regent Centre

63 Wo Yi Hop Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
Telephone: +852 2599 1600
Fax: +852 2506 0188

Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2862 8555

Fax: +852 2865 0990

In case of inconsistencies between the English and Chinese versions,
the English version shall prevail to the extent of such inconsistencies.
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Tradelink

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

11/F & 12/F, Tower B, Regent Centre,

63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2599 1600 Fax: (852) 2506 0188

Corporate Website: www.tradelink.com.hk Business Portal: www.tradelink-ebiz.com
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EBZFNEEE 63 FERPOBE 118K 1218

EeE: (852) 2599 1600 fEHE: (852) 2506 0188

AEHEIE: www.tradelink.com.hk EBFEFZE4: www.tradelink-ebiz.com

@ This report is printed on environmentally friendly paper Z<#R & LUIR{RARSRENSY
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